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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MEHE

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

FEF(BE)

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=1T—-HLHEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—EI-F T —F 2 -FF —T—hF T )\F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
THT T T T T
Revenue A 125,087 121,672 127,588 114,489 163,629
Profit/(loss) before taxation  BFLATHF(Ei8) 252 (2,225) (8,599) 2,310 18,302
Income tax (expense)/credit  Fri58: (FAk), % (14) = 135 (1,303) (5,721)
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF,(EE) 238 (2,225) (8,464) 1,007 12,581
Profit/(loss) attributable to 7/ &4 25 I S fE(L
equity shareholders sml, (E18)
of the Company 238 (2,225) (8,464) 1,007 12,581
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERER
As at 31 December
R+=—A=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
—ECF DT —F ZT-TF ZT-NF ZT-N\F
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FBxT FHET FHET FET FHEIT
Current assets REEE 161,952 168,716 164,539 183,870 176,066
Non-current assets IEREEE 2,419 2,779 3,842 2,663 1,012
Current liabilities mEaE 12,968 20,021 13,777 23,601 16,213
Non-current liabilities JEREaE 255 564 1,469 1,333 259
Net assets BEFE 151,148 150,910 153,135 161,599 160,606
Total equity attributable to  ZN/A B #E 25 A% R 4G
equity shareholders HEmiaT
of the Company 151,148 150,910 153,135 161,599 160,606
Total equity TR 4B A 151,148 150,910 153,135 161,599 160,606
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On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the
“Directors”) of Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited (the
“Company”), | am pleased to present the annual report of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group recorded a
revenue of approximately HK$125,087,000, which was a year-on-
year increase of 2.8% compared to approximately
HK$121,672,000 recorded in the previous financial year. The
profit attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company was
approximately HK$238,000 (2021: loss of approximately
HK$2,225,000).

The construction industry in Hong Kong have been negatively
affected by the COVID-19 continuously. Hong Kong has
experienced the fifth wave of outbreak of COVID-19 in the first
half of 2022. The scale and impact of the fifth wave of outbreak
has been much more severe than the previous waves, resulting in
(i) labour shortage and slowdown of the work progress of
projects; and (ii) reduction in supply of raw materials and increase
in price of raw materials. These factors had a material negative
impact on the Group's business which led to lower gross profits
and slow growth in revenue of the Group in 2022.

Looking ahead, the coronavirus disease situation is stabilized or
subsided in early 2023. Although the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region government scrapped the mask mandate in
March 2023 with an aim to reviving the local economic activities,
the increase in cost of building materials and labour cost,
reduction in tendering for new development projects and keep
competition will be the challenges to the business of the Group.

In spite of this, as an electrical and mechanical engineering service
provider of heating, ventilation and air-conditioning system that
has rooted in Hong Kong for more than 20 years and focusing on
providing services for new residential property development
projects in Hong Kong, the Group will closely monitor the
situation and take appropriate measures to ensure that the Group
can minimize the direct cost and strive to keep up relationships
with its suppliers and existing customers and actively explore
potential development opportunities, which in turn will enhance
the Group’s future profitability and scale for maximizing returns
for shareholders.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERB|E

AR IEEE (2R ARAT(HAT )
EF(ES)R(EER) RARSARAR
HHBAR (8 [ AEE)BE-F-—4+=
A=+—BILFENERERS -

BE-ZE-_—_F#+-A=+—RHILEE  x&EH
BR1SUR A 49 125,087,000 87T + 8 _E— B BUF E 8%
132#9121,672,000% 7[RI LI AN2.8% © KA A
TS A% PR FE AR % A1 49 238,000 8 T (— T = —4F ¢
E538492,225,00058 7T ) °

BB EET I COVID- 19 BHTE - B
R ZF FHFFREFEFE R COVID-19/83 -
FRRBHNRBERYERBAIARESE - BE()
BE)NEERNIEE TIEERERE © &G) B EHE
FER A REMAHER IR - SRR RS A
EEMEBENERATRFE  BHALE T
T ZFHEFTRE R AE R

REAR  —T_=FYNERFSRBEBRIBE
POHE - ABTBRANTHRREBAR T =%
= ABUHR T sl 0 EAERAMEE RS
BREMBRATSE IRANEN - FHERRA
B BV RARR D KA RS T R AR R B R S R
PR -

BEWL - ERILBREBLEB20F THREB
MAUEEMEERE R RFRBOER - BE K
TREGHEIRRGHEER  ~ARESLES
HEmEERERREEFNORARLEGERE
ENEREE  FULRAARERENE T B
KR - RICRAIER AR -
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ERB|E

The Group will continue to step up its financial and licensing
management, internal control and corporate governance.
Moreover, the Group will continue to improve the management
of business plans and budgets and enhance its capabilities in
executing plans and controlling budgets, strengthen its human
resources and focus on training talents so as to further raise its
management standards which will in return deliver stable and
sustainable development to the Group.

I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to all the Directors,
management team and all staff for their diligence over the past
year, and to the Company’s shareholders, customers, suppliers
and partners from various sectors for their ongoing great
support.

Chairman of the Board
Cheung Yuen Tung

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023

AEBESFEMRY B RERE R - REPEE -
EER BETEELLHETENRERE
R EBITA 8 REGITAE MR NI FFE noe K
ANBREUZEFIAL » E—TRAEER
IKE - EREBRIRE  FHEERE -

AARLBHENES EEEGAREZEERET
BE-FNFEHE SN > KOBHRABRRARE
F-HEm ST EBHBE—BEURETH
ARASF -

EFETE
RIUE

EA —E-=F=A=+H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is an established HVAC electrical and mechanical
("HVAC E&M") engineering services provider in Hong Kong with
a long business history dating back to 1996. The Group generally
focuses on serving new residential property developments projects
as a first-tier or second-tier subcontractor in Hong Kong. The
HVAC E&M engineering services typically involve installation of
HVAC systems, which refers to heat, ventilation and air-
conditioning systems.

The Group is registered as a Registered Electrical Contractor under
the Electrical and Mechanical Services Departments of the
Government, a minor works contractor (company) of Type A
(Classes Il and 1l), Type D (Classes Il and Ill) and Type E (Classes I
and Ill) under the Building Authority and a registered
subcontractor under the Subcontractor Registration Scheme
operated by the Construction Industry Council.

In order to strengthen the market position as a prime HVAC E&M
engineering services provider and become the preferred choice of
first-tier HVAC E&M engineering subcontractor for property
developers in Hong Kong, the Group continues to strengthen the
financial management and licensing qualifications, securing the
positioning in the property development value chain and pursuing
new business opportunities directly with property developers and/
or their designated main contractors.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue
By timing of revenue recognition:

BEBNWmR DN

£ qE)
AEBERBEELEANEBEFRE((REZE
FARE ) TIEREHEER EBELATERE
—NANRF - AEE-RUBEIRESEEH ST
MENRBBHLEEWEERIEAR IR -
BRRATHARETIRREBE SR LZKEBERAR
g (ABRR - BE N ZERRG)

AREFCEMAKE TIREE NS A
EREFERETAER(FIRIARR]) - DEER(E
IR INARR) R EEE (I RINARRI) /INE T F2 e
F(RRDAREEXEZEE TH BEEEMHERD
Efo e -

REBFAEERATARE TRRFBHERD
MISEM  IRABEBMERRBNEEREER
BERARETIRSIEH ASERENRUBE
BRERER  ZRMEEREEENEN - X
EYEBRE R REIEERFER BRI
PR o

1 %5 [l B8
A
R\ HERE B -

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—HLEE

2022 2021
—E== —E-—F
HK$'000 % HK$’000 %
FHET FET

Services transferred over time  B&RF R85 &9 IR7S 105,803 85 90,098 74
Products transferred at RERR28EE

a point in time B E Gh 19,284 15 31,574 26

125,087 100 121,672 100

Annual Report 2022 / =& = —F4F 5, 7



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEENmRDN

By type of services: LRI IEA S 5 -

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1T—-HLEE

2022 2021
—E-= T4
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %
FET FAT

Installation services only FLHE R 84,640 68 59,959 49
Installation services with LHE RS ER A

HVAC systems procurements 2238 R4 ELiE 40,447 32 61,713 51

125,087 100 121,672 100

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's revenue EHZE—-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—HILEE  A£H
increased by approximately HK$3,415,000 or 2.8% to Hy Uz A 1 40 #93,415,00058 JT 22.8% & %
approximately HK$125,087,000. The revenue recorded during the  125,087,0003% 7T o 4 RS I A JHIRIE =18 B
year is following the respective projects execution progress. HISITHEE o

Cost of services PR 75 B A<

Year ended 31 December
BEZE+ZA=+—HLEE

2022 2021
—Eg-= =4
HK$'000 % HK$’'000 %
FHERT FHT
Subcontracting fees SEER 41,143 39 36,490 36
Materials and consumables YRt KRR 45,340 43 43,963 44
Direct labour BHEAT 17,282 16 17,186 17
Others HAitb 2,616 2 3,070 3
Total 1Bzt 106,381 100 100,709 100
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s cost of services mainly represented the cost of HVAC
systems and other ancillary consumables such as pipes and fittings
and subcontracting charges for completing on-site works. The
cost of services increased by approximately HK$5,672,000 or 5.6%
to approximately HK$106,381,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022, as compared to approximately HK$100,709,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021. The increase was mainly
due to the increase in revenue and the increase in materials and
consumables because the raw materials prices were close to high
levels in the first quarter of the year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit decreased by approximately
HK$2,257,000 or 10.8% from approximately HK$20,963,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately
HK$18,706,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
Group's gross profit margin decreased from approximately 17.2%
for the year ended 31 December 2021 to approximately 15.0%
for the year ended 31 December 2022. The decrease in the gross
profit margin was mainly due to the increase in the cost of
purchasing materials and lower profit margin for projects with
HVAC system procurements.

Other income

The other income mainly consisted of government grants, bank
interest income and other services income, which principally
included repairing services recognised for the year ended 31
December 2022.

Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised staff costs, meals and
entertainment expenses, depreciation expenses, transportation
expenses and others. Administrative expenses decreased from
approximately HK$25,102,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021 to approximately HK$24,691,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022. The decrease in administrative expenses of the
Group was mainly due to the decrease in legal and professional
fee.

Finance costs
Finance costs of approximately HK$60,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022 represented interest expenses on lease liabilities.

BEBNWmR DN

REBWRBEKAEZREBEARS LA
BYREM (I 20z E R R 1) AR + DA R SEAK e LAY
SBREA BEZZT-_F+-A=+—HILHF
& RFEAKANEE I1 495,672,000 703 5.6% & 47
106,381,000 L MEZ=_FE=_—F+=H
=+—H 1% E 8|4 100,709,000 7T ° & iNEE
EHRAFEFE—ZFTERMHERELRAMA B
B A ANt e FEA AE hFTER o

EFNRERR
NREFBNENRBEE T - —F+-A=+—8
1F4F FE #9 49 20,963,000 78 7T 6 4> #9 2,257,000 78
TH108% EHES-__F+=-_A=1+—H1t
FEH#)18,706,000/8 70 - NEBMEFRHE
2T F+_A=+—HILFENL172%
WA EHE_T-_—_F+-_A=1+—HLEFEHN
#915.0% ° EF R TFEEZ HPREYR AR
EINEFEERRTHRGNEE FBERE -

Hl A

H WA T ERBRARME) - |RITH S WA REAM
RIBWAER  EXEZERBE_T -+
A=+ R I FERRNEERTE -

THEX
THRAYEERFETRA B MEERS -
TERE BRI REM - THRASXHIEEZ
T —F+ A =+—HLFE425102,000%#
TRV EHE T -+ _A=+—HItFE
#924,691,0008 7T - NEETHAS R EER
RERRBEXERRM DT -

B ISR
BHE_Z-__F+_A=+—HIFE HBX
K%)60,00087C  FEHEB BN S °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERBNWmR DN

Income tax expense

For the year ended 31 December 2022, no provision for Hong
Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Company and its
subsidiaries in Hong Kong have either sustained losses for tax
purpose or their unused tax losses were sufficient to cover their
estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021.

Total comprehensive income attributable to equity
shareholders of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s profit and
total comprehensive income attributable to equity shareholders of
the Company was approximately HK$238,000 (2021: loss and
total comprehensive expense of approximately HK$2,225,000).
The increase in financial results was mainly due to the increase in
the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund,
set up by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region.

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables increased by approximately HK$1,257,000 from
approximately HK$36,134,000 as at 31 December 2021 to
approximately HK$37,391,000 as at 31 December 2022. The
increase in trade receivables was in line with the increase in
revenue.

Retention receivables increased by approximately HK$5,060,000
from approximately HK$21,297,000 as at 31 December 2021 to
approximately HK$26,357,000 as at 31 December 2022. The
increase in retention receivables was in line with the progress of
the projects.

Deposits, prepayment and other receivables increased by
approximately HK$1,101,000 from approximately HK$3,312,000
as at 31 December 2021 to approximately HK$4,413,000 as at 31
December 2022. The increase in the balance was mainly due to
the increase in warehouse storage fee paid on behalf of the
contractor.

FrERimx

BE_ T+ _-_A=+—RBItFE ' #ARRK

AEIREREENHB ARSI EN S ELEIE
KEADBEHEEREEURAEEE S -
TE - —F+ - A=t+—HIFEEZEEH

Sl o B LA S T SRR L B o

ROFERRREEEEREAE

BE-_ZE-_—_F+_-_A=1+—"8BItFE KA 7
EmBREEGEAEEEN RE2AKSEELY
238,000 (== —%F : FEMEHMRAZ L
#92,225,000870) - MBEE AT ERRNESR
BRTREBFRLAO RN EES T E L ET
L ANFTER

BRE
BEEefERKRNEBEE_TE_—_F+_A=+—
BIEFENREBRE(ZE-—F &)

ESREMEKRIE
BRWFER TS —F+_A=+—HHY
36,134,000 08149 1,257,000 t2 — & - —
F+—-F=+—HHm#37,391,000& T - E FHJE
WERIE Y38 0 ST A N — 2 o

RZEZZF+-A=+—0 BRREEH=
T —HF+ - F=+—H#21,297,000 % JTIE N
#95,060,0008 T £ 49 26,357,000 78 7T % B U
BEIEMEEREE 8-

RIBE-_—_F+_A=+—H & BNHKE
MEMERZFIER T -_—F+_A=+—HH®
3,312,000/ JT & A0 491,101,000%8 7T = 4
4,413,000 7T - HEHEMFERZR D BEELAFH
BB MATE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Trade and other payables

Trade payables decreased by approximately HK$6,420,000 from
approximately HK$10,202,000 as at 31 December 2021 to
approximately HK$3,782,000 as at 31 December 2022. The
decrease was mainly due to the Group made payment to the
subcontractors and vendors near the end of 31 December 2022
and large purchase of HVAC systems for projects installation near
the end of 31 December 2021.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Looking forward, the Group will further expand the service
capabilities to capture business opportunities and provide
customers with comprehensive HVAC E&M engineering services
with a prudent financial management strategy, pursuing a long-
term healthy business growth and stable return to the
shareholders.

Competition is expected to remain keen, with profit margin
tightening due to rising labour cost, rising operating cost and
strong competition in the market. Nevertheless, as construction
activity remains resilient, our management’s strong capabilities
and track record are expected to enable us to be competitive in
these potential tenders. In addition, we are constantly evaluating
our team and fleet to ensure that we are optimizing our
competitiveness.

Despite the adverse commercial environment and the overall
uncertainties in the recent times, the Group will constantly show
perseverance in its development and its ability to obtain new
projects. As a result of the endure hard work by the management,
a new project of contract sum of approximately HK$59 million
was awarded to the Group during the year ended 31 December
2022. In addition, the Group will continue to enhance its budget
management, upgrade its ability in plan execution and budget
control in order to further improve its management standard and
secure stable and sustainable development of the Group.

BEBNWmR DN

ESREMENSTRIE
R-ZE-_—F+-A=+—H BZEMNRIEH
—E - —F+=-A=+—H#110,202,000% 7T
1 #96,420,000 7 JT & 49 3,782,000 JT © 2R
FTERHRASEEE IS __F+=H
T HRERSBEEEEERNRK  UREER
R Ft - A=t HAERKRASHERS
TRRGARIERLE -

R A=

REARR - AERBEAE — FEARBEE N IAESE
AL REFPREEEAEBEFARE TRRY
WERREEM B EERE - LWERRERBRENE
BREMBBERGERIZEDR -

TSI AR - B ATRAEN - EEX
R EF KI5 3T ARG BN R B o 2
HRZEEHDAEN - RAEEENBRKEE

AR RIFEBERRBIBERMEANZEE
ERERAEEBRE S - I ROV EFERM
RIERX - LAREGRI S NS IABIL -

BEMPFERERNN  BEREGFTETHBRA
= WAKBEBTEHHE WA HERFESE -
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ERENmRD W

The outbreak of the new coronavirus disease in the first quarter of
2022 has continually had profound effects in Hong Kong and on
all kind of business and industries. The Group has several major
projects under construction in the second half of 2022. The
coronavirus disease situation is stabilized or subsided in early 2023
and the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region government
scrapped the mask mandate in March 2023. The economy will
resume to be normal under these measures steadily. The
construction works will be carried out smoothly and the Group
will continue to develop and actively explore potential
development opportunities and at the same time control costs and
expenses cautiously.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group had net current assets of approximately
HK$148,984,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021: approximately
HK$148,695,000). The quick ratio of the Group was
approximately 12.2 times as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
approximately 8.3 times). The Group generally financed its daily
operations by its internal resources. The remaining unused net
proceeds as at 31 December 2022 were placed as interest-bearing
deposits with licensed banks in Hong Kong.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
There is no change in the Company’s share capital during the
year.

FINANCIAL POLICIES

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of the settlement
of its trade payables and financing obligations, and its cash flow
management. The Group's policy is to regularly monitor current
and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains
sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in
both the short and long terms.

GEARING RATIO AND DEBT TO EQUITY RATIO
The Group's gearing ratio, which is calculated based on the total
debt divided by total equity (defined as lease liabilities as at the
respective year divided by the total equity as at the respective
corresponding year) was approximately 0.9% as at 31 December
2022 (2021: 1.3%).

12 Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & B & (%) SR A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group’s debt to equity ratio, which is calculated based on the
total debt (defined as the lease liabilities minus cash and cash
equivalents as at the respective year end divided by total equity as
at the respective corresponding year) was not applicable due to
the Group recorded net cash position as at 31 December 2022.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group invested
approximately HK$1,723,000 (2021: approximately HK$786,000)
in property, plant and equipment, mainly represented motor
vehicles, computer and office equipment and other properties
leased for own use.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no significant capital
commitments (202 1: Nil).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, contingent liabilities not provided for in
the consolidated financial statements were as follows:

BEEENWE DN
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2022 2021
—E-—F —E—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Performance bonds given to customers MEERITAEE N B AR FTAEIER
for due and proper performance of MARPELHRNELIRES
projects undertaken by the Group’s
subsidiaries 3,848 4,226
Court proceedings (Note) SEESFE () 872 -
4,720 4,226

Note:

In 2020, a subcontractor (“the plaintiff”) sued Man Tung Air-Conditioning Works
Limited (“Man Tung AC Works"), a subsidiary of the Company for the amount due
of HK$871,664 for the ventilation fans installation works. Currently, Man Tung
Works is waiting for 1st court session. Based on the legal advice and after
consideration of possible business and financial impact, the directors believe stand a
reasonable chance of success in defending the action and securing the counterclaims,
therefore there is no present obligation to make any provision for the case at this
stage.

—ECEF e REDEFEARA—MBRARER
ARIBARAT(BEARIR]) BERLfItasi®
TR FENFRIE871,664 87T © BAT » BBLRIIEEEEMHFSE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEERBNWmR DN

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

At 31 December 2021, a motor vehicle of the Group with net
book value amounting to HK$831,000 was secured by a motor
vehicle. No property, plant and equipment has been pledged as at
31 December 2022.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not
have any significant investment, material acquisition nor disposal
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies (2021: Nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 28 June
2018 (the “Prospectus”), the Group did not have other future
plans for material investments or capital assets.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and transactions are
principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The Group is not
significantly exposed to foreign currency risk arising from
monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in currencies
other than the functional currencies of the respective group
entities.

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy as the foreign currency risk is considered to be insignificant.
However, the management will continue to closely monitor the
Group's foreign exchange risk exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign exchange exposure when necessary.

INFORMATION ON EMPLOYEES AND
REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 71 employees (2021: 67
employees) with total staff costs (including Directors’ emoluments)
of approximately HK$32,285,000 incurred for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: approximately HK$32,453,000). The
Group’s remuneration packages are generally structured with
reference to market terms and individual merits. The remuneration
committee of the Company makes recommendations to the Board
on the overall remuneration policy and structure for the Directors
and senior management.

14 Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & IE5 & (3% ) AR A

rEEEEKH
R-E-_—F+-_A=+—8 KEEBEREFE
831,000/ 8 TR ABE LA BIEHE - RZZT——F
TZA=1+—8 " BARERTADE  EBZ KRR
f& o

MEBARNEARE EARER
HE

BE-_ZE-_—_F+-_A=1+—"BItFE £X&EH
WEARNBARIRBEEBARMNEANIRE EX
W E (ZT=—F : ) o

EAREFEXREENRREE

BARRBHMA-ZE-N\FXRA-TN\BHAEK
ER(BRERDAEESEI  AREALEAMD
EXRELERNEENARKEE -

SN ELBa B

AEBNEREE AERXHERNETAHE
AEEYEAZNEREERNEEENINNE
KHENEBEERREMELNEAINEER

RS E B RTINS SRR - Ty RN AR
WRSTEKN - A EEEKEETVERERN
KEWINERR  YHREFTEHEZELEHNEK
SNERER

BEERRFMEE

R-BE-_—F+=-A=+—8 AE£EHF71%E
B(ZZE-—F:67%RE) MB=Z_Z_—F
T AT HUEFENETIRALA(BEES
B & ) Bl #932,285,0008 ;L ( —ZF = —F : 4
32,453,000 70) - AEBRFHENGFE —RELE
TSGR RERIBERAMET - ARARFWEES
MEERSREEABNEEBHNERMEER
EEeRNES -

=



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders of the Company, namely Mr. Cheung
Yuen Tung, Mr. Cheung Yuen Chau and Prime Pinnacle Limited
(collectively, the “Controlling Shareholders”) entered into a
deed of non-competition dated 8 June 2018 (“Deed of Non-
competition”) in favour of the Company (for itself and as trustee
for each of its subsidiaries). For details of the Deed of Non-
competition, please refer to the section headed “Relationship with
the Controlling Shareholders — Deed of Non-competition” in the
Prospectus of the Company. Each of the Controlling Shareholders
has confirmed that none of them is engaged in or interested in
any business (other than the Group) which, directly or indirectly,
competes or may compete with the business of the Group. The
independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed the status
of compliance and written confirmation from each of the
Controlling Shareholders, and confirmed that all the undertakings
under the Deed of Non-competition have been complied with by
each of the Controlling Shareholders since 11 July 2018 and up to
the date of this report.

COMPETING INTEREST

Since the Listing and up to the date of this report, none of the
Directors or the Controlling Shareholders of the Company or their
close associates are interested in any business which competes or
may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group nor any conflicts of interest which has or may have with
the Group.

USE OF PROCEEDS

The Company successfully listed on the Stock Exchange on 11 July
2018 and 250,000,000 ordinary shares were issued at HK$0.52
per share by way of share offer (the “Share Offer”). Net proceeds
from the Share Offer was approximately HK$102.4 million (after
deducting the underwriting fees and other related expenses).

BEBNWmR DN

FHRFRE

RRRERRRR R R TB I 4~ RTS8 K Prime
Pinnacle Limited (#t7E & [#ERBRER ) AR A A
ZEABEAFRIEAEZHBARMNZEA)
SV BSAE-T—N\EXNANBNTHEERE(F
BHEEE|) BRTHFRENFS  F2HAN
PNRIZHARER [HERRENEER — THFZ
B —&0 o SIERRECHER  BEMESEEM
B ok ] 5 B N 6 B SE S R K 3 5 ok PT RE B K 5t
FRER(REBRIN SN E R HEEER - B
ERTEZNERTEABRREH SRR
NERE  THERASERBERE T N\F+ A
+—BHBEERBEEAREBHILEETIRELE
H N R AT A G o

B F S

BETEMBEAREBYIL  BEARFES
SRR AR R Bk 1R T ) R %%/\EAEHET%E}ZFQ
BRENKEEBBRHF KA BB BF RS
EP%@TE&'XE@K%@EXT EBERAMEE

B IERE
RZZ—\FEtA+—H ARFREXKIIREER
Frbm  WEBBAKRMES((ROBE) ILER
0.52 #7317 250,000,000 I & 3@ © AR (D34 & AT
153X TEF 5 49 102,400,000 7T (&K £ 85 &
NEMABASL)

Annual Report 2022 / =& = —F4F 5, 15



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWE DN

The net proceeds used for the intended purposes as was set out in
the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” of the
Prospectus. Set out below is the actual utilisation of net proceeds

up to the date of this report:

PSR IRF MR ER [ R 8 R AA1ER
BRZ] —EMENETERS - L THIIBELRH
HFHEERBABR -

& HBIERMER

Expected
Net proceeds Utilised Unutilised  timeline
BEFH 28R ABR REED
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THET
Procurement of HVAC systems S R S 87,654 87,654 =
Taking out surety bonds EEER(E S 4,608 4,226 382 Endof2023
—E-=FX
General working capital —MREEES 10,138 10,138 =
102,400 102,018 382
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung (“Mr. Tony Cheung”)

Mr. Tony Cheung, aged 63, is the chairman of the Board, an
executive Director and one of the Controlling Shareholders. He
was appointed as a Director on 4 November 2017 and
redesignated as an executive Director on 12 March 2018. He is
also a director of Man Tung Air-Conditioning Works Limited
("Man Tung AC Works”) and Man Tung Air-Conditioning E&M
Limited (“Man Tung AC E&M"), both indirect wholly-owned
subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Tony Cheung is primarily
responsible for the overall strategic planning, business
development, and corporate management and sales and
marketing of the Group.

Mr. Tony Cheung has over 20 years of experience in air-
conditioning E&M engineering services industry. Mr. Tony Cheung
established a sole proprietorship in 1986 in the trade name of
“Man Tung Air-conditioning Works” to carry on the business of
providing air-conditioning installation services. He is the co-
founder of Man Tung AC Works and Shun Tung Engineering
Company Limited (“Shun Tung”), an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company and has been a director of Man Tung
AC Works since its incorporation on 19 November 1996. Mr. Tony
Cheung established Man Tung AC E&M in April 2008 and has
been a director of the company since then. Mr. Tony Cheung,
together with Mr. Gary Cheung, has been responsible for
formulating and determining corporate and business strategies
and making major operation decisions, monitoring the business
operations, reviewing and approving significant contracts and
investment, appointment and appraisal of senior management of
the Group.

Mr. Tony Cheung is the brother of Mr. Gary Cheung, the
executive Director of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EERGSREEANERBE

Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau (“Mr. Gary Cheung”)

Mr. Gary Cheung, aged 58, is the chief executive officer of the
Company, an executive Director and one of the Controlling
Shareholders. He was appointed as a Director on 4 November
2017 and redesignated as an executive Director of the Company
on 12 March 2018. Mr. Gary Cheung is responsible for the
general management and supervising day-to-day operation of the
Group.

Mr. Gary Cheung has approximately 20 years of experience in air-
conditioning E&M engineering services industry. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Gary Cheung was involved in the operation of the
sole proprietorship “Man Tung Air-conditioning Works”
established by Mr. Tony Cheung in the provision of air-
conditioning installation services. He is the co-founder of Man
Tung AC Works and Shun Tung and has been a director of Shun
Tung since its incorporation on 6 November 1998. Mr. Gary
Cheung, together with Mr. Tony Cheung, has been responsible
for formulating and determining corporate and business strategies
and making major operation decisions, monitoring the business
operations, reviewing and approving significant contracts and
investment, appointment and appraisal of senior management of
the Group.

Mr. Gary Cheung is the brother of Mr. Tony Cheung, the
executive Director of the Company.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson

Mr. Pang, aged 66, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 June 2018. Mr. Pang is responsible for
overseeing the Group’'s compliance, internal control and corporate
governance, but not participating in the day-to-day management
of the business operation.

Mr. Pang has over 40 years of experience in the legal profession in
Hong Kong. Mr. Pang has been a partner of Y.C. Lee, Pang, &
Kwok Solicitors (formerly known as Y.C. Lee, Pang, Kwok & Ip
Solicitors) since July 1987. Prior to joining Y.C. Lee, Pang & Kwok
Solicitors, Mr. Pang was an assistant solicitor at Gallant Y.T. Ho &
Co., Solicitors & Notaries from March 1983 to March 1986. From
March 1986 to June 1987, Mr. Pang served as an assistant solicitor
at Deacons, Solicitors & Notaries. Mr. Pang has been a legal
adviser of Kwun Tong Resident Association, Kwun Tong
Association for Elderly Limited and Shun Lee Yin Ngai Society
Limited since July 2005, February 2010 and July 2013, respectively.

Mr. Pang was appointed as a Kwun Tong District board member
from April 1985 to September 1994. From April 1989 to May
1991, Mr. Pang was an urban councillor. He acted as the district
affairs adviser of the News China Agency from March 1994 to
June 1997, responsible for advising on district affairs. Since 2012,
Mr. Pang has been the vice-president of East Kowloon Region of
the Scout Association of Hong Kong, who is responsible for
managing the financial affairs of East Kowloon Region Scout
Association of Hong Kong. He was the school manager of Kit Sum
Lam Bing Yin Secondary School since 2003 up to August 2017.

Mr. Pang obtained a bachelor of laws degree from The University
of Hong Kong in November 1980. He was admitted as a solicitor
of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in March 1983, a solicitor of
England & Wales in June 1989 and a barrister of High Court of
Australia in December 1989. He was appointed as a civil celebrant
of marriages in June 2006.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSHREEAEBRERE

Mr. LAU Yu Ching

Mr. Lau, aged 59, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 June 2018. Mr. Lau is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s compliance, internal control and corporate
governance, but not participating in the day-to-day management
of our business operation.

Mr. Lau has over 28 years of experience in accounting and
finance. Mr. Lau joined Asia Aluminum Holdings Limited, a
company which engages in aluminium profile extrusion and
aluminium panel manufacturing in April 1996 with his last position
as a chief financial officer. Mr. Lau then joined Asiaalum Holdings
Limited in August 2009 as its chief financial controller until July
2014, responsible for corporate management, major business
decisions plans and direction of strategic decisions. From July 2014
to June 2015, Mr. Lau was an independent non-executive director
of Kirin Group Holdings Limited (formerly known as Creative
Energy Solutions Holdings Limited) (stock code: 8109), a company
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange and principally carries on the
business of providing energy efficiency solutions and engineering
solutions and engineering services in the PRC, insurance brokerage
and money lending services in Hong Kong and information
technology services in the Philippines. Mr. Lau has been a director
of Aceleap Consulting, a company which carries on the business
of the provision of private equity consultancy services since
January 2015.

Mr. Lau graduated from the University of Western Ontario in
Canada with a bachelor’s degree of science in 1989. He is
currently an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). He has been admitted
as a member of the HKICPA in June 1997.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson (formerly known as Law Chi
Cheong)

Mr. Law, aged 60, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 June 2018. Mr. Law is responsible for
overseeing the Group’s compliance, internal control and corporate
governance, but not participating in the day-to-day management
of our business operation.

Mr. Law has over 37 years of experience in banking and corporate
finance industry. Mr. Law joined Manufacturers Hanover Trust
Company in March 1982 with his last position as an officer-in-
charge of the regional processing centre, responsible for training,
quality control and daily operation. From June 1989 to December
1989, Mr. Law worked as an account officer at the First Interstate
Bank of California. From November 1991 to August 1998, he
worked at Fillpark Limited with his last position as a general
manager. Mr. Law joined Rank Charm Development Limited as a
general manager from 1994 to 1996. He also worked as a general
manager in Wholewin Group, a company specialised in digital
marketing from 2005 to 2008. Since 2008, Mr. Law has been an
associate director of JP Advisory Limited, a company specialise in
corporate finance. Since September 2013, he has also been the
chairman of Angel Fund Co. Ltd.. From September 2013 to
December 2019, Mr. Law was a non-executive director of Wealth
Glory Holdings Limited (stock code: 8269), a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange which principally carries on natural
resources trading and financial businesses. Since February 2014,
he was employed as a chief operating officer of Cheung Sheng
Global Holdings Limited and was responsible for overseeing
general operation of the company. Since July 2015, Mr. Law has
been a director, chairman and chief financial officer of Sealand
Capital Galaxy Limited (United Kingdom stock code: SGCL), a
company listed on the London Stock Exchange, responsible for the
management of the company and strategic business development.
Mr. Law has been an independent non-executive director of K
Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 8475), a company listed on
GEM of the Stock Exchange since July 2018. Mr. Law completed
secondary school education in Hong Kong in 1979.

Save as disclosed above, each of the Directors (i) has not held any
directorships in any public companies (the securities of which are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas) in the
last three years; (i) does not have any relationship with any other
Directors, senior management or substantial or controlling
Shareholders of the Company; and (i) does not hold any positions
in the Company or other members of the Group.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSHREEAEBRERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YIP Kam Ming

Mr. Yip, aged 40, is the project director of the Group. Mr. Yip has
over 15 years of experience in E&M engineering services industry.
He joined the Group in May 2006 as an assistant engineer and
was subsequently promoted as a project manager. Mr. Yip is
responsible for management and technical direction of the
Group's projects and overseeing project design, development and
overall project performance of the Group. Mr. Yip graduated from
The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with a bachelor’s degree of
engineering in building services engineering in October 2012. In
February 2023, he further obtained a master degree of science in
engineering management from The City University of Hong Kong.

Mr. CHEUNG Ting Fun, Andy

Mr. Cheung, aged 38, is the project director of the Group. Mr.
Cheung joined the Group in July 2008 as an assistant engineer
and was subsequently promoted as a project manager. Mr.
Cheung is responsible for management and technical direction of
the Group's projects and overseeing project design, development
and overall project performance of the Group.

Mr. Cheung graduated from McMaster University in Canada with
a bachelor degree of engineering, majoring in mechanical
engineering in November 2008. In November 2014, he further
obtained a master degree of science in building services
engineering from The University of Hong Kong. He has been a
member of American Society of Heating Refrigerating and Air-
Conditioning Engineers since November 2008. Mr. Cheung has
over 13 years of experience in E&M engineering services industry.
Mr. Cheung was an engineering trainee in Honda of Canada from
September 2007 to November 2008 prior to joining the Group.
Mr. Cheung is the son of Mr. Tony Cheung, the executive
Director.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LO Wan Man

Ms. Lo, aged 48, has over 20 years of experience in the area of
accounting, auditing and financial management for both listed
and private companies in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic of
China by working in an international accounting firm and other
listed companies. She obtained a master of science in finance from
City University of Hong Kong in November 2006. She has been
working at Acclime Corporate Services Limited as director since
October 2022. Since May 2019, she has been appointed as the
independent non-executive Director of Risecomm Group Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 1679). In October
2022, she has been further appointed as the company secretary
and authorized representative of K. H. Group Holdings Limited, a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1557). In November 2022, Ms. Lo has been appointed as an
independent non-executive director of Sky Light Holdings Limited,
a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 3882).Ms. Lo has been a member of HKICPA since January
2003.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Man
Shun Group (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) have the
pleasure in submitting their report together with the audited
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in provision of installation of
heat, ventilation and air-conditioning system (the "HVAC")
business in Hong Kong. Details of the activities and other
particulars of its principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2022 and a discussion on the Group’s future business
development, and also the Group’s performance during the year
ended 31 December 2022 using financial key performance
indicators are set out in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 7 to 16 of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the
Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 contained the
information required under Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Listing Rules”) is set out on pages 36 to 77 of this
report.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As an entity incorporated in the Cayman Islands and listed in Hong
Kong, the Company is mainly governed by the Companies Law of
the Cayman Islands, the Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Cap. 571) and the Listing Rules.
The Board has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, and each of its committee has its
own term of reference defining their respective rights, duties and
obligation.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, to the best of the
Directors’ knowledge, there is no material breach of or non-
compliance with applicable laws and regulations by the Group
which has a significant impact on its business and operations.

24  Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / &£ & (1Z28%) AR A

BIEEE (R BRAR([AQANER(TEE])
SESEIMARLEFEREUARARFAR
HIMBAR (S [AKEEBEE_FT-_—F+=
A=t B LFENEEZHHREK -

FEEK
RARIREMBAREEZERNEBNERERR -
BRARTHARGLERBES(BRBERL - =
EMBARMNERFBEREMEBNEREETE
HWERMIFE13 -

K EREE
AEBEE_TE-_—_F+_A=+—HLFEH
¥BOE AEERKEBZRNTmALEE
BRAVMGERESERFEBRE T =
TZA=+T—HLEFENRRERTFRFETZR
16 BK [EBEN AN -

RERRRRE

REBRERRAQNREBEZE S -_—_F+=A
—T—HIEFENRE S hELABREHEE
BEHAERSMABRARFS LML EHRA )
MIER27 FTIR T ER - 2XH R AREFI6E
778

BFERRER

EARNFAEEEEMRIERNE L LTHER -
ARBEBZHSEHERRE - AF/GDI(F 622
B) EFNMHEGRA(E571E) R EMRAMR
B EFECHRMEMARAMER 0B EHE
TABRETESFRZNRETA([RESFA )
RLEENRAEREBEARTEZSBHNER

HE_T__F+_A=+—HILEFE HES
PR REBEMEREERITETERER
FOER  NBHERBREEELEARE -

=



RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its employees, customers, suppliers, governments
and business associates to fulfil its long-term goals and
development. To enhance its competitiveness, the Group aims at
delivering high quality services to its customers constantly and to
continue establishing a caring environment to employees and
emphasis the personal development of its employees. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, there was no material or
significant dispute between the Group and its stakeholders.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Risks and uncertainties involved in the business operations of the
Group may affect the Group’s financial conditions or growth
prospects. The Group has been focusing on the control of risks
and uncertainties with the aim of understanding and addressing
the concerns of stakeholders. Key risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group are listed below:

—  the revenue is mainly derived from HVAC E&M engineering
projects which are non-recurrent in nature and any failure of
our Group to secure tender contracts would affect our
operations and financial results;

— error or inaccurate estimation of project execution
timeframe and/or project duration and/or costs may result in
substantial loss incurred by us or adversely affect our
revenue and profitability;

— reliance on the major customers;

— the revenue and profit margin are subject to fluctuations
driven by various factors including but not limited to
variation orders, and the past revenue and profit margin
may not be indicative of our future financial performance;

— the strategy to undertake more projects as first-tier HVAC
E&M subcontractor and diversify the customer base could
lead to lower gross and net profit margin going forward,
and

— may not be able to bill and receive the full amount of gross
amount due from customers for contract work, if progress
payment or retention money is not paid in full as a result of
disputes over the work done, the liquidity position may be
adversely affected.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

No event has occurred after 31 December 2022 and up to the
date of this report which would have a material effect on the
Group.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2022 and
the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 99 to 101 of this
annual report.

The Board does not recommend to declare a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

The Board do not have a fixed dividend policy and the Company
does not have any predetermined dividend pay-out ratio. The
payment and the amount of any future dividends will be at the
discretion of the Board and will depend on a number of factors,
including but not limited to the operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, cash flow position, general financial
condition and other factors that the Directors deem relevant.
Investors should note that historical dividend distributions are not
indicative of the Company’s future dividend distribution policy.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The annual general meeting of the Company will be held on
Thursday, 8 June 2023 (the “AGM"). A notice convening the
AGM has been issued to the Shareholders together with this
annual report, which is also available on the website of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) at
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’'s website
www.manshungroup.com.hk.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 5 June 2023 to Thursday, 8 June 2023 (both days
inclusive), for the purpose of determining Shareholders’
entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general meeting. In
order to be eligible to attend and to vote at the annual general
meeting, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s share
registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on
Friday, 2 June 2023.
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www.hkexnews.hk

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 4 of this
annual report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman
Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2022, neither the Company,
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s securities listed on the Stock Exchange.

FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital during the year
ended 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 22(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
Note 22(a) to the consolidated financial statements and in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 102 of this
annual report respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of the reserves
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company, as calculated
in accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
the Company’s memorandum and articles of association was
HK$76,439,000 (2021: HK$79,496,000).

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

BHE
AEEBERENBEENEENRAEREE
BEHNAFREAT -

BERBEE

AR BB ARG SRS (A AR
PRSI ) BLEHER ) AR R B SE R B AR v
X

BE - HEIED LHES

BE-_Z-_—_F+_-_A=1+—HItEE  XAA]
SHAMMNBARMERE « HEELRER
BT E YRR AR AFE 5 ©

BE&EE
REBREBEZS_F+A=1+—AHLEFE
WME BERZELHFBANGRETBHRE
BEE12 o

LN
BE-—Z-—F+-A=t+—ALEEHRES
BEIBHAGA M IHEM R 220) -

ffE
AATIRANEBRBE_E-_—F+-_A=+—
ALEFENRBEESFBIAHREAMBERE
BisE22(a) MANFHFE 102 BRR A EREHEK -

A it 2 Ik s
RIE-_—F+-_A=+—8 REBESHER
ALEA R AR BB ER KM EMATEN AR
Rl R R L R 42%E 576,439,000 L (=
T~ —4% 1 79,496,000/87C) °

Annual Report 2022 / =&~ —4FFH 27



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

DONATIONS

Donation of HK$55,000 was made by the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (2021: HK$73,000).

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the
Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as those disclosed in the section headed “Share Option
Scheme” in this Directors’ Report, no other equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Group, or existed during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a resolution passed by all the shareholders on 8 June
2018, the Company has conditionally adopted the share option
scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of
providing incentives or rewards to the eligible participants for their
contribution to the Group and enable the Group to recruit and
retain high-calibre employees and attract human resources that
are valuable to the Group. The Board is entitled at any time and
from time to time grant options pursuant to the Share Option
Scheme to the directors of the Company’s subsidiaries and
employees of the Group and any other persons (including
consultants or advisers) whom the Board considers have
contributed or will contribute to the Group. The terms of the
Share Option Scheme are in accordance with the provisions of
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Board may, at its discretion, determine the minimum period
for which the option has to be held before it can be exercised,
and the period during which an option may be exercised.
However, no options shall be exercised ten years after they have
been granted. The subscription price of a share in respect of a
particular option shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s on the daily
quotation sheet on the date of the grant of the option, which
must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the
five trading days immediately preceding the date of the grant of
the option; and (iii) the nominal value of a share. The Share
Option Scheme shall take effect from the date it is adopted and
shall remain effective within a period of 10 years from that date.
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From the date that the Share Option Scheme became effective
and unconditional and up to the date of this annual report, no
share options were granted under the Share Option Scheme.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, 65.0% and 91.8% of the
Group's revenue were attributable to the largest customer and the
five largest customers of the Group, respectively.

During the year, the largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
of the Group accounted for approximately 9.3% and 35.5% of
the total direct costs of the Group respectively.

None of the Directors, their associates or any other shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of
the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers
or customers noted above.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to
the date of this report are:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung (Chairman)
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson

Mr. LAU Yu Ching

Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules from each of the
independent non-executive Directors and considers them to be
independent.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management
of the Group are set out on pages 17 to 23 of this annual report.

RETIREMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF
DIRECTORS

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Mr. Pang Kam Fai, Dickson and Mr. Law Chung Lam,
Nelson will retire by rotation at the AGM and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year ended 31 December 2022 was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, its holding companies or a
subsidiary of its holding companies a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any
other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has carried
transactions with its related party as detailed in Note 24(b) to the
consolidated financial statements. Save for as disclosed above, no
other transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries, its holding
companies or a subsidiary of its holding companies was a party or
were parties and in which a Director had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or
at any time during the year.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, no
controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries has any contract
of significance (including contract of significance for the provision
of services) with the Company or its subsidiaries during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors was
interested in any business, which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group during
the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

No Director proposed for re-election at the AGM has a service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries that is not
determinable by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ remuneration is reviewed by the remuneration
committee of the Board at least once per year with reference to
the Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and results
of the Group. Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in
Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the five individuals
with the highest emoluments in the Group comprises 2 Directors
and 3 individuals, which included the senior management of the
Company. Details of the highest paid individuals are set out in
Note 8 and Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 467 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance) for the benefit of the Directors
is currently in force and was in force throughout the financial year
ended 31 December 2022. In addition, the Company has taken
out and kept in force appropriate directors’ and officers’ liabilities
insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Company.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 31 December
2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") (Cap. 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)) which were required to be: (i) notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which the Directors and chief executive of the Company were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii)
entered in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section
352 of the SFO; or (iii) notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, are set out below:
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(i) Long positions in the Share (i)

Name of Director
EEME B HEntE
Mr. Cheung Yuen Tung

(“Tony Cheung”) (note)
skt A ([RTBEE]) (M)
Mr. Cheung Yuen Chau

(“Gary Cheung"”) (note)
SRS A (TR SE 4 1) (BT ) RIEEERE R

XY AEEn

REROHFR

Capacity/Nature of interest

Interest in controlled corporation

Interest in controlled corporation

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Shares  shareholding
ROHE RESLBILL

750,000,000 75%

750,000,000 75%

Note: Prime Pinnacle Limited (“Prime Pinnacle”) is beneficially owned as to
51% by Mr. Tony Cheung and 49% by Mr. Gary Cheung. On 12
March 2018, Mr. Tony Cheung and Mr. Gary Cheung entered into
the concert party deed to acknowledge and confirm, among other
things, that they are parties acting in concert and are deemed to be

interested in the shares held by Prime Pinnacle.

(ii) Long position in the ordinary shares of associated (ii)

corporation

Name of associated

BRE -

Prime Pinnacle Limited ([ Prime Pinnacle]) F155 7T
BAERKRTHREED A EREFS1% K 49%
R-ZZE—NF=ZA+=8  RBEEERITK
FHERI —BITBALHE  UARRER(E
FEE)ESEAE-BITBAL - WHEKR AR Prime
Pinnacle FT#5 A7 A as ©

REBEESBERNE R

Capacity/Nature of

Name of Director corporation interest
EEfE AR SR B RERME

Mr. Tony Cheung (note) Prime Pinnacle

Beneficial owner

SRS A (MRE) BEamEBA
Mr. Gary Cheung (note) Prime Pinnacle Beneficial owner
SRITIKSE A (FEE) EHEERA

Approximate

Number of percentage of
share(s) held  shareholding
FEROBE KRESLOESL

51 51%
49 49%

Note: Prime Pinnacle is the direct shareholder of the Company and is an

associated corporation within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So far as is known to any Director or chief executive of the
Company, as at 31 December 2022, the following persons (other
than a Director or a chief executive of the Company) had, or were
taken or deemed to have interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which are required to be
disclosed to the Company under the provision of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO, or which were entered in the register kept
by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE

FERRNEZRAR

BEANESSIARFAERITBERAERA R
——®+=A=+—8" LATAt(T@%ﬁ%%j
RARRBITERAE) RARBRG ABRE R (5
A - HEERERABEERIEESF R BEEG
FEXVEBEFE 2 RI3DEREXAEMARAEE © 2k
RENARRIRERES LB EKRAFEI6EGETE
HECM 2 ERmIOAE

Approximate
Number of percentage of

Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares  shareholding
BEREREHE BB EntE ROHBE RESYBIL
Prime Pinnacle (note 1) Beneficial owner 750,000,000 75%
Prime Pinnacle (F45£1) BB A

Ms. Chan Ho Fung (note 2) Interest of spouse 750,000,000 75%
BRoFE 2+ (F97E2) FofBmE s

Ms. Cheng Phyllis Woon Kink (note 3) Interest of spouse 750,000,000 75%
PB4+ (f97E3) FoiBiEss

Notes: iiEsd

(1) Prime Pinnacle is beneficially owned as to 51% by Mr. Tony Cheung and
49% by Mr. Gary Cheung. On 12 March 2018, Mr. Tony Cheung and Mr.
Gary Cheung entered into the concert party deed to acknowledge and
confirm, among other things, that they are parties acting in concert and are
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Prime Pinnacle.

(2) Ms. Chan Ho Fung is the spouse of Mr. Tony Cheung. Accordingly, Ms. Chan
Ho Fung is deemed or taken to be interested in the shares in which Mr. Tony
Cheung is interested under the SFO.

(3) Ms. Cheng Phyllis Woon Kink is the spouse of Mr. Gary Cheung. Accordingly,
Ms. Cheng Phyllis Woon Kink is deemed or taken to be interested in the
shares in which Mr. Gary Cheung is interested under the SFO.

(1) Prime Pinnacle AR T BEERKRITMAEED FIBERHESR
51% K% 49% iE% - RZT—/\F=A+=H ' {KrA%
AR T AT —BITHALRE - AR RER
(HhBE) SR —RITHAL I 418 AR Prime
Pinnacle FT#5 AR 19 P #E A i 2k o

2) fRaf Bl 2z - AsRTim i £ RS o Fut - BIBFES K
BIR0) - FRAFBlZ TR RN EERRTBEEHEEE
R PR R -

()  EREZERRITNEENRSE - Bt REES RS

BI&P) - MRBL IR RNEERRTIKEEEAE
AR P A R
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Save as disclosed above, the Company had not been notified by
any other persons (other than Directors or chief executives of the
Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which are required to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and
3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were entered in the register
kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO as at 31
December 2022.

TRANSACTIONS DISCLOSED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH THE RULES GOVERNING THE LISTING
OF SECURITIES ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the normal
course of business are provided under Note 24 to the consolidated
financial statements, and none of which constitutes a discloseable
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as
defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

SUBSIDIARIES
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note
13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float as required under the
Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2022 and
up to the date of this annual report.

REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the annual
results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022.

BT REEN  RoFo—F+= A=+
B EEEAREAL(FREEENAARRE
AR BAKAAREREA ARG AT
B0 R R R % R R S I I XV 82 % 3
HRNBEXANEATRE - RESREA TR
550 3 T2 B 9125 336 1T I PO AR 2 s
S -

BEEEHESXZMAERATARES L
mRRARENR S

REFEBBIZTETHREY T XSHBEHNES
EUBWERME 24 EAX S AL ERK LHRR
FUAEMAENATHRERER S IISERE

Fff /8 2 =]
AR A E R A AR BB & B 5 R & M
F13e

TELARERE

BEARBTRESHARERMRESHAN B
HE T+ - A=+—HIEEZ2FKEE
EAFREAMBIL AR —HEF EMRAATR

ENEERRIHRE -

BFHFEREA
ARRBREARCENAEERE-"T-—F
t- A=+ ALLFENEEREM -
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AUDITORS

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2022
have been audited by D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED. KPMG
resigned as auditors of the Company with effect from 11 August
2022. D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED was appointed as auditor of
the Company with effect from 11 August 2022 to fill the casual
vacancy and to hold office until the conclusion of the next annual
general meeting of the Company.

By order of the Board

CHEUNG Yuen Tung
Chairman

30 March 2023

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EEERE
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - HERERBRSE

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited (the “Company” together
with its subsidiaries, hereinafter referred to as the “Group”) is
pleased to present our annual Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “Report”) for the year ended 31
December 2022 to provide an overview of the Group’s
management of significant issues affecting the operation,
including environmental, social and governance ("ESG") issues.

THE ESG GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The board of directors (“The Board"”) has overall responsibility for
the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting. The Board is responsible
for evaluating and determining the Group’s ESG-related risks
annually and ensuring that appropriate and effective ESG risk
management policies and internal control systems are in place.
Also, the implementation and results shall be monitored and
recorded for internal review purpose annually. The Executive
Directors are responsible for formulating ESG management
policies, strategies, goals, and annual reporting and promoting
related implementation. They also identify, evaluate, review, and
manage major ESG issues, risks and opportunities while other
departments are responsible for organizing, promoting, and
implementing various ESG related tasks under the Group's ESG
management policies and strategies. All tasks will be reported to
the Board regularly in order to review and reformulate the policies
and plans for achievement of goals and targets. The Board is
committed to integrating ESG principles into our business
management practices.

As for the risk management and internal control systems, the
Board and its committees identify and monitor the existing and
potential risks related to environmental, social and governance.
The risk management system is to be formulated, while quarterly
meetings are to be arranged. We would assign representatives
from every department to identify, review the risk items and their
corresponding materiality, so as to mitigate, transfer and handle
the risks. Internal control policies and manuals are reviewed
annually and periodically reports shall be provided by
representatives from departments to The Board. The Board is
responsible to review and organize meetings with representatives
to review the existing plans and policies on whether they could
fulfill our goals and targets.

R HE

BIEEE (EBR) BRAB(ARQT] - EREHE
RAGHEIAEE D MAREBE_T_—
T-A=T—HLFENFERE HEKER
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EEEEBL BRERE #HekEA(ERE
HERERDEER -

RiIR HERERRBELS
Exe((ExEg ) 2EEAEAKRENRE g
REGRBRERTIF EXQ@AFEFIER
BEASEMNRE #HekELHBERR X
RBEEABERNRE e RERREARERER
RRABBEEIERIE o I BERKCEERE
MARERAMEBFARRT 2B - MITEERE
HIERE  HEMERAEEREK  BE - BER
FERS - WHEBEEER - WETRH - 7F6E
EERERBEARE HELEREE ARK
HiE - MEMIPIEEAM HHLERAEE
BB HEKEREBRRERRBETHSZER
BoHekEAHBER - FAEEHBHEHRE
WG UHMEHLREFFCERBFERER
MR NS  EFQRNIRBRE  HERE
ARABABRMMEBERERS -

EREELAGEFRZAMS  EFSEREZ
BeRMLEEERE e NERERNERR
KEERE  SHTRRERNE  ZHFES
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We were granted I1SO 9001:2015 Quality Management Systems in
September 2017, which is valid until September 2023.
Representatives from quality control department shall also review,
check, fulfill, and anticipate in coming ISO requirements for better
implementation.

Overall, to further improve the ESG performance, the Group has
set up the following key plans/measures for the Reporting Period:

o Assign representative to review current practices and
provisions of environmental and social policies;

o Allocate resources to fulfill coming changes of environmental
policy; and

o Report to the directors to formulate management plan for
the coming year.

REPORTING PERIOD

The Report illustrates the Group’s initiative and performance
regarding the environmental and social aspects during the
reporting period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (the
“Reporting Period”).

REPORTING SCOPE

This Report covers all subsidiaries of the Group in Hong Kong with
core business principally engaged in provision of installation of
heat, ventilation and air-conditioning system (the "HVAC")
business in Hong Kong, while other segments would not be
included. The Group will continue in assessing the impacts of its
business on the major ESG aspects and to include in the Report.

REPORTING BASIS

The Report is prepared with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide
set out by Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”). The Group has complied with the mandatory
disclosure requirements and the “comply or explain” provisions
set out in the ESG Reporting Guide. Certain key performance
indicators (“KPIs"), which are considered material by the Group
are disclosed during the Reporting Period, the Group will continue
to optimize and improve the disclosure of KPIs.
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RiR  HERERRE

During its preparation, the Group adheres to the reporting
principles of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency by:

Reporting
Principles
HERR

Materiality

BEM

Quantitative

E1t

Balance

F

Consistency

Interpretation
=E

— The report should disclose significant —
impacts on the environment and society,
or aspects that materially affect how the
stakeholders assess the company and
make decisions.

— RERRBHBREREGMEKRNERX —
FESH R ETEARR R RIELRE
WA RNERNERTZENEE -

— The KPIs disclosed in the report shall be —
calculable and comparable where
applicable.

— WEMBRBENRRERIEREA THE —
RREEER T A TR ©

— The Group should objectively and truthfully —
report its ESG performance for the year.

— AEEERGEATMBEHEARFER —
BB Mg RERAENKRE -

— The ESG report should be prepared in a —
consistent manner, its ESG's KPIs can be
compared to understand corporate
performance.

RimsiBiEs  AEBEBATHABRERE -
Bt FER—BENRERR

The Group'’s Application
AEENER

The Group conducts questionnaire to understand
stakeholders’ expectations. Based on the results of
the questionnaire, the Group identifies and reports
the Group’s material sustainability issues.

REECETHSHAE AT BIFHE L - RER
HEREER  AREBNRBEESERIHEER
BE-

Under feasible situation, the Group records,
calculates and discloses quantitative information and
conducts comparisons with past performance.
ERTERAT AEEBDZHE  AHEREEREELNE
B B RIVEITELE ©

The Group follows the principles of accuracy,
objectivity and fairness to report its achievements
and challenges in sustainable development.
REBULER TERATRRA - REELRA#F
BB R 77 T NS A A B P TED ST Y B BB

The Group ensures consistency in preparing the
report and manage its ESG data for future
comparison. If there are any changes to the
methodologies, calculations, or any other factors
that affect meaningful comparison, the Group will
make a clear explanation.
AEBGRRERREFO - - WERRE -
HEREREBIE - AEBRETHER - Ak - 5
HAEMEMTERERHBRORERELE L K
SEGIEL AR -

— =k — RIR HERERAMEHRAT ABRE —
—E R e MEIANBRESIES
A FLE - A THARRE

CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes your feedback on the Report for our
sustainability initiatives. Please contact us by email to
info@manshun.com.

APPROVAL OF THE REPORT
The Report was approved by the Board of the Group on 30 March

2023.

BEER
AREBEEN BTHARSREAEUFESRR
LR EE R o :5EH Zinfo@manshun.com £

T A -

#ERERE
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R - HERERBME

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT EpESH

We identified the key stakeholders of our business operations. We — {5 L X B L EPN T EZENE  THEBS
interact with our stakeholders regularly through various $E&@EEEBMHETHEE - FAFBAETER
communication channels. The following table illustrates the issues P E BT ET A R HRFIEZFHEEBH AR

of concern of our major stakeholders and the ways we
communicate with stakeholders:

Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel
wH0E ne 2HERE
Government — To comply with laws and — On-site inspections and checks
regulations — Research and discussion through
— Proper tax payment work conferences, work reports
— Promote regional economic preparation and submission for
development and employment approval
— Interim reports, annual reports,
announcements
— Company website
B — BTER — BmERERkRE
— REMHK — MARERTIFERETIRAR
— RERAEEZRREAE THERE RIBRME Gt
— HHEE  FRRAM
— DAl
Shareholders and — Return on investment — Annual general meeting and other
Investors — Information disclosure and shareholders’ meetings
transparency — Interim reports, annual report,
— Protection of interests and fair announcements
treatment of shareholders — Company website
— Business risk management — Meeting with investors and analysts
BRERKRER — REOK — BRRBFREREMRRAE
— BHRBERERAE — PHERS FH®- A
— RERRAGRATHERE — QA8%
— ¥BERER — BREERSMEEE

Measures

i

Operated, managed and paid taxes
according to laws and regulations,
strengthened safety management; accepted
the governments supervision, inspection
and evaluation, and actively undertook
social responsibilities.

RIEERRORAEE - SRR : 1%
R2ER  BRAFEE  HERFH
LB AR -

Issued notices of general meeting and
proposed resolutions according to
regulations, disclosed corporate information
by publishing announcements/circulars and
interim/annual reports.

Carried out different forms of investor
activities with an aim to improve investor’s
recognition. Held results briefing. Disclosed
corporate contact details on website and in
reports and ensured all communication
channels available and effective.
REERNERRAGBEREZRE
£ MR/ BERPE/ FEREN
BELTEH o
ARAREERNEMETEELANR
BEED - RIT-REREN G - RAN
RBERREAAMBER  WHRRAE
EREEENAR -
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L

Stakeholder
B E HE

Employees —

Customers —

Suppliers/ —
Partners —

ftrens,/ —
afEBH —

Safeguard the rights and
interests of employees
Working environment
Career Development
opportunities
Self-actualization

Health and safety
RIGME SRS

- HERER

Expectation

TER%

SXERHKE

BRER

RELZE

Safe and high-quality products
Stable relationship
Information transparency

Integrity

Business ethics
Z2REEER

RTBE

EERE

#

Long-term partnership
Honest cooperation

Fairness and openness
Information resources sharing
Risk reduction

REABHAR

=
HEER

HEAE

AFAH

NEEHNER

2

(KR

Engagement channel Measures
ZERE #ife
— Conference — Provided a healthy and safe working

— Training, seminars, briefing sessions
— Annual performance appraisal
— Intranet and emails

AAi
— B -

— il RE-EBNE
— FRRRFE
— RABBLEBD

— Website, brochures, interim reports, —
annual reports, announcements

— Email and customer service hotline

— Feedback forms

— Regular meeting

— B s PEREF —
W »ffe

— SBREPRBEHE

— BRE

— EHeE

— Business meetings, supplier —
conferences, phone calls and
interviews

— Regular meeting

— Review and assessment

— Tendering process

— Company website

— Email, circulars and manual

— ¥%es HEHNSE STEKE —
5

— EHeE

— fga Rarh

— BERRF

— AR

— BH BRHLTM
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environment; developed a fair mechanism
for promotion; cared for employees by
helping those in need and organizing
employee activities.

REREL2MTERE  BEUATET
il REFRENOEERERESR
8o

Strengthened quality management to
ensure stable service standards, and entered
into long-term strategic cooperation
agreements.

MBEEEE  UERRBEERT - ¥
R RABW SRS -

Invited tenders publicly to select best
suppliers and contractors, performed
contracts according to agreements,
enhanced daily communication, and
established long-term cooperation with
quality suppliers and contractors.

NRBZERSEERD AR -
@E%w%ﬂéﬁ EEEER TE
BEMERAERERBAEREG -
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Stakeholder
B E

Peer/industry
associations

RE/T%0g

Financial
institution

TREE

Media

Public and
communities

REALRAME

Expectation
ne

— Experience sharing
— Corporations
— Fair competition

«
i

85
1z

P

> B
w

1o

— 4

— Compliance with the laws and
regulations
— Disclosure information

— ETERNER
— BEEH

— Transparent information
— Communication with media

— EHNEH
— HERER

— Community involvement
— Social responsibilities
— Promote employment

— HESE
— HEEE
— RERY

Engagement channel

BERE

— Industry conference
— Site visit

— fi%e%
— EME

— Consulting

— Information disclosure
— Reports

B

— BHEE

— 5

— Company website
— Interviews

— Media conference
— Media gathering
— AR

- ETJF&JE]

— nERHE

— By

— Volunteering

— Charity and social investment

— Annual reports

— £17EH
— EERMEEE
— FRf

RE  HERERESE

Measures

i

— Stuck to fair play, cooperated with peers to
realize win-win, shared experiences and
attended seminars of the industry so as to
promote sustainable development of the
industry.

— BRLTRE ARZAEERER 9
FRER - ARBIMTERAE - ST
ELIPST EE

— Complied with regulatory requirements in a
strict manner, disclosed and reported
information in a timely and accurate manner
according to law.

— BRETEERT  RERKERNRE
RBEEBH o

— Organized conference, media gathering and
site visit to enhance the communication
with media.

— HEeE ERTEREHER - NNR
BERNEE -

— Gave priority to local people seeking jobs
from the Company so as to promote
community building and development; built
roads, protected the communities,
ecological environment, and provided timely
compensation and assistance; provided
volunteer service, kept communication
channels open between the Company and
the communities and villagers, co-sponsored
community activities to promote the
building up of harmonious communities.

— BEERARREAKBNEMA - (RER
BERNER 2RER REHRER
BE - RGRERERED  REZTR
% REFHRADAELERNROER
RiE HERHLRIEE - (RERRNA
HE -
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R - HERERBRSE

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

With a growing population, challenges such as climate change,
energy supply and security, raw material scarcity, human health
and safety, and employment must be addressed to ensure that
people can lead healthy and fulfilling lives. Faced with a wide
range of issues, the Group is keen to identify those that have a
great impact on its stakeholders and business, and then to develop
its strategic priorities. This is why materiality assessment is an
essential part of the Group’s ESG management and reporting.

BEEMRIM

BEE ADTEER - RARERAPIEEHE @R
RENEE  HARHRERL EREEREZ
2 RMBER  ABRRERZZ2ARERESH
B - mHEZNMER - ANREEGEREER D
EREBBREAZENHRE - L HIFTHERKE
B At EEUFEAAKERE HEK
EREERREN—ERZEES o

Materiality Matrix

High®

Labour Standards

EEMER

Health and safety
BEEZE

w BT AR
O
P4
<
(&) Employment ® | Anti-corruption
T8 (=] REE
Z ﬁ o ©
o I | | Use of Resources ° o
=@ | EEEH Development and training
(z < Product Responsibility | ® R RIE
<= EREE
=z = ~
(@) Climate change L ,
(%) RIEE1L Supply chain management
5 ° o HEREEE
o - Community investment
Emission HERE
BE A : ¢
Environment and natural resources
BRERBRER
Low{& BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT SIGNIFICANCE Highs

ERBREEM

The Group has established a stakeholder-driven approach to
analysing the importance of ESG and identified 12 issues most
relevant to the Group’s business. A questionnaire was then
conducted, in which stakeholders were invited to rate the issues
based on their importance to the Group’s business and to the
stakeholders themselves.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

Aspect A1: Emissions

To demonstrate the Group’s commitment to sustainable
development and compliance with laws and regulations
relating to environmental protection, air and greenhouse
gas (“GHG") emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste. The
Group endeavors to minimise the environmental impact of
the business activities and maintain green operations and
green office practices.

Our business is mainly providing HVAC electrical and
mechanical engineering ("E&M engineering”) services
which focus on servicing new residential property
development projects as a first-tier or second-tier
subcontractor in Hong Kong. Our work performed as a first-
tier subcontractor is mainly for overall project management
and supervision of HYAC E&M engineering works conducted
by us and/or our subcontractors to ensure their conformity
to contractual specifications and requirements of the
property developers while work performed as second-tier
subcontractor is mainly responsible to execute installation
work of HVAC system such as fixing of devices and
connection of various pipe through our workers and
subcontractor. Meanwhile, we delegate part of the
installation process or overall installation works for part of
the site areas to our subcontractors to assist us in
completing on-site works. Thus, given the nature of our
HVAC E&M engineering services that focus on project
management and installation work, together with
subcontracting practice, the Group poses less negative
impact to the environment than most typical construction/
engineering industries.

Our Group's operations in work sites are subject to certain
environmental requirements pursuant to the laws in Hong
Kong, such as Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Cap.
400 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and Waste Disposal
Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group
has been in strict compliance with the above relevant laws
and regulations in Hong Kong. We endeavour to minimise
any adverse impact on the environment resulting from our
business activities. In order to comply with the applicable
environmental protection laws, we had implemented an
environmental management system. Apart from following
the environmental protection policies formulated and
required by our customers, we have also established our
environmental management policy to ensure proper
management of environmental protection and compliance
of environmental laws and regulations by both our
employees and workers of the subcontractors on, among
others, noise control and waste disposal.
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BRREEIN - RATEHERREZRE -
NREERDBETIALNYEEREH (K
TEE)RTESREVRE S MAIRRKRS
H o WETRBEENER -
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Such key measures and procedures concerning mainly noise
pollution and waste control include, amongst other things:

Noise control
— Installation of acoustic barriers as required;

— Inspection and maintenance of all equipment before
use for compliance of permitted noise level; and

— Works to be undertaken in accordance with the
permitted work hours as specified by each project.

Waste disposal

— Our Purchasing Department has procured
environmental protection refrigerant so there’s no
material hazardous waste or toxic chemical produced;

— Waste to be separated into general wastes and
construction wastes before transporting to landfills;

— The Company has established and maintained
procedures designed to control risks arising from
handling storage, use and disposal of substances
hazardous to health and specific safety training has
been conducted to relevant persons for handling the
hazardous substance; and

— The Company has also followed main-contractor’s
safety regulation on site basis and reviewed by the
main-contractor on a regular period.

During the Reporting Period, there was no material breach
of or non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations related to environmental protection, GHG
emission, discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

Regarding hazardous and non-hazardous wastes, solid
wastes are separately stored and handled with the ledger for
record. During the Reporting Period, the Group did not
generate/consume significant hazardous and non-hazardous
waste and water due to its business nature.

Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & IE 5= & (1% ) B R A 7
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In addition, the Group advocates emission reduction, and is
committed to achieving sustainable operations and
compliance with emission requirements permitted by the
local authorities. To this end, we have set preliminary
directional targets in terms of reducing emissions (including
air pollutants, greenhouse gas, hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes, and sewage). The Group will actively
implement the air pollutants control plan, electricity-saving
plan, material-saving plan and measures to maintain or
reduce the intensity of waste production and relevant gas
emissions. The Group will review the progress and explore
more opportunities for various environmental protection
goals. In the future, we will set more specific quantitative
environmental goals to nurture the environment and cherish
natural resources. Moreover, we are investing more
resources in recycling to help the development of circular
economy.

Environmental aspects Targets
BBEM B

Air Pollutants Emissions Maintain or reduce the
intensity of air pollutants
emissions by 2022

RS R Y B FHEFIRDK
ROSRDP T E

H

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Maintain or reduce the
intensity of greenhouse gas
emissions by 2022

HH}
i

BHFK Ao —FHBRS R
EREBHFHEE

71:

CHERERHRE

El:ﬁl\ F REBRERPE R ER A FHE
ERETE iﬂzﬂlfﬁt/ﬁﬂ’ﬁ#ﬁﬁlgi 7%
ﬁt BAPERRH(BREERSRY
RE BERETERY - 5’5‘7J<)?]J*/FEEE
FE R BR o AREMEEGE ARG RYE
BIETE] - BNERTE - A B RN - DAMR
oML BYELE RAERBIREE - N
SESRNER  YARERREZVER
ZHE - KK BHABREERAENELR
BEE UWRERRREPEAERER It
Sh BMERKR ST ERAEZER - B
EREBENER

Measures

)i

— Carrying out regular maintenance of vehicles
with good condition for operational efficiency

—  Encouraging the use of public transportations

— YHEWRETEHRE @RERFURSE
LAIT

—  Adopting LED lighting in some offices

—  Setting the temperature of air-conditioning
system in 24°C

—  Switching off lights and unnecessary energy-
consuming devices when they are not in use

—  Promoting environmental protection such as
saving water and electricity by means of slogan
or poster in office

—  R#EA ##“*%ﬁﬁ LED F& A

— BARRREFREREHE 24°C

— HEFERREENAR T B ENRERE

— ERRENRENERESEHORKEAE
ERIRIE
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Environmental aspects Targets Meas
RIBEE B it
Waste Reduction Maintain or reduce the —

intensity of waste production
by 2022

BRI

2

)

-z

= —

BT

F R IOR D RE

ures

Operating waste and living waste are collected
in bags and collected by the local sanitation
department

100% of recyclable waste, such as paper
scraps, paper skins, waste documents, scrap
defective products/goods, etc., are handed
over to renewable resources for recycling
RS EPTE SR REY) M AR R - I
B S HaT A ERPI I &

100% F] BB 3 - Q4RSS ~ AR - RESCHF -
WEERm/  RBBEFREIR

Ao O A~
HonsF

Besides, the Group had developed the 2022 environmental
target for Air Pollutants Emission, GHG emissions and waster

production, and the result as at
is as follow:

Environmental KPI

RERREENER

The intensity of air
pollutants emissions

ERSRMREE

The intensity of greenhouse
gas emissions
BRERBHNEE

The intensity of
waste production

BEEMELEE

the end of Reporting Period

BESN - REEFIFT —F - —F RIS
ME RERBHNENEEVELENR
REZE  REHARBRNEROT

Results as at the end

Targets Baseline Year of Reporting Period

B BEEFE BEHBHARER

Maintain or reduce the intensity of 2021 Target achieved
air pollutants emissions by 2022

T —FHRFAREERERY T —F BIRERK
PR

Maintain or reduce the intensity of 2021 Target achieved
greenhouse gas emissions by 2022

AT —FRESIRERERE —E-—F BIRERK
PR

Maintain or reduce the intensity of 2021 Target achieved
waste production by 2022

B FRBRREEEY —E-—fF BIRERK

EETE
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Major air pollutants emission from vehicles during the RSN —E - —FRAERELSR
Reporting Period and the corresponding period in 2021 are BRI RPERIERIT
as follows:

Air Pollutant Emission

ZRISREYHEBIER
Air Pollutant Emission (kg)
ERESRMHERE (TR)
2022 2021
Type of Air Pollutants ZERFRYER —E-F -
Sulphur dioxide —EbR 0.26 0.33
Nitrogen oxides BEAY 137.53 191.50
Particulate matter R YE 13.10 18.30
Air pollutant intensity ERIERNEBE
(kg/revenue HK$°000) (FR/FHBTKA) 0.0012 0.0017
The greenhouse gas (“GHG") emission from the operation RBEMRAR T - —FRH  SEELD
during the Reporting Period and the corresponding period in RERE(CREREDRBERNT -

2021 are set out below:

GHG Emission

BERBHRER
Equivalent CO, emission (tonnes)
“EemBERY E & ()
2022 2021
Type of GHG emissions mERBHRER —ECF —F_—
Scope 1 Direct emissions FE 1 EEEER 45.58 59.58
Scope 2 Indirect emissions #[E 2 MEHER 12.17 12.36
Total st 57.75 71.94
Intensity (tonnes/revenue HK$'000) RE (K, THETHRA) 0.00046 0.00059
Note: BieE
The calculation of the GHG gas is based on the “A Corporate Accounting and BERBUNENTEDRBEAEREHATO X
Reporting standard” from The GHG Protocol and the Reporting Guidance on BT RIRERE] REBBERZSHMARA R TIENER
Environmental KPIs issued by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. FBRESUERERIES|
Scope 1: Direct emissions from vehicles that are owned by the Group. HE AEEMERERMONEEIN
Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased electricity EE 2 : NEBPTHEFEINBE S ELNBEEER

consumed by the Group.
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Aspect A2: Use of Resources

The Group places high priority on the efficient use of
resources. The major resources used by the Group are
electricity, water, and paper. The Group strives to improve
the efficient use of natural resources, such as minimising
waste/emissions and implementing effective recycling
program. Guidelines were announced for encouraging staff
to save energy by the management, and staff are
encouraged to save electricity, water and paper.

Electricity

Electricity saving measures are encouraged that electrical
appliances are required to be set at energy saving mode
where possible. For computers, the idle mode are configured
to commence upon 20 minutes or less without inputs. The
room temperature should be set in 24°C. Also, power supply
should be switched off when they are not in use. Preference
will be given to office equipment with relatively high energy
efficiency. We adopted LED lighting in the office, and there’s
no air-condition in all warehouses.

Energy consumption by the Group during the Reporting
Period and the corresponding period in 2021 are set out
below:

Energy Consumption

HERH

Type of energy RS

Unleaded petrol ST D

Diesel geh

Purchased electricity NI EE )

Total st

Energy intensity RERBE(TRE

(kWh/revenue HK$'000) FHETWA)

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RiR  HERERRE

BHEA2: EREA
AEB+HERERERER - XEBER
MEEBERB/EN KEMAR - REBEN
HERREBRERRE - flanzE SR RE
W,/ PR - WEHEA ARG E - BIE
Bz B 8 TETKGEIRMIES - BB T
ESHRE - KRB

AEBESERNEEEE  ERFRAUER
EREHEERA - BB EENEE R 20
DEFXFEREALZABARRLG - ZRE
REM24CNEE AN - L5 BERENTR
RERR - AEESELERLERAERS
MM AERME - WX P AERRALED IR
B BREXESR

AEERGERBR S - —FRBANEIR
HFET

Energy consumed (kWh)

FRFERER (T FLEF)

2022 2021

—E_-C —_EFE -
116,360.16 162,426.03
53,165.69 54,787.01
32,896.00 33,397.00
202,421.85 250,610.04
1.62 2.06
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Water
The Group did not encounter any problems in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose during the Reporting Period.
Water consumption by the Group during the Reporting
Period and the corresponding period in 2021 are set out
below:

Water Consumption

RE  HERERESE

7k

AN & [ A R 5 HARI 7R ER S A A K e R 8
FEMEE - AEERFEHER T = —
FRIENAKESHIIT

KE
(m3) (m3)
(AZF2K) (327 K)
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
Running water consumed BRKHES 2.00 28.00
Total “et 2.00 28.00
Intensity (m3/revenue HK$'000) BE (XK FHBTKA) 0.00002 0.00023
Paper AR

Reduction in paper use indirectly reduces the overall GHG
emission. The Group has been taking the following steps to
reduce paper consumption:

—  Reduce the use of paper by printing or photocopying
on both sides of paper, where applicable;

—  Encourage the employee to use suitable font size/
shrinkage mode to minimise pages, if possible.
Besides, electronic media is recommended for
circulation/communication purposes, to minimise
using paper.

During the Reporting Period, the consumption of paper and
packaging material were 1,405.80 kg (2021: 1,484.00 kg)
and 8,980 pieces (2021: 7,163 pieces), respectively.

ﬁd\ﬁ%i&?ﬁTFﬂ%%ﬁ%% EREBHY
o ARE—ERBUATNERRS AEE

— REERHERAEMEIITESEHR K
RAE

— HBEIRTVEEAAGENFTEX
N GRENFE R AR D BB e e SN TR
BEAEFIAERXYE, BB
BEROMERAE -

REREEIRE - RN BEMEAEREESD B
A1,40580F " (ZF = —F : 1,484.00F
7)) K 8,980 (=T = —4F : 7,1631F) ©
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In addition, the Group advocates energy and resources
saving, and is committed to achieving sustainable operations
and compliance with emission requirements by local
authorities. To this end, we have set preliminary directional
targets in terms of energy use efficiency and water
efficiency, in order to perform better energy conservation
and water conservation. The Group will actively implement
the electricity-saving plan, water-saving plan and measures
to maintain or reduce the intensity of electricity consumption
and water consumption. The Group will review the progress
and explore more opportunities for various environmental
protection goals. In the future, we will set more specific
guantitative environmental goals to nurture the environment
and cherish natural resources. Moreover, we are investing
more resources in recycling to help the development of
circular economy.

Environmental aspects Targets
REEE BE

Energy Conservation Maintain or reduce the intensity
of energy consumption by 2022

(1 AT —FHFER DR
IRBFRERE

Water Conservation Maintain or reduce the intensity
of water consumption by 2022

Bk - - —FHFIORDE
KEE

AN - REBEEHOERRER - BAR
ERAFELENETERBRNNERE
Koo Bt - RPIE BAERA AR K& AKX
RO FHEILER BT - LA I T ETRE AR
KT - AEEBRGEMEATE S - &K
BRI - MR SOR D REE RFEKRE
B - AEESRNER  YARERRKRAR
MEELZHE - KK RAKREEBEN
EREEE URERRRDEARE
R tesh s ROERPTERAEZER
B D BIREEHER -

Measures

oy

—  Adopting LED lighting in some offices

—  Setting the temperature of air-conditioning
system in 24°C

—  Switching off lights and unnecessary energy-
consuming devices when they are not in use

— RESPIELHRALED R

— BARRRGBEREE24C

—  EIEAREE LA T B ENFRE

—  Promoting environmental protection such as
saving water and electricity by slogan or poster

in office
— HERAENERENEREEHORKEAE
LIRRIEHE
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Besides, the Group had developed the 2022 environmental
target for energy conservation and water conservation, and
the result as at the end of Reporting Period is as follow:

Environmental KPI Targets

BEARERER B

The intensity of Maintain or reduce the intensity of
energy consumption energy consumption by 2022

RERHEREE - —FRBIRERREREE

The intensity of Maintain or reduce the intensity of
water consumption water consumption by 2022

FKEE BT —FRENSIBRERKEE

GOVERNANCE REPORT
R - HERERBME

AN - ANEEHIET —F = — F s RETKHE
REBR  REAMPROERDT

Results as at the end
Baseline Year  of Reporting Period

EEFE BEREHRRER
2021 Target achieved
—T-—fF BIREK

2021 Target achieved
ZT-—fF BRERK

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
The Group raises staff’s awareness on environmental issues
through education and training and enlist employees’
support in improving the Group’s performance, promote
environmental awareness amongst the customers, business
partners and shareholders and support community activities
in relation to environmental protection and sustainability
and evaluate regularly and monitor regularly the impact of
past and present business activities regarding health, safety
and environmental matters, with the integration of policies
mentioned in sections “Emissions” and “Use of Resource”,
the Group strives to minimise the impacts to the
environment and natural resources. The principal business
activities of the Group do not have a significant impact on
the environment and natural resources.

EBHA3 : BERXRER
AEBFEBHE REIRE B THIRIRME
MER FRMEIXHARERERR R
NEP - ZBBHEERNRREE B
BERRARKAFERROMEES - WEB
AEREEBERBRREERERE RERER
BEENEKLRY  BRESI Y IR E
RER ]| EHRMOBER  AEEZNED
HRERAARERNTE - ARENEER
HERBHRRENABAERLESATE -
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wE

Aspect A4: Climate Change

Climate change has caused frequent extreme weather and
has a major impact on business operations. Therefore, the
Group has formulated working mechanisms and
contingency plan to identify, prevent and mitigate climate
change issues that may have a significant impact. A climate
risk assessment exercise has been implemented by the
Group in identifying and mitigating climate-related risks. The
Group’s management and operating departments identify
material risks via self-assessment questionnaires annually.
Regarding the material risks identified, the Group organizes
and develops prevention and control measures. The
operating departments would then organize the supervision
of material risks prevention and control, and report the
material risks to the management. Relevant operating
departments arrange the implementation of the material
risks prevention and control measures, continuously monitor
the implementation, and timely report the progress or any
issues encountered to the management. At the same time,
we would adjust the use of resources and energy. In
response to disasters and accidents that are easily induced
by extreme weather, we always enhance the capability to
the disaster response.

Physical Acute Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as typhoons,
heavy rain, thunder and lightning and flooding that can
cause physical acute risk. The potential consequences
include damage to documents, material, equipment,
buildings and even employees’ health and life. The above
potential consequences will cause economic losses and
increase operating costs to the Group.
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The Group has established different measures as below to
prevent and minimize the negative effect of extreme
weather.

Physical Acute Risk

RE  HERERESE

AREBDHIEATTRER - A ERES
AR R RN EEZE

Y132 S R BR
Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
ik R R TARE R 4% R 15 i
Typhoons — Close doors and Windows with advance notice

— Move materials and equipment to safety areas in advance, or

covered with a tarp

— Reinforce equipment and components that may be blown away

— Stop all outdoor work

FeR — RATE A&

— BB RRERIBBIZ2RE - HBOKTEER
— D& R] BEAR IR R Y R 8 B R A

— EEFRBFINLIE

Heavy rain and Flooding — Clean up trash and make sure drains unblocked
— Maintain drainage equipment
— Reinforce equipment and components that may be washed away

RS — RENIRIHERIKE 5B

— HEPIKRE

— D& R] BEAR R Y AR 8 B AR A

Thunder and lightning — Keep good conditions of earthing devices
— Control travel and outdoor work before the arrival of lightning
— Remind employees to save data and turn off computers

EE — REFERHEE N RIFIRE

— PR R ARSI 1T RPN T
— RERSRTFHIELEAERK

Physical Chronic Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as extremely
hot weather can cause physical chronic risk. The potential
consequences include an increased chance of getting
heatstroke for employees working outdoor or in the
workshop, increasing turnover rate and work-related
injuries. The demand for cooling for the working
environment will be increased, which may lead to an
increase in power demand and operating costs to the
Group.

The Group has established different measures as below to
prevent and minimize the negative effect of extreme
weather.

I R B R

REBE R P] 58 By iR & B R 60 1R i
KR DIINEEEAR R, - BEREBIESINL
BEITIFABMPBETEN  RAXET
B - TERIBELANF KBS -
BRI E R AL ENE N F RS LA
hne

AREBEHIEATTRER - AHIEREE
AR R RNEETE
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Physical Chronic Risk

Y R H R
Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
Wi KR, TaRE R R R i
Extremely hot weather — Open windows to allow the air to circulate

— Keep a First-aid kit convenient

— Keep cold water available 24 hours a day
BEERR — ITHEFREZRIE

— BRSAE

— 2 RRHER LK

Transitional Risk BB b

The Group has identified related matters such as the AEBEHMNBAEE - FINEFAE RN
tightened laws and regulations imposed by the government SRR AR RS ER R o EEE
which can cause transitional risk. The potential REFERBEEEREROMEEEM -

consequences include a higher chance of breach of relevant
laws and regulations.
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The Group has established different measures as below to
prevent and minimize the negative effects of transitional
risk.

AREBHTA T SEEREH L SR E
HEBRNARTE -

Transitional Risk

A m R
Climate-related risks description Preventative and mitigation measures
R R A6 R R B oz H TEBS B R R e
Legal risk Monitor the updates of environmental laws

Exposure to litigation risk. We have to adapt the tightened
law and regulations imposed by the local government due
to climate change, as well as bear the risk of potential
litigation once we fail to obligate the new regulations.

SEEE R

HFRFFARR o HPIMNEEEE BRI RS M E
UL B E R ROERR - WAE— B REEESFHER M HIRA
B AR R o

Market risk

More customers are concerned about climate-related risks

and opportunities, which may lead to changes in customer
preference.

5 ELkR

FERFMIARENARREE  THEERESRT
B -

and regulations in advance
Continue monitoring of the ESG reporting
standards of the Hong Kong Listing Rules

RN EEAR AR E
HEEREE L TRANES  HEREA
Wi

Fulfill the climate-related regulations by the
government

Prioritize the climate change as a high concern
in the market decisions to show to the clients
that the company is concerned about the
problem and challenges of climate change
BTN RARMBRER
KRIRE(LB RS RTISRRN = ERTEH -
DRV VNS ES R - F=P 5 &7 354:0)
BE
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

Aspect B1: Employment

We endeavour to use our best effort to attract and retain
appropriate and suitable personnel to serve our Group. Our
Group assesses the available human resources on a
continuous basis and will determine whether additional
personnel are required to cope with the business
development of our Group. The Group'’s staff handbook sets
out our standards for compensation and dismissal,
promotion and salary review, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity and other benefits and welfare. The
Group entered into separate labour contracts with each of
our employees in accordance with the applicable labour
laws of Hong Kong.

The Group strives for compliance with local employment
laws and regulations, such as Employment Ordinance
(Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and the Minimum Wage Ordinance
(Chapter 608 of Laws of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong.

We generally recruit our employees through placing
advertisements in the open market with reference to factors
such as their experience, qualifications and expertise
required for our business operations. They are normally
subject to three months’ probation period starting on board.
The remuneration package our Group offered to our
employees includes salary, bonuses, other cash subsidies and
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”). In general, our Group
determines employee salaries based on each employee’s
qualifications, position and seniority. Our Group has
designed an annual review system to assess the performance
of our employees, which forms the basis of our decisions
with respect to salary adjustments, bonuses and promotions.
The Group adopts the equal employment opportunity. Policy
applies to employment procedure is based on capabilities,
qualifications, experiences and skills without discrimination.
We believe that the above arrangements can help us
maintain good relationship with our employee.

During the Reporting Period, there were no material non-
compliances regarding employment brought against the
Group or its employees.
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Below is a detailed breakdown of our employees by gender, NTFAEAR-_ZE-_—F+-_A=+—AHAK=Z%
age group and employee category as at 31 December 2022 ——F+-_F=+—HKRER - FERAR &
and 31 December 2021: BEEREI S HEERM
2022 2021
—E-—F B —F
Number of % of  Number of % of
staff Total staff Total
1E48 A2 AR NS
BT A Baokk BTA# Bt
By gender =R
Male B 62 87 58 87
Female pog s 9 13 9 13
Total #et 71 100 67 100
By age group RE AR
30 or below 30T 14 20 16 24
31-40 3124075% 28 39 24 36
41-50 41 & 505% 13 18 11 16
51 or above 515 E 16 23 16 24
Total @t 71 100 67 100

By employee category BESER

Senior management SR EIRE 7 10 7 11
Middle management RARERE 14 20 13 19
Normal Tim 50 70 47 70
Total #et 71 100 67 100
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Below is a detailed breakdown of our employee turnover
rate by gender and age group during the Reporting Period
and the corresponding period in 2021:

AT RBEMARFEHRAR

= —FiRER

K EFRAREI DR EB MK EPL

2022 2021
—E-—F == =4
% of particular % of particular
category category
45 EE Bl (SRSt il
Bkt Btk
Turnover rate by gender RERIE D NRAE

Male B 37 25
Female peg - 38
2022 2021
=A== B —F
% of particular % of particular
category category
A4S EE R R LR
Aot Bkt

Turnover rate by age group RERAERE D HREER
30 or below 30T 60 48
31-40 31 E405% 38 19
41-50 41 2505 8 20
51 or above 518004 E 13 18

Note 1:Turnover rate for employees in the relevant categories = Number of
employees leave in the specified category/Average of total emoloyees
in the specified category at the beginning and at the end of the
Reporting Period.

Our employees employed under our major subsidiaries of
the Group are located in Hong Kong.

Aspect B2: Health and Safety

We place emphasis on occupational health and work safety
during the delivery of our services as it is our concern not to
put our employees, our subcontractors and the general
public in hazards. Insurance policies purchased can cover
and protect our employees in the office and construction
site. We have also adopted an occupational health and
safety manual as required by relevant occupational health
and safety laws, rules and regulations under the supervision
of our project directors. Also, we strictly comply with the
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong.
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Our key occupational health and work safety measures are

ATEHIRMEBZOBERERTHELE2E

Effective promotion and communication of safety
procedures are maintained through, among others,
establishing safety bulletin and detailed record of
accident statistics, holding regular internal and
external safety meetings, documenting safety
measures and issues identified for each project by
preparing safety reports and training records;

We regularly attend safety training organised by the
main contractors of the projects, typically covering
safety procedures for performing different types of
work, first aid training, safety procedures for
emergency and duties and procedures for reporting
hazards, incidents, accidents and diseases, and good
housekeeping of workplaces;

All workers on site, including subcontractors’
employees, are required to follow the general safety
rules posted on prominent notice boards on site,
which would be adopted by the main contractor of
the relevant project. Workers would receive training
before they commence work, and those who breach
any such rules will be subject to internal disciplinary
actions. Project directors would make site inspections
to ensure strict compliance;

We designate a member of the project team who has
the relevant qualifications as our safety supervisor for
each of our projects. Risk assessments are generally
conducted by the relevant safety supervisor to identify
the potential hazards and accidents and provide
suggestion on proper preventive measures prior to
commencement of works;

Site inspections are carried out at least once every two
weeks by our project director to ensure strict
compliance with the statutory occupational health and
safety laws, rules and regulations;

set out below: i

BER(EPER)RILEAERHE
M EIMRET AL 8%~ E BB ITA B RS
ML2EH WAERHLZEZHREN
BICHEL TR EBEENL2ERK
PREBRNEE  EHARERLES
LERF

HAMER2MIBR QAEZBERNL
2 —RBEETTRAETIE
MZ2IEF - REI - BB
ZEREFARERLS 2 B
REREZEERTHMNBRE REF

EHBRTA(BRIEEES)HA
BTRMNBSBERE TR LA —K
Z2MA BERRGAERER A
ORI o T AR TIERTIER
Bl EREMABERIERZIRN
iR D - A TEETHRSRE -
FEfRBUIR BT AR

BFIEIKIRE BEAEBERERN
KREERSEEEENLE2EEE - A
B2 EE8 —RaEETRRNE -
PAR BB B RSN - W B T Al
LB E TR R eI R

FREAERIEMBEBEMKRE —R
NHERERETEAEBREERL L2
R RAIROER |
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—  Specific safety measures in relation to, among others,
emergency, working at height, safe operation of
machinery and reporting of hazards and accidents are
communicated with workers and documented in
details; and

— To fulfill the epidemic prevention and control
requirements and protect our employees during the
COVID outbreak in the early 2022, the site workers
needed to do the COVID-19 rapid fast test every day
before entering the construction sites. The Group
provided enough test kits for its workers.

During the Reporting Period, no cases of work-related
injuries and fatalities are recorded. There was no non-
compliance of significant case in relation to laws and
regulations for health and safety, and therefore no lost days
due to injury was resulted. Our Group did not have any
incidents of work-related injuries and fatalities for the latest
3 financial years, including the Reporting Period.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

The Group recognises the importance of training for the
development of our employees as well as our Group. We
provide various types of trainings to our employees,
including those on occupational health and safety in relation
to our work as mentioned in aspect “B2: Health and Safety”
in this Report. Such trainings include our internal training
held by human resources department as well as courses
organised by external parties such as the Construction
Industry Council and the Occupational Safety and Health
Council in Hong Kong. We believe it is a win-win approach
for achieving both employee and corporate goals as a
whole.
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Below is a detailed breakdown of the percentage of trained AR B PR R B &k =5 — — FRI##E
employees by gender and employee category during the HRIMEEERESHZIEERE D LA
Reporting Period and the corresponding period in 2021: 4 :
2022 2021
—E-= =4
% of total % of total
R A HRAZ
Aok Aotk
Employee trained by gender BHERESNZIES
Male B 83 92
Female pogi 17 8
Total Bt 100 100
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
% of total % of total
HEAH (EFEPNE
Aok Aotk
Employee trained by REEBERNESNZIES
employee category
Senior management SR EIEE 39 30
Middle management R ERE 17 8
General ] 44 62
Total #Et 100 100
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The average training hours for employees by gender and
employee category during the Reporting Period and the
corresponding period in 2021 are as follows:

Training hour by gender
Male S
Female g

Training hour by employee category

Senior management SREEE
Middle management RREREE
General Eim

210 B 81 75 35 3 R 21

BMRHERER S —FRBAZERN &
B8 A8 H a1 8 FHIE3IR &EH I M
T

2022 2021
—E-—F == =4
Hours per Hours per
employee employee

BEEERE BREERH

BESH A8 5353 B

3.97 5.00
3.61 2.22
34.50 34.29
0.64 0.27
0.56 1.41

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Group is fully aware that child labour and forced labour
violate fundamental human rights and also pose threat to
sustainable social and economic development. The Group
strictly complies with the Employment Ordinance and other
relevant labour laws and regulations in Hong Kong. The
Group prohibits the use of child labour and forced labour.
Employment contracts and other records, documenting all
relevant details of the employees (including age) are
maintained properly for internal review and verification by
relevant statutory body upon request. During the
recruitment process, the Group would verify the actual age
of the applicants by checking their identity documentations
and other records to avoid hiring any child labour. Terms
and condition are stated in employment contract for
employee to review before signing into contract, while
duties and responsibilities are identified before recruitment.
If any violation is discovered, we will handle it in a serious
manner. Depending on the actual situation, it will be
handled in accordance with national and local laws and
regulations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with

policies and relevant laws and regulations regarding
prevention of child labour or forced labour.
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Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Group works closely with its subcontractors and
suppliers who are committed to high quality, environmental,
health and safety standards. Policies and procedures for
selection and evaluation of subcontractors and suppliers are
established for staff to follow. New subcontractors and
suppliers are accessed with established criteria for
comparison purpose. We carefully evaluate the performance
of our subcontractors and suppliers and select them based
on a range of factors that are stated in the relevant policies
and procedures. We maintain a list of approved
subcontractors and suppliers which is updated according to
our assessment of their performance on a continuous basis.

We had over 17 (2021:17) subcontractors and 15 (2021:12)
suppliers located in Hong Kong during the Reporting Period.
We evaluate our subcontractors and suppliers base on a
number of factors, including their technical strengths,
product quality, quality control effectiveness, pricing, core
management team, credit rating, size, reputation,
environmental, health and safety standards. Apart from
product quality, delivery time and service quality, we
evaluate if the suppliers and subcontractors consider the
environmental and social criteria including the prohibition
on the recruitment of child and forced labour, eliminating
discrimination to employees, providing a safe working
environment, considering if the products and services
provided are beneficial to environmental protection and
fulfilling the Group’s internal environmental requirement
while minimizing the negative impact to natural
environment, and strictly obeying the law. We also conduct
annual evaluations on our suppliers and subcontractors.

During the Year, the Group is not aware of any major
suppliers having any significant impact on business ethics,
environmental protection, human rights and labour
practices, nor did any of them have any material non-
compliances in respect of human rights issues.

RE  HERERESE

FEEBS5 : ftREMEEE
rEEESBEAMMEAERTAE  HEX
NR#ERFSKTINESE  BRE  REEKLE
B2 - ZABEER R ED B/ A EER
EVEEE MAR T LA B T <F - 1RREE BRI
D BRI AEITHER - RFIER
D BB kMt ERHORER - WIRIRAAREER
REIEFTIRN—RIEAZEHREE - M
RENZED BB RHEREESREHH
ERBAFHAMRFEEH -

RBREHE - BROEEFFEEAITR(ZZF
TF 7R BERISR(ZE—F
NRR)HER - ZAMREBEZERZTESE
kLR RREARNEN  EREE -
EERHERE - EE  ROEEERK - 5
FFTA - R B2 RIE - BREKTEE
Ko-BRERMLE RERMMREEEIN -
BT eFAEERERSBEEEE EEIRE
e aRZIIBEETRAEES
T - HREIES  RBELZEHIERE -
EZRIMRENERERBRE A FNRER
EUARMEAEBAIIRIRER  AREE
BOHBEARENEATE  WEKRETE
ZoRMTERMOBRER R BREETT
e o

FA AEEY TABEAER2HERLER
KER  RBRERE  AERSBTEMEER
EXFE  TEECAT2HEREARRBRE
FEERERERTR -

Annual Report 2022 / =& = —F4F 5, 63



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RiR  HERERRE

64

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

Quality control on projects

The Group is liable for the works carried out by us and our
subcontractors. We ensure that each project is completed in
accordance with the specifications set out for the project.
Our project directors closely monitor the progress of each
project to ensure that our services (i) meet our customer’s
requirements; (ii) are completed within the time stipulated in
the contract and the budget allocated for the project; and
(iii) comply with all relevant rules and regulations. Our
project directors will monitor overall work quality and
project progress and perform on-site inspections and
supervise site workers regularly. Our project directors will
timely inform our executive Directors of the project status
and any quality issues arising from project execution. The
Group's insistence on quality was recognised, and the Group
was awarded the 1SO9001:2015 quality management
system certification. We hold management review meetings
regularly to review operations resources, follow up on
customers’ feedback and complaints, and identify areas for
improvement.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any
material service-related complaints and there are significant
no cases of product recalls.

Materials and consumables

We closely monitor the quality of materials and consumables
we purchase. Our procurement staff will ensure that they
are sourced from our approved list of suppliers. We conduct
quality control checking on HVAC systems and other types
of materials and consumables we procured prior to applying
them for installation to ensure the quality of the materials
and consumables used in our project. Such quality control
checking typically involves: (i) whether the quantity is correct;
(i) whether there is any observable defect; and (iii) whether
it functions normally. Any defective products or products
that fall short of the product specifications would be
returned to the suppliers for replacement. Our customers
would also inspect the materials used by us at work sites
and verify the specifications from time to time.
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Subcontractors and workers

We may be liable to our customers for the performance of
our subcontractors and we may also be liable to any
potential employee compensation claims and personal
injuries claims made by our or our subcontractors’
employees arising from work injuries that may happen from
time to time, in order to ensure that our subcontractors
comply with the contractual requirements and the relevant
laws and regulations, we require our subcontractors to
follow our internal control measures in relation to quality
control safety and environmental compliance. Our project
directors conduct regular site inspections to ensure general
compliance by our own workers as well as our
subcontractors in quality, safety and environmental
requirements. During project implementation, our project
team regularly meets with our subcontractors and closely
monitors their work progress and performance as well as
their compliance with our safety measures and quality
standards.

In order to achieve high quality in each aspect of our
operation, we rely on our management team which has
extensive industry knowledge and project experience in the
HVAC engineering and services market in Hong Kong. Our
members of senior management have over 20 years of
experience in the HVAC engineering and services market.
Their experience and extensive knowledge in this market
enable our Group to enjoy in-depth understanding of the
local market dynamism and industry practice. Our technical
team, in particular, our project directors who are assisted by
a team of experienced project management staff, have over
10 years of experience in the E&M engineering works
industry. Our directors and senior management possess
substantial experience, industry insight, technical skills and
knowledge and project management experiences to lead
and execute high quality works for sizeable projects with
stringent project requirements, which serve as our major
competitive edge over other market players, bringing
custom knowledge and commitment to quality have been
and will continue to be our Group’s valuable assets and
strive our Group towards greater success.

For our quality control measure over our subcontractors and
suppliers, please refer to aspect “B5: Supply Chain
Management” in this Report for further details.

During the Reporting Period, there were no significant
disputes between our Group and our customers in respect
of the quality of work performed by us or our
subcontractors.
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Intellectual Property Rights

The Group protects its intellectual property rights by
registration of domain names in Hong Kong. Such domain
name is renewed upon its expiration. The Group
understands and complies with the intellectual property
("IP") rights related regulations. During the Reporting
Period, there was no material infringement of the IP rights
and the Group is confident that all reasonable measures
have been taken to prevent any infringement of its IP rights
and the IP rights of third parties.

Data protection and privacy policies

Employees are generally required to follow the
confidentiality clause as stated in the staff handbook and
employment contract, which requesting employees not to
disclose any trade secret or other confidential information
concerning the business or affairs of our Group except for
the benefit of the Group with further authorization. All
customers’ or suppliers/subcontractors’ confidential
information is only accessible to employees who are
responsible for the corresponding project. Without the
permission of the related customers or suppliers/
subcontractors, the Group will not provide any confidential
information to any cooperative partners. Also, all contracts
and letters of tenders are kept in locked cabinets, while
projects server could only be accessed by the corresponding
team members. Only certain staff, such as Project Director
or Accounting Manager, could be permitted to see those
files, so as to maximise the security of data for customers,
suppliers and subcontractors.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance
with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters regard to products and services provided
by the Group during the Reporting Period.
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Aspect B7: Anti-Corruption

To ensure operation efficiency and employees’ development
in a fair and honest working environment, the Group has
formulated whistleblowing policy to avoid suspected
corruption and provided channel such as by letter, meeting,
email or phone call for employees to report suspected
corruption. If there are any suspected case related to
corruption, employees are encouraged to report the related
cases through the mentioned channels. All these practical
actions not only win the trust of customers, but also
enhance the sense of belonging and fair play among our
employees. During the Reporting Period, the Group
organized trainings on anti-corruption for directors and staff
to strengthen the relevant management on the prevention,
implementation and oversight of anti-corruption measures
in the Group.

The Group has been in strict compliance with law and
regulation related to anti-corruption. During the Reporting
Period, there was no legal case regarding corrupt practices
brought against the Group or its employees.

Aspect B8: Community Investment

As a socially responsible company, the Group is committed
to understanding the needs of the communities in which we
operate. The Group strives to develop long-term relationship
with our stakeholders and seek to make contributions to
programs that have a positive impact on community
development. Labour needs, health and culture will be the
focus areas of our community investment strategy.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has made donation
of HK$55,000 to certain local charitable organizations in
order to support the sustainable development of the
community (2021: HK$73,000).
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THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED’S ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPls Section Page
TEGE  EBEEH- - —REBERBEENIER =8 BIR
Environmental
RiE
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1 : B
General Disclosure Information on: “Emissions” 43-46
—RiXE [ e )

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the issuer,

relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,

discharges into water and land, and generation of

hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

*ﬁf‘%!?ﬁ&/m:* BEBERR - K R e BE

CBEREZEEVNEESFS
(@) BE: &k
b BFEHBTAEEATZENHEBEERAN
HEX -

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions “Emissions” 47
ARENIEZRAL data. [ e )

PER ) E $E I AR R R o
KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where "Emissions” 47
BREMIEEAL2 appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production [ HEnsn )

volume, per facility).

REREBABEME (LT E) R (ER) %= (|

EESEA BIESEEE) o
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where "Emissions” 44
BREMIEEZALS appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production [ e )

volume, per facility).

PEXAAEEEMES ANGE) R(ER) %
E(ASESEN - BERMENE) -
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
TELR EH  —REERBRERIER =] BR
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) “Emissions” 44
BAREMIEEZEALL and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of [HEm ]

production volume, per facility).
FEEAREEZEMESE (CABETE )&(ﬁﬂﬁﬁl)%‘
E(WMAEESEN - BERMETE

KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and steps taken ~ “Emissions” 45-46
BREMIEZALS to achieve them. [ e )

WM FEI LR EE B R AERE L BIZMEK

) 8 o
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous “Emissions” 44,46
FREMISIEALG wastes are handled, and a description of reduction  [HE#7 ]

target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HREAEERBEEREZEYN AL - MR
KBRS B IE K AER|EL BIZATRIE PR -

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2: EREH

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources. including “Use of Resources” 48-50
—RIEE energy, water and other raw materials. [&REA]
BREREBER(BIERIR - KREAMRME) &K
% o
KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type “Use of Resources” 48
FABENIEZEA2.1 (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh) and [ &R fEA ]
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

WERBSMERLR RERER(NE - Jeh)
REE(UATREFE) REE(MASESER -

BIARMTE) ©
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per “Use of Resources” 49
BRENIEIEA2.2 unit of production volume, per facility). [&RE A

,,,,, mEKEREE(MASESEMN  FERM

% o
KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and “Use of Resources” 50
BRENEZEA2.3 steps taken to achieve them. [ &R

AT UM RER YR B R R AEIELER

TEFTELER A F 8T o
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs

IRER EFH —REBERBREENER

KPI A2.4
BRENMIERA24

KPI A2.5
BREMIERA25

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

T A SKEGE A KR _E A B E R ERE - A RPIE] &Y
KR E B R R ARERE L B IR ERER A 25K -

Total packaging material used for finished products
(in tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per
unit produced.
KRB RN e EE (CANEGHE
BEEBMEE -

) R (Em)

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

EHA3 : BERRXARER

General Disclosure

—RIRE

KPI A3.1
AR EMIEIZE A3

Aspect A4: Climate Change
EEAL: RIZEL

General Disclosure

—RIKE

KPI A4.1
BREMIBEE AL

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact
on the environment and natural resources.
BIRBEITAHRERRARERERNERNS
% o

Z 100"

Description of the significant impacts of activities on
the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.
HEBREZHEBRRRRAERNELRE
KREBERTZENTE -

END

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer.
Bl R EHE KR %QﬁﬁﬁAF
RREAEBEERIBR

TENE

Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
MBI g BT AEEXENERR
HHEEE - REHTE -
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs

IREE EFH —REBERBRENER

Social
e

Aspect B1: Employment
[EmEB1 : B

General Disclosure

—RiNE

KPI B1.1
AR EMIEIEB1.1

KPI B1.2
R EMIEIEB1.2

Information on:
(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer,

relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare.

BRI R e - BIEREA - TERE RE -
TEHRE b - RIEE AR H b 7538 K42 7
Hy -

(@) HRER R

(b) WFHBETABEATENRBER LA
BER -

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for
example, full-or part-time), age group and
geographical region.

BRI - EIEER (N2 BRI - FleAl R Kit
REDHIESEE -

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

RIER - FERAR KRB D HERIRKE -

Section

4]

“Employment”

[ME{R ]

“Employment”

[ME{R ]

“Employment”

[ME{R ]
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section
TELR EH -  —REERBEERIER EH

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EHEB2: REEZE

General Disclosure Information on: “Health and Safety”
—MRiKE [fERRELZ 2 |

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer,

relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational

hazards.
EHRRELZ2TEREIMREREEH2BELS
=t :

@ BRER: Rk

(o) BTHETABEARZENHERARZRLRN

EE R o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred ~ “Health and Safety”
BARENIEEB2.1 in each of the past three years including the [f2FEEZ 2 |

reporting year.

BE=ZF(BRBEFR)EBFRATITHNAZR

Fo o
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. “Health and Safety”
BRENIEEB2.2 ATHBEEATERS - [fEREZ 2
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety “Health and Safety”
BRENMIEEB2.3 measures adopted, and how they are implemented ~ [f2FHEZ%Z & |

and monitored.
U TR AN B R B B 2 45 1+ DA AR BT T

Aspect B3: Development and Training

FEEB3 : R RIFI

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and “Development and
—RiEE skills for discharging duties at work. Description of ~ Training”
training activities. [# & KkiEF ]

BRIRTHR B BT TIEBE M A3 R R AERBUR ©
R IEE) -
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
TELR EH  —REERBRERIER =] BR
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and  “Development and 61
BB ENIEEB3.1 employee category (e.g. senior management, middle Training”

management). [2f a5

BUERREERR(NEREEE  PREEE)
EomXIEEB DL -

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee  “Development and 62
BARENIEEB3.2 by gender and employee category. Training”
RUERIREEERRE D  BREETKZINFE [#EKE]
P 84

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
FETE B4 : 55 T2 8|

General Disclosure Information on: “Labour Standards” 62
—RIFE [45 T8 |

(@) the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer,

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

BRI LB T B -
() EEEN: R

(o) BTHBTABERZENMERERLRN

BEHR o
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment “Labour Standards” 62
BARENIEEBA practices to avoid child and forced labour. [45 T 2R |

Rt RPN E AR 2 E T NoRBST -

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such “Labour Standards” 62
BERENIEIEBL.2 practices when discovered. [45 TR |

Rt e B IR E R BN E R B BB LT SRR E 2

B o
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs
TELR EH -  —REERBEERIER

Operating Practices

2EEM

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
JEEBS : HEHEEE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks
—MRINE of the supply chain.
ERHEENRBEREEGRREBR

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region.

B EANIEEBS. BB SR HERHA -

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging

AR ENIEIEB5.2 suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices

are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

it BB EERNED - MERITEBELN
HEBHE  ULBERRITREREE -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify

AR ENIEIEB5.3 environmental and social risks along the supply
chain, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

B ERE A ERSERANRR LSRR
MR - LARARRAIRTT MEERITA ©

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote
FAREMIEIEBS.4 environmentally preferable products and services
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
M ERERERNREEZARRER KRB
BHI - ARABREIT REEERTTE ©
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs

IREE EFH —REBERBRENER

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EHEB6 : EmEE

General Disclosure

—RIRE

KPI B6.1
R & M I51Z B6.1

KPI B6.2
AR EMIE1EB6.2

KPI B6.3
BRAMIEEB6.3

KPI B6.4
A EWIS1ZB6.4

KPI B6.5
AR EMIEIEB6.5

Information on:
(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer,

relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.
BREFREERMREHNRERERZ S -
NALEEE A R MHIT AR

5F 2%

(@) HERER R

(b) WFHBETABEATENREER LAY
BB R -

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.
EERCEXEMBAHTRLT 2 EEFIBHMA
AEM B -

Number of products and service related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

EERANE MM RISNIRFHRE UL EHTTE -

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.
Fii it B 7 L ARFE RN E MR A RO1E ) -

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.
B ERERERERERT -

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
HIUEEE ERHRE RALBBUE -

ERIE-

AR B RE#IT 2
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
TELR EH -  —REERBEERIER EH BR

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

[BEB7 : RES

General Disclosure Information on: " Anti-Corruption” 67
—RHE e vel

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer,

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

BRAWIEEERE - 9% - MEFRBARER
@@ BERER K

(b) EFTHBITAGEAZENRBEZ LA

BB o
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt ~ “Anti-Corruption” 67
BB ENIEEZEBTA practices brought against the issuer or its employees [ & &35 |

during the reporting period and the outcomes of

the cases.

RBEREHETARERERLACELENE
TSR AARITRVENE RAFAER ©

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- “Anti-Corruption” 67
BARENIEIEBRT.2 blowing procedures, and how they are implemented [ & &35 |

and monitored.

AT &SR R MIET - U RAEERTRERS

E e
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to “Anti-Corruption” 67
BARENIEIEB7.3 directors and staff. [RET]

i mEERE TRHMRESHE -
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and KPIs Section Page
TELR EH  —REERBRERIER =] BR
Community

HE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEBS : HERE

General Disclosure

—RiNE

KPI BS.1
BARENIEEB8.1

KPI B8.2
BB EMIE1EBS8.2

Policies on community engagement to understand “Community 67
the needs of the communities where the issuer Investment”
operates and to ensure its activities take into [FtEIE ]

consideration the communities, interests.
BREUMEDERTRETALEMENLERT
ZMEREER G S E BALEF AR °

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, “Community 67
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, Investment”
culture, sport). [ttERIEE ]

ISR WHE REFE BIFRK &
B Xt B85F)-

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the “Community 67
focus area. Investment”
EEIEHBMBAE RN EREMH) - [TtERRE ]
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board has been adamant in upholding high standards of
corporate governance to maximize operational efficiency,
corporate values and shareholder returns. The Company has
adopted and applied the principals of the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The Company will continue to
upgrade internal control system, strengthen risk control
management and reinforce the corporate governance structure.

The Company has complied with the code provisions and, where
appropriate, the applicable recommended best practices set out in
the CG Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

CORPORATE CULTURE

The Board believes that good corporate governance culture is
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard
the interests of Shareholders, enhance corporate value and
formulate its business strategies and policies. Corporate actions
are carried out by following the corporate value & spirit of
"integrity, compliance and care for stakeholders” in order to
achieve continuous success and sustainable growth.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions.

The Company has made specific enquiry to all Directors regarding
the compliance with the Model Code. All Directors confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

During the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of
this report, the Board comprises:

Executive Directors
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung (Chairman)
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson

Mr. LAU Yu Ching

Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson

The Board’'s composition demonstrates a balance of core
competence with regard to the business of the Group so as to
provide effective leadership and the requisite expertise to the
Group. The executive Directors and senior management of the
Company have extensive management experience in the
Company’s business.
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The biographical details of the Directors and senior management
of the Company are set out in the section headed “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 17 to 23 of this
annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills, expertise,
experience and qualifications.

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for leadership and control of the Group,
is entrusted with the responsibility to supervise the overall
management of the business, including establishing and
overseeing the Group’s strategic development, business plans’
financial objectives, capital investment proposals, and assumes the
responsibilities of corporate governance of the Group. The Board
has delegated the authority and responsibility for implementing its
business strategies and managing the daily operations of the
Group's business to the executive Directors and members of senior
management.

MECHANISMS TO ENSURE INDEPENDENT
VIEWS ARE AVAILABLE TO THE BOARD

The board believes that independent views and input can enhance
the Board’s decision-making process and therefore make fair and
proper decisions and corporate actions.

The Company has established mechanisms to ensure independent
views and input are available to the Board which, including but
not limited to, the composition of the Board and Board
committees, ensure the independence of all independent
non-executive directors, emphasis on independence in the
decision-making process, compensation structure, availability of
independent professional advice and opinions.

The Board will conduct a review annually to ensure the
implementation and effectiveness of the aforesaid mechanisms.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the
responsibilities between the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be segregated.

The two positions are held separately by two individuals to ensure
their respective independence, accountability and responsibility.
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung (“Mr. Tony Cheung”) is the chairman
of the Board and Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau (“Mr. Gary Cheung”)
is the chief executive officer of the Company. Mr. Tony Cheung is
in charge of the management of the Board and strategic planning
of the Group. Mr. Gary Cheung is responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Group’s business. The Company considered
that the division of responsibilities between the chairman and
chief executive officer is clearly established.

TEERHRE

EZENARAEREBABNBEFBHNAF
BEITE2A(EERSRERAEBRE| 5
EREIBRENZ TOREE EEAE - &M
BE o

EEANE
SESREFERMSIAEE  YES LB
BEE AENERESASERBER £
B HBEE AARERR TAEALE
MEEER EEEARITEERERERAR
BT ENRBE  AEREGEEREEALE
$R56 0B EE -

BREZSEFBEIRRAHEE

EEeHEBUNBAELER T MARESTSNR
RBRE - EMEE R FEENRERERT -

AARERIAHERESSTEEBT O
RER  BEETRAEFERESEAGNE
R RRFEBIIFNTEE OB - BAR
FIBIL - W BT EERRREROBY
e

EXelsFET AR BRLAINHE
e R AR EK o

ERRTRAR
CEERTUTAEIA2IRE - TRRTER
ANBEATESD -

A AR D BIHm B AT BENERESS B
B MEUEREE - TFEERTALE(R
TBREDREFSEIF  METUELE(TRT
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Board Meetings

The Board meets approximately quarterly and on other occasions
when warranted by circumstances. During the year ended 31
December 2022, the Board held five meetings. Notice for regular
Board meetings are given to each Director at least fourteen days
prior to the meeting whereby the Directors can put forward their
proposed items into the agenda. The agenda and the relevant
Board papers are then circulated to the Directors three days before
the Board meeting in order to enable the Directors to make
informed decisions. For other Board meetings, reasonable notices
are given.

In addition to regular Board meetings, under code provision A.2.7
of the Listing Rules, the chairman should at least annually hold
meetings with the non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) without the executive Directors present
(the “Chairman and Non-executive Directors Meeting”).
During the year, one Chairman and Non-executive Directors
Meeting was held.

Number of meetings and Director’s attendance

Details of the Directors’ attendance at the meetings of the Board,
the audit committee, the remuneration committee, the
nomination committee and the Chairman and Non-executive
Directors Meeting held during the year are set out below:

EExeed

EZeANEERRERENEMBRATRITS
BoHE_ZT-_—_F+_A=+—HLFE =
EeHEBITAANGE ARASESHBTIR
LHMBRSESRNTHESSSZRAE M
EZ0HEEZEEMASZERE @32 ER
FHEEE R N BEES S HBTM =08
HEEFEH UEEEES HEENBRE - H

MEEEERNSBLAEBA -

REHEFTEEHIN RELEMRRTRIEX
A27 EFRELBFRATESEENERT
EIFMITER(RREETER) BTeR(x
FERIBTESER]) - FR - ARAHET—
REFEIFPTESTSH

ERRERESHEER
EERFAMBITNESS FLEREQ - FM
ZEe REZREBELTIFEFATESTSHN
BRI

Chairman and

Audit Remuneration Nomination Non-executive
Board Committee Committee Committee Directors
Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Ed:
EREEE FHEES REZEE FHTES
A 6 83 83 83
Executive Directors HITES

Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung RLBLAE 5/5 N/ARNE A NATER NATER 1”1
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau RITIELE 5/5 NATER NATER NATER NATER

Independent non-executive ~ BIFHITES

Directors

Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson PRELE 5/5 313 7 17 I
Mr. LAU Yu Ching AIMIESE 5/5 313 1”7 17 I
Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson BERLEE 5/5 3/3 il 1N 17
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Relationship amongst Directors

Save for (i) Mr. Tony Cheung is the brother of Mr. Gary Cheung
and (ii) on 12 March 2018, Mr. Tony Cheung and Mr. Gary
Cheung entered into the concert party deed to acknowledge and
confirm, among other things, that they are parties acting in
concert; the Board members have no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with each other.

Independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a
specific term. Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association,
one-third of the Directors (including independent non-executive
Directors) are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at
the annual general meeting at least once every three years.

Independence of Independent non-executive Directors

In determining the independence of the independent non-
executive Directors, the Board follows the guidelines as set out in
the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company has received
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules from each of the independent non-executive
Directors and concluded that all independent non-executive
Directors are independent.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Each Director receives a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction package to ensure that he understands the business and
operations of the Group and is sufficiently aware of his
responsibility and obligation under the Listing Rules and relevant
regulatory requirements.

The Directors are kept informed on the developments of the
statutory and regulatory regime, and the changes in the business
markets so as to facilitate them to fulfil their responsibilities and
obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant statutory
requirements. Continuing briefings and professional development
for Directors will be arranged by the Company when considered
necessary.

TEERHRE

EEHEHEE

B RTBELERRITREENBA R ()R =F
—NE=ZA+=-8 RTBAERRITREER
T—BATBALTRE - UEARRER (AT 8E)
BER—BITHALI  EFEKE ZMALEH
% %% KESHEMER MEBRE -

BYFUITES
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BELEB=FrBRRBFASLHERINREE
BE—R -
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REEEUFAITESHB LR  EFSEK
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FEBYIEHER  TRRABBILIIFNTESS
RIBIATL o

ESHRERRRE

BEEHRE2E  EAREHTENOLB L -
RUERRRERD THRASENEEREE - )
R ETRAIREREERE THBEREE -
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MISMEE) - KM HBRERET LR R R
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BRERESLIMRE REXERLY -
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, according to the
records provided by the Directors, the individual training record of
each Director received for the year is summarised below:

Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Tung SRy A
Mr. CHEUNG Yuen Chau SR TR A
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson IR L
Mr. LAU Yu Ching R IE LA
Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson BIEREE

BE-_T-—_F+-A=+—HBILtFE BE=E
EREMNCE  SEERNFREINEREIR
SEMEE AN ¢

Attending training
courses/seminars/
reading materials
relevant to the
director’s duties
HEREEERE
BEAMIZIIRE
g BEM R

NSNS S S

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”), a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and a nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) in June 2018 (collectively, the “Board
Committees”). The term of reference of the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee are
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
Members of the Board Committees are provided with sufficient
resources to fulfil their duties and, upon reasonable request, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Audit Committee
The current members of the Audit Committee are:

Mr. LAU Yu Ching (Chairman)
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson
Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson

All members of the Audit Committee are independent non-
executive Directors who possess sufficient accounting and financial
management expertise and relevant experience to fulfil their
duties.
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The Audit Committee serves as a focal point of communication
between the Directors, the external auditors and the internal
auditors with regards to their duties relating to financial and other
reporting, internal controls, external and internal audits and
assisting the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities by providing
independent review and supervision of financial reporting, by
satisfying itself as to the effectiveness of the internal controls of
the Group, and as to the adequacy of the external and internal
audits.

During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held, inter
alia, to review the 2021 annual results, the 2022 interim results
and change of auditor of the Group. The attendance records are
set out under the section headed “Number of meetings and
Directors’ attendance” in this report.

Remuneration Committee
The current members of the Remuneration Committee are:

Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson (Chairman)
Mr. LAU Yu Ching
Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson

All members of the Remuneration Committee are independent
non-executive Directors.

The Remuneration Committee is mainly responsible for reviewing
and making recommendations to the Board in relation to the
remuneration packages and benefits of the Directors and the
senior management of the Company to ensure the relevant
individuals are fairly rewarded in light of their contribution to the
Company with reference to their performance, and that they
receive suitable incentives to maintain high standards of
performance and to improve the Group’s and their own
performance. In connection with the review of the remuneration
package, no Director shall be involved in deciding his own
remuneration.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, one Remuneration
Committee meeting was held, inter alias, to review the Company’s
remuneration policies, remuneration structure and remuneration
packages of the Directors and senior management of the
Company. The attendance records are set out under the section
headed “Number of meetings and Directors’ attendance” in this
report.
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Remuneration paid to senior management
Remuneration paid to senior management of the Company for

ENFEREEAS WM
iEm == == B = ar—g IEEE » 2N

the year ended 31 December 2022 by band are as follows: AATBRREBABNGFMEENT
Number of staff
BI#AE
HK$nil-HK$ 1,000,000 T ITE 1,000,000 78 7T 3
Nomination Committee REZES®
The current members of the Nomination Committee are: REEZECHAKERE
Mr. LAW Chung Lam, Nelson (Chairman) EERLE(FE)
Mr. PANG Kam Fai, Dickson TiRELA
Mr. LAU Yu Ching IR IEL A
All members of the Nomination Committee are independent non- 12EZEE@MEEKEH AB I IEHNITES
executive Directors.
The Nomination Committee is mainly responsible for, amongst EZZEZE@XZaH (AP eE)(\)EEHTES

other things, (i) reviewing the Board'’s diversity policy and the
measurable objectives set by the Board for implementing the
Board'’s diversity policy annually, and making recommendations to
the Board on any proposed changes to the Board according to the
Company’s corporate strategy; (ii) making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment and re-appointment of Directors
and succession planning for Directors; (iii) identifying individuals
suitable to be qualified as Board members; (iv) assessing the
independence of independent non-executive Directors annually;
and (v) deciding whether or not a Director is able to and has
adequately carried out his duties as a Director.

The Board has adopted a Board diversity policy setting out the
approach to the diversification of Board members since 2018. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of
Board members. It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the requirement of the Company’s business. All
Board appointment will continue to be made on a merit basis with
due regards for the benefits of diversity of the Board members.
Selection of candidates will be based on a range of perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, experience (professional or otherwise), skills and
knowledge. The ultimate decision will be made upon the merits
and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.
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As of the date of this annual report, the Company had a total of 5
Directors. The Directors have a balanced mix of experiences,
including overall management and strategic development, quality
assurance and control, business and risk management, and
finance and accounting experiences in addition to corporate legal
affair experiences.

The Company currently does not have female Director. To achieve
the aim of gender diversity of the Board, the Company will
endeavor to recommend at least one female Director for approval
by the Shareholders by the mid of 2024. The Nomination
Committee will be responsible for identifying suitable female
candidates and providing their recommendations to the Board on
at least an annual basis. Subject to (i) the Board being satisfied
with the background, qualification and experience of the relevant
candidate(s) and their potential contributions to the development
of the Group, (ii) the Directors fulfilling their fiduciary duties to act
in the best interest of our Company and the Shareholders as a
whole when making the relevant recommendation(s), and (iii) the
Company’s prevailing nomination policy, the Board will
recommend the female candidate to the Shareholders for
appointment as a member of the Board. However, during the
Year, the Nomination Committee had not identified a right
candidate according to the Company’s nomination policy.

As at December 31, 2022, as set out in the section headed
“Aspect B1: Employment” in the environmental, social and
governance report (“ESG Report”) as contained in this annual
report, among the 71 employees (including senior management)
of the Group, the percentages of male employees and female
employees are 87% and 13%, respectively. As the Group is
conducting air-conditioning E&M engineering services industry
which involve majority of male in site workforce, the Board
considers that the Group's workforce (including senior
management) are diverse in terms of gender.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, one Nomination
Committee meeting was held, inter alias, to review the structure,
size, composition and diversity of the Board and to consider,
nominate and recommend the appointment and re-appointment
of Directors.
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Corporate Governance Functions

The Board has carried out its duties and responsibilities as set out
in the CG Code including (i) the development of policies and
practices on corporate governance; (ii) monitoring the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management of the Company; (iii) reviewing and monitoring the
Company'’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the code of conduct applicable to the
employees of the Company and the Directors; and (iv) reviewing
compliance of the Company with the CG Code and the disclosure
in this report.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility in preparing the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and that of the results and cash
flows in the relevant financial year. In preparing the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022, the Directors
have selected appropriate accounting policies, applied them
consistently in accordance with appropriate Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards and the
related interpretations, and made adjustments and estimates are
prudent and reasonable.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and
necessary steps to safeguard the assets of the Group and to
prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities. The Directors,
having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to
adopt the going concern basis in preparing the consolidated
financial statements.

The responsibilities of the external auditors to the Shareholders
are set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report”
on pages 91 to 98 of this annual report.

Auditors’ Remuneration

During the year, the Company’s auditor, D & PARTNERS CPA
LIMITED, provided to the Company its audit services in relation to
the audit of annual financial statements. The audit fee paid/
payable to D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED in respect of the audit
services provided was approximately HK$700,000. There was no
non-audit service provided by D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED during
the year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Lo Wan Man has been appointed as the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) since 9 April 2019.

The Company Secretary whose appointment was approved by the
Board, is responsible in supporting the Board for ensuring good
information flow within the Board and that the Board policy and
procedures are followed. The Company Secretary reports to the
Chairman on governance matters and has day-to-day knowledge
of the Group’s affairs.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company
Secretary had duly complied with the relevant training requirement
under Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The Group recognises Shareholder’s rights in exercising control
proportionate to their equity ownership. As one of the measures
to safeguard Shareholders’ interest and rights, separate resolutions
are proposed at the Shareholder’s meetings on each substantial
issue, including the election of Director(s), for Shareholder’s
consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at
Shareholders’ meeting will be voted by way of poll, which is
conducted and scrutinised by the Company’s share registrar. Poll
results are announced and posted on the website of both the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

Shareholders to convene an extraordinary general meeting
Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written request to
the Board or the secretary of the Company, to require an
extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specify in such request; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the submission of
such request. If within twenty-one days of such submission the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, Shareholder(s)
may do so in the same manner.
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Procedures for directing Shareholders’ enquiries to the
Board

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the Board in
writing to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong
Kong or by email for the attention of the secretary of the
Company.

Procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for
election as a Director

Pursuant to Article 85 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, no person other than a Director retiring at the meeting
shall, unless recommended by the Directors for election, be
eligible for election as a Director at any general meeting unless a
written notice signed by a Shareholder (other than the person to
be proposed) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting for
which such notice is given of his intention to propose such person
for election and also a written notice signed by the person to be
proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged
at the head office of the Company or at the share registrar of the
Company provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such written notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven days
and that (if the written notices are submitted after the despatch of
the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election) the
period for lodgment of such written notice(s) shall commence on
the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting
appointed for such election and end no later than seven days prior
to the date of such general meeting. Accordingly, if a Shareholder
duly qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting of the
Company wishes to propose a person for election as a Director at
the general meeting, he/she can deposit a signed written notice of
the intention to propose a person for election as a Director and a
signed written notice by that person of his/her willingness to be
elected together with his/her particulars (such as qualification and
experience) and information as required to be disclosed under
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules at the head office of the
Company at Room 1908, 19th Floor, Cheung Fung Industrial
Building, Nos. 23-39 Pak Tin Par Street, Tsuen Wan, New
Territories, Hong Kong or at the share registrar of the Company,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong. The period for lodgment of the
notices required will commence no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting, and the minimum length of the period during
which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least
seven days.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The up-to-date consolidated version of the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company (in both English and
Chinese) is available on both the websites of the Company and
the Stock Exchange. There is no change in the Company’s
constitutional documents during the year ended 31 December
2022.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY AND
WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Group has established (i) policy and measures that promote
and support anti-corruption laws and regulations; and (ii)
whistleblowing policy and measures for employees, suppliers and
business partners to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity,
with the Audit Committee about possible improprieties in any
matter related to the Group. For further details of the Group's
anti-corruption and whistleblowing policy and/or measures, please
refer to the section headed “Aspect B7: Anti-corruption” of the
ESG Report contained in this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

The Board has an overall responsibility for maintaining a sound
and effective system of risk management and internal control and
for reviewing its effectiveness, particularly in respect of the
controls of financial, operational, compliance and risk
management, to safeguard Shareholders’ investment and the
Group's assets. The Board should ensure that review of the
effectiveness of the Group'’s risk management and internal control
systems has been conducted at least annually.

The Group maintains its internal audit function with the assistance
of the Audit Committee and the management of the Company.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has
conducted a review on the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control system of the Group with the
assistance of the Audit Committee and the management of the
Company. The Board is satisfied that, based on the information
provided and on its own observation, the present risk
management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate for the nature and size of the Group’s operations and
business.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has established a Shareholders’ communication policy
to ensure that Shareholders and potential investors are provided
with ready, equal and timely access to material information of the
Company in order to maintain an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and to enable the Shareholders to exercise their
rights in an informed manner.

The Company communicates information to the Shareholders
through different channels, including, among others, its periodical
financial announcements and reports, annual general meetings
and other general meetings (if any), all the disclosures submitted
to the Stock Exchange and its corporate communications and
other publications on the Company’s website.

The mechanisms utilised by the Company for communication of
information with the Shareholders include (i) communication
through the Shareholders’ enquiries; (ii) posting of relevant
information on the Company’s website; and (i) communication at
the Shareholders’ meetings. Shareholders may also at any time
make a request for the Company’s publicly available information
through the Company’s email address (info@manshungroup.com.
hk) and enquiry hotlines (852-2633 6866) on the Company’s
website.

Overall, the Company considers the shareholders’ communication
policy of the Group to be effective and adequate. The Company
will continue to review the implementation and effectiveness of
the shareholders’ communication policy by shareholders’ feedback
from the above channel.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

D & PARTNERS

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Man
Shun Group (Holdings) Limited (“the Company”) and its
subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out on pages 99 to 176, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 December 2022 and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”) together with any ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in the Cayman Islands, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.
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B R BENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

Contract accounting estimates
Refer to accounting policies 2(h) and 2(q) and Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

The Group recorded revenue from the provision of air-
conditioning installation services in Hong Kong totaling
HK$125,087,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.
HE_ZT__F+_A=+—HIFE  EEEREBRENK
BRHZEARE R KAS K75 125,087,000 7T °

Contract revenue is recognised progressively over time using the
cost-to-cost method based on the contract costs to date as a
percentage of total forecast costs. Contract costs are recognised
when work is performed, together with any provisions for
expected contract losses.
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMNETNNEERBESEE

Our audit procedures to assess contract accounting
estimates included the following:

BB R OB AHETHEZERRE

o assessing the design, implementation and
operating effectiveness of key internal
controls over the contract revenue
recognition processes;

o FHEEAAOWARRRIZHRR AT EER
Bt B SEERRR ;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Contract accounting estimates (Continued)

Refer to accounting policies 2(h) and 2(q) and Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
AREBE

The recognition of revenue and profit therefore relies on
management’s estimate of the final outcome of each contract,
which involves the exercise of significant management judgement,
particularly in forecasting the costs to complete a contract, in
valuing contract variations, claims and liquidated and ascertained
damages, in estimating the amount of expected losses and in
assessing the ability of the Group to deliver services according to
the agreed timetable.

At - BRWATRFNEKBEREE G SEANNRRE
ERSRIEEERERAE  HRIREASOTHKAE  HE
WEY RERETEEELGE  HEHAERESE UK
i EEEREHEREARERRBENEES -

We identified contract accounting estimates as a key audit matter
because the estimation of the total contract revenue and total
costs to complete contracts is inherently subjective and requires
significant management judgement and estimation and because
errors in forecast of contract revenue and contract costs could
result in a material variance in the amount of profit or loss
recognised from contracts to date and, therefore, in current
period.

BB aNgtmAEERBREXEE  RERMGLHEAHN
WAREGHTHRBRAREEAEEFEN  BEAZELHERNE
g A R - LR ARERTEAE A A RE LI A §2
BEBESALENERENBRAAREGOBERNERZSBELER
BERER

R Y T

FAREEXEE %)

SHEHE (8)

ERR A B S E S 2(h) R 2(q) K R K
B4(48)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMNEFNAEEEREE

o discussing with management the performance
of contracts in progress during the year, on a
sample basis, and assessing the key estimates
and assumptions adopted in the forecasts for
contract revenue and contract costs, including
estimated costs to completion, the recognition
of variation orders and the adequacy of
contingency provisions, and the assessment of
potential liquidated and ascertained damages
for contracts, by obtaining and evaluating
relevant information in connection with the
assumptions adopted, including contract
agreements and subcontracts, correspondence
with customers regarding contract variations
and claims and by considering historical
outcomes for similar contracts;

e FERISERIHEMKABRIBEBENER
(BReEABEEDBEN EFEBEH

B SE R R ATAREH] - AT A EE R
EBwmERETHTENNETER  LHE
BIE HIWA K & KRS ER A ) B B 5T I
IR AL - BREMATRKE - BRE
B ARBENTRERESNEER
TERRERORTS -

o obtaining a detailed breakdown of the total
estimated costs to completion for all contracts
in progress during the year and comparing, on
a sample basis, actual costs incurred and
future cost estimates with agreements,
certifications or correspondence with
subcontractors and suppliers and other
documentation referred to by management in
its assessment of the estimated costs to
completion;

o  HBFRNMRAEITHE NN TR KA
SRR - WA A E A ERRBOR
RARRERMGG  BYBE R EEEN
% RBFLEA - BREBENEMEET TTRK
AN HR A ) ELAD SO VR L3R
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B R BENRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Contract accounting estimates (Continued)

Refer to accounting policies 2(h) and 2(q) and Note 4 to the
consolidated financial statements (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BRESBE

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 29
March 2022.

94 Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & IE5 & (3% ) AR A

HEREEXEE )

SHEHE (8)

ERR A B S E S 2(h) R 2(q) K R K
B4(48)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMNETNMEEEREE

. comparing the contract revenue recognised
for contracts in progress during the year, on a
sample basis, with reference to the
certifications received for the customer,
discussing with management for any
significant difference;

o  DMERARXBERENETHRENBERNESL
WABEREFEWROREZELER - WHEER
BrmEMERER

o performing a retrospective review of contracts
completed during the current year by
comparing the final outcome of the contracts
with previous budgets made for those
contracts to assess the reliability of the
management'’s forecasting process; and

o BERANNRKRERANERZZEHNE
HETEEELE - BAFETRNEHETT
Bl R - U A EEERARENA 5
%Rk

. inspecting a sample of contract agreements
with customers and subcontractors to identify
key terms and conditions, including the
contract period, the contract sum, the scope
of work, and evaluating whether these key
terms and conditions had been appropriately
reflected in the total estimated revenue and
costs to complete in the forecast of the
outcome of the contracts.

s RMEBEEFPRDBEIIVANANBEER -
BRI R GER GG (BREEOH 580
TR TIFEE) - UIEZSABERK
GREREEE RN OERTN G
WA R TER B

Htt =18

AEEHE T Ft-AZ T ALFED
RAMBREES - ARBAERL KR -F
“oFZA-HABRRERRERBRBER -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there
is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND
THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

R Y T

HiE#

ARREEAHHEMENEER - HUERNBREF
AN MER  ETERGAMBRRLR
PR BB RS

BPHGREMBREANELL TREEMER -
BT EZEEMERBRETATLANERS

N
afg ©

RRMEEEPBHRENBRM S - RANEE
REEEMER  XHEMBES  ZEEMBEFR
EREGEVBERRIBRMNBZBETATE
MNBERFEEATEREUFFEEAHRRL
BB

HERERTHTHE  RARREMERNFEE
REERERL - RIPIAERELEEE - 3t
5 RMEEAEREMSIE -

EERAEERARS M BRRARE
MEE

EXERERBEBSHMASEMOE LT KR
SRR FERRGINEEREREEEMF
BERHFEAMBHRE  YHERLMESRE KR
REORENFERRMFFRERMERHE A
RGP R A REIE A E -

RREFEEMBRRE  EFAKTE E5H
FEREMEE ) TEERABRTRERSEL
SHEHNEER URERFELLEREEE
BRHEFTEER BEEEBRMFLEE 5
BEHAMBRNERTSR

)

BERBZMBHRERRE -

REEREEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B R BENRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

%E&Eﬁﬁ%&ﬁéﬁﬁ%ﬁ&iﬁﬁ%ﬂ’ﬂﬁ

B EHGEAMBEHRRBEEBES M FEANK
FFEEE R ME MM B ARG A EEE
WRERFIRBOAE SRR ERBREREEHA
BREBEMEROZBREDRSE - RIS R
BESTAIREEMAE - RPAS TR ARER
NE > HEMEMATEESAREREE -6
BEFEDSKFNERE  BIERERREER
FIEAETHES  BERBRAFENE —EX
SERR PR o $5 AR PR AJ LA F BRAF Sk B8 AR Sl A2 - fin
EEBHERRLEFAARAAEE BRSNS
WAL ME KRR A MIERRATEH EERTE -
A7 RS SRR AT AR E K o

RIRBEEBETEAETEZNBIET - BN
EREZTELERAE R EREREE
BT

o BRINFHEBRNKEFRERM BB EWT
BREFEEAHERBRAOER - RETMAT
BEREFARHZERR  YRERTEE
MEZRE  (FRIFIERAER - BN
RERIBES R EBR - BE  ERER  ERR
- FEBRAREZE £ i ReEEER
RAFF M S E A SRR M R =7 R BE
IR FR AR M B R E A R B A R -

o  EMERZEMNAEE  URFANAER
BRATEENEZERF BEENYEY &
SENAMEIENBERER -

o HEEFHMEASHERNREERFEHE
AHERTMMER R ER A IR -
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the those charged with governance with a
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence and communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence and, where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

R Y T

%E&Eﬁﬁ%&%éﬂﬁ%#&%ﬁ%ﬂ@ﬁ
(%)

o HERRABELESTEENRELIEL
i WRIBFMEUSHBRIZERE - BERA
EEHY BEEEFELERIBREAR
BOEHRBERLEREFEERTHEEN -
R MIRRFEEARNTHEEMN @ BIZRNZH
B3RS IRAE A E T AR A M BRR T A
AW HHBREESE  ARMAEEE
FIFERBER - HWMNGERIENBER
AN RS B EAAES A EORE - AT - K
REMHLBERAEEY BERETEFEL

%o

o  HERAMBHmRNBEEIITA - BEM
NE - BREEE ANMGEMBREEZE N
DNETAZINERER S R FEHF

o 3 BEEERNERIEBKLDHNUEERE
RRAREENEREE  WEHKES KR
RERBR -BMEE BEXREERNS
M~ BEERIIT BZASERERAEEH
Bif-

FREMEEI - AR EMET EINBZEE
BREZHEMNEAEZERSETRR  BERM
PR AZ R 38R B 7 D B AR A ) B KRG ©

BFITFAEERR B  HARMCTAER
BUMMABERE R YAREEMERER
RERRRETERMBIMNMARENEME
R LR (@A) RBREE FTERER T8 & &
R P gtE it
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B R BENRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Lau, Ming Tak Simeon.

D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Lau, Ming Tak Simeon

Practising Certificate Number: P07579

Hong Kong, 30 March 2023

%%ﬁlﬁﬁﬁ%&ﬁéﬁﬂ%iﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂ@ﬁ
(%)

EURIR BB RIAD - BT HER AR
BUBHRARAEENEE  AMBKREREXZ
T AR ZBENRE R HAZFTFR - RIF
FRIERIAFARBRBEZSTER - REER
FZRMBAT  MEBRHARBMNBRERES
REFERNEERRBBEEN AR & - 8
BIVRETERREPBBEZEE -

HEARBT ZBENRENEZRBABARIS

/
= o

EEEHMEXAMERARE
BEDEED

2=

WMEBEZHRI  PO7579
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GERmRkEMZERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &2 =2 ==F+= A =+—HIEFE (LBILIIR)

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

Note $000 $'000

B 5E T T

Revenue WA 4 125,087 121,672

Cost of services R 7 A A (106,381) (100,709)

Gross profit EF 18,706 20,963

Other income H Al A 5 6,297 1,997

Administrative expenses THEX (24,691) (25,102)

Finance costs B RS R AN 6(a) (60) (83)

Profit/(Loss) before taxation BB ADER,(EE) 6 252 (2,225)

Income tax expense Frigfif s 7(a) (14) =

Profit/(Loss) and total comprehensive FRX%EF],(E1E) R2H

income/(expense) for the year W (k)&% 238 (2,225)
Earnings/(Loss) per share (HK cents) SREF~(EE) GEL) 11

— Basic — HEK 0.02 (0.22)

— Diluted — BE 0.02 (0.22)

The notes on pages 104 to 176 form part of these consolidated 55 104 % 176 E MM sH AR NI S 3Rkk — 205 -
financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBRRR

As at 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R = = =F+= A =+—H (LB T3IR)

2022 2021
=ll=—ts —E-—1F
Note $'000 $'000
BT T Tz
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment e =Y ] 12(a) 2,419 2,779
Current assets RBEE
Inventories R 14 3,108 2,863
Trade and other receivables B 5 Rk H MR FRIE 15 68,161 60,743
Contract assets BHEE 16(a) 22,254 15,058
Pledged bank deposits EHEPRITIFK 17(e) 3,848 4,226
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFHERE 17(a) 64,581 85,826
161,952 168,716
Current liabilities REBAE
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMERNFIE 18 11,191 18,578
Contract liabilities AHaE 16(b) 728 =
Lease liabilities HEBE 19 1,049 1,443
oo 1298 20,021
Netcurrentassets =~~~ #"&8EE¥E 148984 148,695
Total assets less current liabilities EEHAERABERSE 151,403 151,474
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ma BRI R

As at 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R=ZE = =F+= A =+—H (LB TsIR)

2022 2021
—E-= B
Note $000 $'000
B 5E T Tt
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Lease liabilities HeEaE 19 241 564
Deferred tax liabilities BEFRIEE & 20(a) 14 =
... 25 564
Net assets EERE 151,148 150,910
Capital and reserves EAR B 22
Share capital i@ 10,000 10,000
Reserves B 141,148 140,910
Total equity EREEE 151,148 150,910

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

30 March 2023.

Cheung Yuen Tung

The notes on pages 104 to 176 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.

BEEenN _T_=F=A=1+BHUERKEERZ -

Cheung Yuen Chau
wRITHK
Director

EE

F104E176 AR AR A MK —D -
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

mEERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 82 —Z = —F+ - A =+—H Lt F[E UAETTIIR)
Share Merger Share  Retained Total
capital reserve  premium earnings equity
BAE SHfFEE ROSE KRERBN EZEE
(Note (Note
22(c)(ii) 22(c)(i)
(B3E (s
22(c)(ii)) 22(c)(i))
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tt T Fx T T
At 1 January 2021 R—B-_—-%—H—H 10,000 2,010 107,850 33,275 153,135
Changes in equity for 2021: —Z = —FREZEH .
Loss and total comprehensive FREE N 2 H
expense for the year B 4% = = = (2,225) (2,225)
At 31 December 2021 and R=-TB=—f
1 January 2022 TZA=+t—HEK
—E-=f—H—H 10,000 2,010 107,850 31,050 150,910
Changes in equity for 2022: —ZE - —FRZEH .
Profit and total comprehensive £ 9% H| & 2
income for the year W iazE - - - 238 238
At 31 December 2022 R-EBE-—F
+=A=+—H 10,000 2,010 107,850 31,288 151,148

The notes on pages 104 to 176 form part of these consolidated

financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
RERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #iZ2 = ZE = —4F+ = A=+—HILFE (UBTIIR)

2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—1F
Note $'000 $'000
k=3 Fr F7T
Operating activities RETE
Cash used in operations KEHEBFRARE 17(b) (19,740) (4,985)
Net cash used in operating activities RZ&ZEBHFFARLFHE (197400 (4,985)
Investing activities REZH
Payment for purchase of property, BEYF  HER
plant and equipment BB (554) (88)
Proceeds from sale of property, LEYE  BRERED
plant and equipment FriSskIE = 12
Release of pledged bank deposits BEBR B MIRITIER 378 =
Interest received BFE 573 119
Decrease in time deposits with original JREIHA B 8 E = I A /Y
maturity over three months E BATZ TR 35,000 20,000
Net cash generated from investing REZBHEREER
activities 35397 20,043
Financing activities REEE
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEEEENERLD 17(c) (1.842) (1,787)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENHEREMF B 17(c (60) (83)
Cash used in financing activities ~ ®&EZF®BFARE 00000000 (1902 (1.870)
Net increase in cash and ReRBESESEYEMFEHE
cash equivalents 13,755 13,188
Cash and cash equivalents FNEERESEEY
at the beginning of the year 50,826 37,638
Cash and cash equivalents FREERESEEY
at the end of the year 17(a) 64,581 50,826

The notes on pages 104 to 176 form part of these consolidated 55104 % 176 B &Mt s T A AR B I — 265 -
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

104

GENERAL INFORMATION

Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the provision of installation of heat,
ventilation and air-conditioning system (the “HVAC
Business”) in Hong Kong. The Company was incorporated in
the Cayman Islands on 11 April 2017 as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law,
Cap. 22 (Law of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares were listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) on 11 July 2018 (the “Listing”).

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance
These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") which
collective term includes all applicable individual Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA™), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange. Significant accounting policies
adopted by the Group are set out below.

The HKICPA has issued certain amendments to HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption
for the current accounting period of the Group. Note
2(c) provides information on any changes in
accounting policies resulting from initial application of
these developments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior
accounting periods reflected in these consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, rounded to the nearest
thousand. The measurement basis used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements is
the historical cost basis.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the application of policies and reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and various other factors that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the
judgements about carrying values of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that
period, or in the period of the revision and future
periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgements made by management in the application
of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements and major sources
of estimation uncertainty are discussed in Note 3.

e ISR R M EE

AR TTIIR)

2 EBEAEFBEEGE)

(b)

Annual Report 2022 / =& = —FF 3R

MBRREREE
RIFEMBERRIABITES - LHE
EREAOTMN - BRREEE T H
RHFTEREERELRAEE o

RAETABEMBHRELANGER
BHREABREEBFHFEBRRER
AREBE - - BfE WARFAXZHE
BEVHIE - Bt RRR - Bt B
BROREBEBEERIERRBBRT
BRABEENZTBREMAREL -
HAE R AE R OR B 1 H 1t SR T E HY
BERBENREEFDHIEEE
ERGERAEEZEF[TENR -

et R RR A TERE - HIEET
REBZETH  gsthstEaTn
HEHEETHNER : MR &
RHA R AR ERRE - RIRMEET B R
HRFEIRERR o

BB B B T 1R 4 B 4
R A B R R R A R R A
SEEP AT E PR A LoD
H 3t -

105



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(c) Changes in accounting policies
The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA to these consolidated
financial statements for the current accounting period:

— Amendments to HKFRS 3, Reference to the

Conceptual Framework

—  Amendments to HKFRS 16, Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021

— Amendments to HKAS 16, Property, Plant and
Equipment — Proceeds before Intended Use

—  Amendments to HKAS 37, Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

—  Amendments to HKFRSs, Annual Improvements

to HKFRSs 2018-2020

None of the developments have had a material effect
on how the Group’s result and financial position for
the current or prior periods have been prepared or
presented. The Group has not applied any new
standard or interpretation that is not yet effective for
the current accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 2B #5BA4h -

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the Group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is included in these
consolidated financial statements from the date that
control commences until the date that control ceases.
Intra-group balances, transactions and cash flows and
any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses
resulting from intra-group transactions are eliminated
in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the
extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions, whereby adjustments are made to
the amounts of controlling and non-controlling
interests within consolidated equity to reflect the
change in relative interests, but no adjustments are
made to goodwill and no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is
accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest in
that subsidiary, with a resulting gain or loss being
recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained in
that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is recognised at fair value and this amount is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition of a financial
asset.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment losses (see Note 2(g)(ii)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

2
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see
Note 2(g)(ii)).

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal
of an item of property, plant and equipment are
determined as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item and are
recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items

of property, plant and equipment, less their estimated

residual value, if any, using the straight line method

over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— Leasehold improvements Shorter of 5 years

or unexpired terms
of lease

— Properties leased for own use Over the lease terms
— Furniture and fixtures

5 years

— Computer and office Shorter of 5 years

equipment or over the lease
terms
— Motor vehicles 4 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost or
valuation of the item is allocated on a reasonable basis
between the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Both the useful life of an asset and its
residual value, if any, are reviewed annually.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 2B #5BA4h -

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

Leased assets

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration. Control is
conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain
substantially all of the economic benefits from that
use.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a
low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease
payments associated with those leases which are not
capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or rate are not included in the
measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(f)

Leased assets (Continued)

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is
capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability plus
any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-
use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any
lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see Notes 2(e)
and 2(g)(ii)).

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a change
in an index or rate, or there is a change in the Group'’s
estimate of the amount expected to be payable under
a residual value guarantee, or there is a change arising
from the reassessment of whether the Group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or
termination option. When the lease liability is
remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is
made to the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset,
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration for
a lease that is not originally provided for in the lease
contract (“lease modification”) that is not accounted
for as a separate lease. In this case the lease liability is
remeasured based on the revised lease payments and
lease term using a revised discount rate at the effective
date of the modification.

In the consolidated statement of financial position, the
current portion of long-term lease liabilities is
determined as the present value of contractual
payments that are due to be settled within twelve
months after the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets

The Group recognises a loss allowance for
expected credit losses (“ECLs"”) on the following
items:

— financial assets measured at amortised
cost (including cash and cash equivalents
and trade and other receivables); and

— contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see
Note 2(h)).

Financial assets measured at fair value are not
subject to the ECL assessment.

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the
present value of all expected cash shortfalls (i.e.
the difference between the cash flows due to
the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive).

The expected cash shortfalls of fixed-rate
financial assets such as trade and other
receivables and contract assets are discounted
using the effective interest rate determined at
initial recognition or an approximation thereof
where the effect of discounting is material.

The maximum period considered when
estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit
risk.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Measurement of ECLs (Continued)

In measuring ECLs, the Group takes into account
reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic
conditions.

ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases:

— 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from possible default
events within the 12 months after the
reporting date; and

— lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are
expected to result from all possible default
events over the expected lives of the items
to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade and other receivables
and contract assets are always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on these
financial assets are estimated based on the
probability of default with reference to available
market information, taking into account any
credit enhancement and, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors and an
assessment of both the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
recognises a loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of the financial instrument since
initial recognition, in which case the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of
default occurring on the financial instrument
assessed at the reporting date with that assessed
at the date of initial recognition. In making this
reassessment, the Group considers that a default
event occurs when (i) the borrower is unlikely to
pay its credit obligations to the Group in full,
without recourse by the Group to actions such
as realising security (if any is held); or (i) the
financial asset is 90 days past due. The Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

—  failure to make payments of principal or
interest on their contractually due dates;

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in a financial instrument’s
external or internal credit rating (if
available);

— an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor; and
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

2
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and

contract assets (Continued)

Significant increases in credit risk (Continued)

— existing or forecast changes in the
technological, market, economic or legal
environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to
meet its obligation to the Group.

Depending on the nature of the financial
instruments, the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk is performed on either an
individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis,
the financial instruments are grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to
reflect changes in the financial instrument’s
credit risk since initial recognition. Any change in
the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment
gain or loss in profit or loss. The Group
recognises an impairment gain or loss for all
financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a
loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with
Note 2(q)(ii) is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount
less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses
whether a financial asset is credit-impaired. A
financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset have occurred.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired
includes the following observable events:

— significant financial difficulties of the
debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

— it becoming probable that the borrower
will enter into bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation;

— significant changes in the technological,
market, economic or legal environment
that have an adverse effect on the debtor;
or

— the disappearance of an active market for
a security because of financial difficulties
of the issuer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

2
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)

0]

(ii)

Credit losses from financial instruments and
contract assets (Continued)

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or
contract asset is written off (either partially or in
full) to the extent that there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor
does not have assets or sources of income that
could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was
previously written off are recognised as a
reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are
reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
identify indications that property, plant and
equipment including right-of-use assets may be
impaired or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have
decreased.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the
greater of its fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to
the asset. Where an asset does not
generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable
amount is determined for the smallest
group of assets that generates cash
inflows independently (i.e. a cash-
generating unit). A portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if the
allocation can be done on a reasonable
and consistent basis, or to the smallest
group of cash-generating units if
otherwise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(g) Credit losses and impairment of assets (Continued)
(i) Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit
or loss if the carrying amount of an asset,
or the cash-generating unit to which it
belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of
cash-generating units are allocated to
reduce the carrying amount of the assets
in the unit (or group of units) on a pro rata
basis, except that the carrying value of an
asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable) or value in use (if
determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

An impairment loss is reversed if there has
been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable
amount. A reversal of an impairment loss
is limited to the asset’s carrying amount
that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior
years. Reversals of impairment losses are
credited to profit or loss in the year in
which the reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(h)

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue (see Note 2(q)) before being
unconditionally entitled to the consideration under the
payment terms set out in the contract. Contract assets
are assessed for ECLs in accordance with the policy set
out in Note 2(g)(i) and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become
unconditional (see Note 2(j)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue (see Note 2(q)). A contract liability
would also be recognised if the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised
(see Note 2())).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented on a
net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method (see Note

2(a)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

2

120

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

0}

()

Inventories

Inventories are assets which are held for sale in the
ordinary course of business, in the process of
production for such sale or in the form of materials or
supplies to be consumed in the production process or
in the rendering of services. Inventories are carried at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
calculated using the first in first out method and
comprises all costs of purchase and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present
location and condition.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of
those inventories is recognised as an expense in the
period in which the related revenue is recognised.

The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are
recognised as an expense in the period the write-
down or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of
any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as
an expense in the period in which the reversal occurs.

Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due. If revenue has been recognised
before the Group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract
asset (see Note 2(h)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit
losses (see Note 2(g)(i)).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(k)

U]

(m)

(n)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
in hand, demand deposits with banks and other
financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been
within three months of maturity at acquisition. Bank
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management are also
included as a component of cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the consolidated cash flow
statement. Cash and cash equivalents are assessed for
ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in Note 2(g)

(i).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at
fair value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense is recognised in accordance with the
Group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs (see
Note 2(r)).

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently stated at amortised cost unless
the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in
which case they are stated at invoice amounts.

Employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave,
contributions to defined contribution retirement plans
and the cost of non-monetary benefits are accrued in
the year in which the associated services are rendered
by employees. Where payment or settlement is
deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

2

122

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o)

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and
movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities.
Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and
liabilities are recognised in profit or loss except to the
extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which
case the relevant amounts of tax are recognised in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable
income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting
period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect
of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible
and taxable temporary differences respectively, being
the differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes
and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 2B #5BA4h -

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(o)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax
liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that
it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the asset can be utilised, are
recognised. Future taxable profits that may support
the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that
will arise from the reversal of existing taxable
temporary differences, provided those differences
relate to the same taxation authority and the same
taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in
the same period as the expected reversal of the
deductible temporary difference or in periods into
which a tax loss arising from the deferred tax asset
can be carried back or forward. The same criteria are
adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of
deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and
credits, that is, those differences are taken into
account if they relate to the same taxation authority
and the same taxable entity, and are expected to
reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or
credit can be utilised.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured
based on the expected manner of realisation or
settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enabled at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and is
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is
reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& % & 587 4N
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2

(CONTINUED)

(o) Income tax (Continued)
Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and
movements therein, are presented separately from
each other and are not offset. Current tax assets are
offset against current tax liabilities, and deferred tax
assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company
or the Group has the legally enforceable right to set
off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
the following additional conditions are met:

— in the case of current tax assets and liabilities,
the Company or the Group intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously; or

— in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities,
if they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority on either:

—  the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each
future period in which significant amounts
of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered, intend
to realise the current tax assets and settle
the current tax liabilities on a net basis or
realise and settle simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (B 2B #5BA4h -

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(p) Provisions, contingent liabilities and onerous
contracts
() Provisions and contingent liabilities

(ii)

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
legal or constructive obligation arising as a result
of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material,
provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required, or the
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability,
unless the probability of outflow of economic
benefits is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote.

Where some or all of the expenditure required
to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed
by another party, a separate asset is recognised
for any expected reimbursement that would be
virtually certain. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement is limited to the carrying amount
of the provision.

Onerous contracts

An onerous contract exists when the Group has
a contract under which the unavoidable costs of
meeting the obligations under the contract
exceed the economic benefits expected to be
received from the contract. Provisions for
onerous contracts are measured at the present
value of the lower of the expected cost of
terminating the contract and the net cost of
continuing with the contract.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured based on the consideration
specified in a contract with a customer. The Group
recognises revenue when it transfers control over a
product or service to a customer. “Control” refers to
the customer’s ability to direct the use of and obtain
substantially all of the remaining benefits from an

(a)

asset.

(i)

Contract revenue

Revenue of services transferred over time is
recognised progressively based on the contract
costs incurred to date as a percentage of total
forecast costs to depict the transfer of control of
the services to the customer. The Group
recognises revenue over time only if it can
reasonably measure its progress toward
complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation. However, if the Group cannot
reasonably measure the outcome but expects to
recover the costs incurred in satisfying the
performance obligation, then it recognises
revenue to the extent of the costs incurred.

Any unconditional rights to consideration are
presented separately as “Trade receivables”.

Input method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a
performance obligation is measured based on
input method, which is to recognise revenue on
the basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of a performance obligation relative
to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of
that performance obligation, that best depict
the Group’s performance in transferring control
of goods or services.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(q) Revenue recognition (Continued)

M

(ii)

Contract revenue (Continued)

Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration,
the Group estimates the amount of consideration
to which it will be entitled using either (a) the
expected value method or (b) the most likely
amount, which better predicts the amount of
consideration to which the Group will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the
extent that it is highly probable that such an
inclusion will not result in a significant revenue
reversal in the future when the uncertainty
associated with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate
of variable consideration is constrained) to
represent faithfully the circumstances present at
the end of the reporting period and the changes
in circumstances during the reporting period.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(a)

(r)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

(i) Government grants
Government grants are recognised in the
statement of financial position initially when
there is reasonable assurance that they will be
received and that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them. Grants that
compensate the Group for expenses incurred are
recognised as income in profit or loss on a
systematic basis in the same periods in which
the expenses are incurred. Grants that
compensate the Group for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the carrying amount of the
asset and consequently are effectively recognised
in profit or loss over the useful life of the asset
by way of reduced depreciation expense.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition, construction or production of an asset
which necessarily takes a substantial period of time to
get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as
part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs
are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the
cost of a qualifying asset commences when
expenditure for the asset is being incurred, borrowing
costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or
sale are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs
is suspended or ceases when substantially all the
activities necessary to prepare the qualifying asset for
its intended use or sale are interrupted or complete.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s) Related parties

)

A person, or a close member of that person’s
family, is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or

(i) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or the Group’s
parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of
the same group (which means that each
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is
related to the others).

(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or an associate or joint
venture of a member of a group of which
the other entity is a member).

(i) Both entities are joint ventures of the same
third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of either
the Group or an entity related to the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

2

130

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s)

®

Related parties (Continued)
(2)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions applies: (Continued)

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (s)(1).

(vii) A person identified in (s)(1)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or is a
member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of
the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of

which it is a part, provides key

management personnel services to the

Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with
the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each
segment item reported in these consolidated financial
statements, are identified from the financial
information provided regularly to the Group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance
of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not
aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the
segments have similar economic characteristics and
are similar in respect of the nature of products and
services, the nature of production processes, the type
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute
the products or provide the services, and the nature of
the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated
if they share a majority of these criteria.

Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & B2 E (32/%) B R A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumption concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of each
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described below.

(@)  Loss allowances on trade receivables and other

receivables and contract assets

For trade receivables and other receivables and
contract assets, the Group applies the simplified
approach to provide for ECL as prescribed by HKFRS 9,
which requires the use of the lifetime ECL allowance
for all trade receivables and other receivables and
contract assets. The loss allowance for financial assets
are based on assumptions about risk of default and
expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement in
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the loss allowance calculation, based on the Group’s
past history, existing market conditions as well as
forward looking estimates at the end of reporting
period. Management reassesses the loss allowance at
each reporting date.

2t HI T R A Et

fhEr TRERE
TXEREERRNEZBRENSHREN
RGBT RERAENEMERRREEX
R G AN RFRENEE R BB
EEFHERHE -

@ EBIZRAMEURFEREXNEEER
]
B REMEURERANEEM
5 AREREBMBHREERIE R
R ERAB T EFRAREES
BRE MEFTEERABESZRE
ft R UL FIR & & KB ERIK ATEHIE
ERERE - cREEZBERED
ERNBEENER 2BRMAHEE
Ko REBERIFL ZFREEERH
B WAREASEBELCS  BHEM
AERBEBROAE T - &2
AEEERENBAEN - BEEER
BMmEBEHFEEERRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

132

ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(®)

Revenue recognition

As explained in Note 2(qg), revenue and profit
recognition on a project is dependent on
management’s estimation of the progress of the
satisfaction of performance obligations of a
construction contract over time, measured by actual
contract costs incurred to date to estimate total
contract costs for the contract. Based on the Group’s
recent experience and the nature of the construction
activity undertaken by the Group, the Group reviews
and revises the estimates of contract revenue, contract
costs and variation order, prepared for each
construction contract as the contract progresses.
Budgeted construction costs are prepared by
management on the basis of quotations from time to
time provided by the major subcontractors, suppliers
and vendors involved and the experience of
management. In order to keep the budget accurate
and up-to-date, management conducts periodic
reviews of the budgeted construction costs and revises
the budgeted construction costs as appropriate.

Significant judgement is required in estimating the
contract revenue, contract costs and variation work
which may have an impact on percentage of
completion of the construction contracts and the
corresponding profit taken. In addition, actual
outcome in terms of total revenue or costs may be
higher or lower than estimation at the end of the
reporting period, which would affect the revenue and
profit recognised in future years as an adjustments to
the amounts recorded to date.

AR TTIIR)

3 ERtHE RS (&)

fhEt TRERE (&)
(b) AR
HANH FE2(0) T RE - THE WA K

Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & IE 5= & (1% ) B R A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

e ISR R M EE

AR TTIIR)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 WARSEER
Revenue represents the fair value of amounts received or WA AR E B T RS & 4B U sk FE R I ER
receivable from the service contracts by the Group to FPRIENATE AEEEEEREEHZ
external customers. The Group’s operation is solely derived T _FRZE—FTHA=+—HIF
from HVAC Business in Hong Kong during the years ended EE(‘E/%?“%HEL SHRER c BRSO R
31 December 2022 and 2021. For the purpose of resources KRBT EmMES BB 40 Al sh s S s A K £ (5]
allocation and performance assessment, the chief operating E“\J%Ek%;%;%ﬁ&ﬁﬁkﬂk/ﬂ Eit - AEEESR
decision maker reviews the overall results and financial — (A B — & D EL - 25 1 B8 —HEF
position of the Group as a whole. Accordingly, the Group R — BB LI E RIS AT -
has only one single operating segment and no further
discrete financial information nor analysis of this single
segment is presented.
(a) Disaggregation of revenue (a) WA#D
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with RIRABRSERRBRBENES TS
customers by timing of revenue recognition and type BHWARBAES T
of service are as follows:
Revenue from contracts with customers within the BB B EERE 15 R HE AR E
scope of HKFRS 15 FEHIMA
2022 2021
—E-= T4
$'000 $'000
Fr 7
Disaggregated by timing R T R R A
of revenue recognition
Products transferred at a point in time AR FREIZIEZ A E & 19,284 31,574
Services transferred over time B i 2% e RS 105,803 90,098
125,087 121,672
Disaggregated by type of service RIRTESE R4 D
Installation services only & RS 84,640 59,959
Installation services with HVAC systems 225 iR 74 38 8% 38 2= 7 R iR 05
procurements 40,447 61,713
125,087 121,672

Annual Report 2022 / —ZE - 444 133



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& BB 18835) » LABTTHIR)

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

134

(CONTINUED)
Transaction price allocated to the remaining (b) PEHEFGEBIEENRZE

(b)

performance obligations
The following tables include revenue expected to be TERIAEZR
recognised in the future related to performance
obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied)

4 WARZHER (&)

— = — —

=

Fh

——

=

Ft+-A=t—BARER(HFDORZE
FX) B & #) B AE T TR HI R A R SRR R A

as at 31 December 2022 and 2021. NG
2022 ol e $'000
ST
Remaining performance obligations expected FAHIREBZUT BEIEFER
to be satisfied during the year ending: ERNFSENERE:
31 December 2023 —E_=F+-/A=1+—H 96,851
31 December 2024 —E-NFE+=-/F=+—H 120,776
After 31 December 2024 —“ZE-MFE+—_A=+—H#% 133,487
351,114
2021 —E-—F $'000
T
Remaining performance obligations expected FEHSREBZUTHHILEFER
to be satisfied during the year ending: ERNFISGRENES:
31 December 2022 —E-—_F#+-B=+—H 156,186
31 December 2023 —E-=F+=-A=+—H 113,767
After 31 December 2023 —E-=F+-R=1+—H% 137,505
407,458

Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & IE 5= & (1% ) B R A 7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

4 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(0

(d)

Geographical information
The Company is an investment holding company and
the principal place of the Group’s operation is in Hong
Kong. For the purpose of segment information
disclosures under HKFRS 8, the Group regards Hong
Kong as its place of domicile.

No geographical information is presented as the
Group is principally engaged in HVAC business in
Hong Kong.

Information about major customers

The Group’s customer base includes one (2021: three)
customer with whom transactions has exceeded 10%
of the Group’s revenue. Revenue from customer
during the year ended 31 December 2022 contributing
over 10% of the total revenue of the Group is as
follows:

e ISR R M EE

AR TTIIR)

4 WARDHESR (&)

(o)

(d)

ARAB/REEBR AR MAKEE
RELEMHREL URBEBEEMB
HEERNEHRWMBEOMERME - K
SERBBRERMBIHE -

HERAKREEIEREENFRBER
15 MAEEFIHREF -

BBREEREFMNER
AEENBRPEBEE—R(ZT=_—
F:=ZZ)RPGBELAEEBRABE
10%NEF -HE-_T-_—_F+_-H4
Z+t—BLFE BAEEAKE
10% A LR FPKREIT ¢

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
$'000 $'000
Fr 7
Customer A BEA 81,270 46,104
Customer B (note) =P B(ME) 12,248 29,072
Customer C (note) EF C (M) 3,632 18,817
Note: Bt
The transactions did not exceed 10% of the Group's revenue during BE_F__F+_A=1—"ItFE ZFRP
the year ended 31 December 2022. RBBAREBPAZ10% °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

5

136

AR TTIIR)

OTHER INCOME 5 HflA
2022 2021
===k -1
$'000 $'000
Tx S
Bank interest income HRITH BN 654 153
Repair and other service income HE R E ARSI A 2,480 1,599
Gain on disposal of property, HEME  KaZ Kk
plant and equipment RAERUES = 12
Gain on early termination of lease IREZIEEE WS 2 -
Government grants — Employment BSH#HEhe — R
Support Scheme (Note) BECED) 3,008 116
Government grants — others EBhE — Hth - 103
Net reversal of expected credit loss B 5 REAEWGIE R
on trade and other receivables BREERBEE
and contract assets g E I 133 -
Sundry income TR 20 14
6,297 1,997
Note: BEE

In 2022, the Group successfully applied for funding support of $3,008,000
from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund, set up
by the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. The
purpose of the funding is to provide financial support to enterprises to retain
their employees who would otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms
of the grant, the Group is required not to make redundancies during the
subsidy period and to spend all the funding on paying wages to the
employees. In 2021, the Government granted $116,000 subsidies to the
Group.

Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & J[B£= B (3%0%) BFR A 7

R-TZ—F  AEERNAEBFRBTHEEE
ST ZRMEERFESIED 3,008,000 - ZESH
HRATERBMERYE  UMRBERSWHBNETL -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAXATION 6 BREANEF,(ER)
Profit/(Loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging/ M EDEN(ER) &Nk, (HKe) AT
(crediting): FIRBER
2022 2021
s T
$'000 $'000
T Tz
(a) Finance costs (a) A
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGENE 60 83

(b) Staff costs (including directors’ (b) EIRX(BREEMS)
emoluments)

Salaries, wages and other benefits Hie  TEREMER 31,180 31,440
Contributions to defined contribution TEREIGRAGTEIHR
retirement plan 1,105 1,013
32,285 32,453
() Otheritems (0 HiEAR
Depreciation e
— owned property, plant and —HERME - HeERERE
equipment 300 217
— right-of-use assets —(ERAEEE 1,741 1,632
2,041 1,849
Net reversal of expected credit loss B 5 Rk E A FEUGRIB LA
on trade and other receivables ABHBEEEREE
and contract assets R R B F 5 (133) -
Auditors’ remuneration % EREH N & 700 880
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (Fx 5 & 88850 » LA ITLEIR)
7 INCOME TAX EXPENSE 7 FiSHRAX
(a) Taxation in the consolidated statement of profit () HZEeEZRHEMEZEKERPHBE
or loss and other comprehensive income 15 :
represents:
2022 2021
—E_C —E-—F
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Deferred tax ELEBE
Origination of temporary differences Ty E=REMES 14 -
14 -
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% on the BEENFTIZWEF R 2 (H5T RN
estimated assessable profit for both years. S Z16.5% & -
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been HREE ST __FR_2FT=—F
made as the Company and its subsidiaries in Hong TZA=+—HEFERRARER
Kong have either sustained losses for tax purpose or ERENMBARSRBIANS EEEE
their unused tax losses were sufficient to cover their S H R B) AT I B 48 2 DA TR A B 5T
estimated assessable profits for the years ended 31 ERBURF - MW EREBEFERAIE
December 2022 and 2021. A -
(b) Reconciliation between income tax expense and (b) FIEHEXHERBEABREAENSS
accounting profit/(loss) at applicable tax rates: BR(BE) HERNT ¢
2022 2021
—EgE-= —E-—F
$'000 $'000
Fr FT
Profit/(Loss) before taxation 2350 ) (E18) 252 (2,225)
National tax on profit/(loss) before TRADEF, RN ZERIE
taxation 42 (518)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses A~ A] 15 B Sk B9 B 78 52 22 499 592
Tax effect of non-taxable income FEERTIMA NGB (623) 27)
Tax effect of utilisation of tax losses BR AR ERNHIBEE
previously not recognised S E (868) (147)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised — KFERFIEE BTS2 964 100
Income tax expense for the year FEAEHRAX 14 -

138
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS 8 EEME

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) RIBEB A aEHIE 383N &R AR (KE
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the EEHmBERDROIDE 2B EENESIHE
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of s

Directors) Regulation are as follows:

Salaries,
allowances
and Performance  Retirement
Directors benefits related scheme
fees in kind bonus contributions Total
i
EREA R REAE BT E
EEHE  UBYEA 4L hE @t
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
BizE Tr T T Tr Tr
2022 —E-CF
Chairman *E
Mr. Cheung Yuen Tung KT 4% (i) - 1,824 152 18 1,994
Executive director HITEE
Mr. Cheung Yuen Chau oLl iE4 () - 1,800 150 18 1,968
Independent BUHNTESE
non-executive Directors
Mr. Law Chung Lam EERIAE 150 - - - 150
Mr. Pang Kam Fai B E 150 - - - 150
Mr. Lau Yu Ching B IE At 150 - - - 150
450 3,624 302 36 4,412
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& BB 18835) » LABTTHIR)

8 DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED) 8 E=M< (&)

Salaries,
allowances
and  Performance Retirement
Directors benefits related scheme
fees in kind bonus  contributions Total
s
B =R RIKGHE
B2 HUEDFA TEAT 3 Bt
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Pirsx T Fr T T T
2021 —E--F
Chairman IE
Mr. Cheung Yuen Tung L& 4E (i) - 1,966 152 18 2,136
Executive director HITEE
Mr. Cheung Yuen Chau STl sE4 (i) - 1,800 150 18 1,968
Independent BUHNTEE
non-executive Directors
Mr. Law Chung Lam I 180 - - - 180
Mr. Pang Kam Fai L 180 - - = 180
Mr. Lau Yu Ching BRIEEE 180 - - - 180
540 3,766 302 36 4,644
Note: BT
(i) During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the (i) HE-_Z-_—_FR-_ZT-—F+-A=+—HI
emoluments of Mr. Cheung Yuen Tung and Mr. Cheung Yuen Chau FE RUBEERRTNEENMEEERA
were paid by the subsidiaries of the Company. Ft S A RIZ AT o
(i)  No director received any emoluments from the Group as an (i) FABEEERAEERBEAME  EAHE
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for MBEREEREMAREERIERTH - FA
loss of office during the year. No arrangement under a director waived BEERNELIRBEREEAFI L -

or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 9

EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two
(2021: two) are directors whose emoluments are disclosed
in Note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of

e AT A+

hE&RRFMALH MBE(ZT=_—F:
ME)REE  REZME XK ESHE -
H#fp=2 (T —F: =R) At zebe

the other three (2021: three) individuals are as follows: J/(ul N
2022 2021
=g ==4 —E—F
$'000 $'000
T Tt
Salaries and other benefits e hEMEF 2,372 2,206
Retirement benefit scheme contributions R {RAEFIET 2 2k 54 54
2,426 2,260
The emoluments of the three (2021 three) individuals with =R (B —F: =F)xagMALTHH
the highest emoluments are within the following band: FHAEA T &R P
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—fF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE N
Nil to $1,000,000 Z It 1,000,000 7T 3 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

10 DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: Nil).

11

142

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is
based on the profit attributable to ordinary equity
shareholders of the Company of $238,000 (2021: loss
of $2,225,000) and the weighted average of
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares (2021: 1,000,000,000
ordinary shares) in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

The amount of dilutive earnings/(loss) per share is the
same as basic earnings/(loss) per share for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 as there were no
dilutive potential ordinary shares in issue.

AR TTIIR)

10 RE
EEETEBHENBE T -+ A
—t+t—HLIFERERE(ZE_—F : &) -

BRER (BE)

1"
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(a)

(b)

BREXRER (EE)
BREAEF (BB DIERAARL
178 A% 1 2 AR 3R FE A Y2 51 238,000 7T (=
T~ —4F : [§5182,225,0007T) K FER
2 %17 1,000,000,000 % E@AZ (=&
— — 4% :1,000,000,000 A% & /@ A% ) ~
IneEFHEGETHE -

EREERA(FA)
BE_E-_—_FR-_FT-_—F+=A1
—+—HLEFE ARASETEER
B EWENCBETL AR ®F
REFERT(BE)NSEETGRAE
REF(EER)HR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
rE MR M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 Y% BBERRE
(a) Reconciliation of carrying amount: (a) EREEYHER:
Other
properties Furniture Computer
Leasehold |eased for and and office Motor
improvements own use equipment equipment vehicles Total
HitER EER
RENERE HENE GRRRE BAZRME RE @zt
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
r T Fr r Fr r
Cost: B
At 1 January 2021 —E--5-f-H 748 3,032 1 769 3,920 8,590
Additions NE - 698 - - 88 786
Disposals e = - - - (402) (402)
At 31 December 2021 ZE2--5+ZR=1-H
and 1 January 2022 k-Z--%-p-H 748 3,730 21 769 3,606 8974
Additions f\\E = 1,059 4 109 551 1,723
Early termination of lease RELIEE = (322) - (162) - (484)
At 31 December 2022 —E--%t-A=t-H 748 4467 125 716 4157 10,213

Accumulated depreciation: RiHE:

At 1 January 2021 R-E_-%#-f-H 708 1,219 1 39 2,302 4748
Charge for the year FRRE% 40 1,118 - 116 575 1,849
Disposals e = = - - (402) (402)
At 31 December 2021 I S

and 1 January 2022 k=2--F-f-H 748 2337 121 514 2475 6,195
Charge for the year ﬁﬂqﬁﬁi - 1374 1 107 559 2,041
Elimination of early BRRFLIIRE

termination of lease - (295) - (147) - (442)
At 31 December 2022 “Z--E+-f=1-H 748 3,416 12 474 3,034 7,79
Net hook value: HREFE -
At 31 December 2021 —E--F+-f=1-H - 1393 - 255 1,131 2,779
At 31 December 2022 ZB-CE+ZA=+-R - 1,051 3 242 1123 2419
At 31 December 2021, a motor vehicle of the Group RZZBEZ—F+ZA=+—H &%
with net book value amounting to $831,000 has been [ B8R M )% {8 £ 831,000 T K A E B 4%
pledged as securities for motor vehicles of $831,000 1R A AR B 5 = B8 15 /9 831,000 7T
acquired under hire purchase. No property, plant and MEHNER - BE_T__F+_H
equipment has been pledged as at 31 December =t—B BE®DE #RELRRED
2022. AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& BB 18835) » LABTTHIR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12 Y% - MEBERBRE(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Right-of-use assets (b) FREEE
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use FREEERMEBAEERNMENER
assets by class of underlying asset is as follows: HFESTWOT :
2022 2021
—E-—F —E-—F
Note $'000 $'000
B aE Fr T
Other properties leased Hihtg AHEEYME
for own use (i) 1,051 1,393
Motor vehicles e (ii) - 831
Computer and office equipment B IE R A =R (ii) 216 200
1,267 2,424
The analysis of expense items in relation to leases EERTERNEAEFTENRZIE
recognised in profit or loss is as follows: BT
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—fF
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Depreciation charge of right-of-use FREESELRBEEE
assets by class of underlying asset: BRINITESR -
Other properties leased for own use Hiha BHEME 1,374 1,118
Motor vehicles RE 289 433
Computer and office equipment EN - PSENR T 78 81
1,741 1,632
Gain on early termination of lease RELIEEE W (FIFES)
(Note 5) 2 -
Interest on lease liabilities (Note 6(a)) HEAEMNE (T 6@)) 60 83
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were

$1,168,000 (2021: $698,000). This amount included

the capitalised lease payments payable under lease of

office premises, warehouses and photocopies.

(b)

Details of total cash outflow for leases and the
maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in Notes
17(d) and 19, respectively.

(i)

(ii)

Other properties leased for own use

The Group has obtained the right to use other
properties as its office premises and warehouses
through tenancy agreements. The leases typically
run for an initial period of 1 to 3 years.

The lease does not include an option to renew
the lease for an additional period after the end
of the contract term.

Other leases

The Group leases motor vehicles and office
equipment under leases expiring from 2 to 3
years. Leases include an option to purchase the
leased motor vehicles and office equipment at
the end of the lease term at a price deemed to
be a bargain purchase option. None of the
leases includes variable lease payments. During
the year, the leased motor vehicles under hire
purchase was fully settled and transferred to
property, plant and equipment.

12 Y% - BBERRE (&)

(b) FREEEE)
FRNEAEEELINMNT,168,0007T
—ZF——4 :698,0007T) ° k& EEE
BERAE REMERFHETEN
ZERCHEMK »

HENReRHERAGREEAE
BB EI DA 2 BB M RE 17(d) %219

() HwEaHHEEYXE
AEEDRBHEHBESER
HMEEREN NS ERE
RIRER] - XA — R BB
E3F -

ZHETBRANHERREE
BEMEER -

(i) HHHE

AEBHEERON2E3FE
M ERRAERE  HER
REREREHEHEME - X
R A EEERNEREEREN
EREMMARE - IEHED
TEESAEZHEENR - FR - K
HEFAEEN WM 2 8ES
WEAYE - BRI
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

13 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

The following list contains only the particulars of subsidiaries
which principally affected the results, assets or liabilities of
the Group. The class of shares held is ordinary unless

otherwise stated.

Name of Company
DAEH
Man Tung Air-conditioning

E&M Limited
ERLRHERRAA

Man Tung Air-conditioning
Works Limited
ERREIRERAT

Shun Tung Engineering
Company Limited
JEE R RERTIRARAR

14 INVENTORIES

Raw materials

Particulars of

Place and date of issued and
incorporation paid-up capital
R B Lt 2 ERTR
&AH BRBRAFE
Hong Kong/ 1,000,000
9 April 2008 ordinary shares
BB/ 1,000,000 B & A
“ZZN\FEMANA
Hong Kong/ 1,000,000
19 November 1996 ordinary shares
BB/ 1,000,000 B & @R
—ANRET—RATAE
Hong Kong/ 10,000
6 November 1998 ordinary shares
7B/ 10,0008 & ik

—“NWANET-ARE

JRH1#

AR TTIIR)

13 RBLRIMNKRE

TREBSETERE

AEBEFRE  BEXR

BRI B RRFE - BRAAHAN  HER

(RS S]

Proportion of ownership interest

FrE R LAl
Group's
effective Held by the
interest Company
A%E  BALT
BERER o]
100% =
100% =
100% =
100% =
100% =
100% =
14 78

Held by the
subsidiary
=) PN

=20}
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

2022

—E-F

$'000
Tr

3,108

Principal
activity

HVAC Business

HVAC Business

HVAC Business

2021
—E-—F
$'000

Tt

2,863

146  Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & JE£ & (33%) SR A 7



15

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

15 ESZKEMERKIE

2022 2021

—E-= B

$'000 $'000

T Tt

Trade receivables, net of loss allowance B S REWEIE - R EEEE 37,391 36,134
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 324 « Fa1~ 7% K H b e U 7018 4,413 3,312
Retention receivables, net of loss allowance FEUYREE S @ HIKRETIERME 26,357 21,297
68,161 60,743

At 31 December 2022, the amounts of retention receivables
expected to be recovered after more than one year is
approximately $23,164,000 (2021: $18,699,000). All of the
other trade and other receivables are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

Ageing analysis

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of
trade receivables (which are included in trade and other
receivables), based on the date of payment certificate and
net of loss allowance, is as follows:

RZEBEZ—_F+-_A=+—8  BHIR—
Fi B r EWIRE £ £ BE4923,164,000 7T
—T——4:18,699,0007T) ° FTAEME
5 N E At JE W FRIE TR H ] A — F A UK [B] B e

BRI AT

RBEHR - RIEREE A 8D &M
EREEENEIBUIRGIAE S REM
FEWFRIR) VBRI DATAA T

2022 2021

—E-CF —E-—F

$'000 $'000

Fr Tz

Within 1 month 118 A A 35,644 34,224
1 to 3 months 123184 1,078 813
Over 3 months 31E A+ 669 1,097
37,391 36,134

Trade receivables are due within 30 to 45 days from the
date of payment certificate. Further details on the Group’s
credit policy are set out in Note 23(b).

ZHEWRIBEEREEZHHEET30245
HRZHE - BRAASEBEEBURNE— D
BRI EE23(b) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& BB 18835) » LABTTHIR)

16 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 16 SHNEEREGHNERE
LIABILITIES
(a) Contract assets () BHEE
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
$'000 $'000
T 7
Contract assets EREE
Arising from performance under EXBRTEZESLD
installation contracts, net of Nk EEEE
loss allowance 22,254 15,058
Receivables from contracts with BB R ELERE 155
customers within the scope of HERREFFPEHH
HKFRS 15, which are included in EWZREAEGIATES X
“Trade and other receivables” H b FIA]) 63,748 57,431
As at 1 January 2021, contract assets amounted to R-ZFZ—F—A—B GHNEER
$14,378,000. {E 14,378,000 7T °
The contract assets primarily relate to the Group's BHEETRZRAKEZRCDEKRER
right to consideration for work completed and not WERE) TIEW IR BN F R -
billed because the rights are conditioned on the RAEFBURNAEE 2 RRKR
Group’s future performance. The contract assets are ERFRBBEIGER GNEESR
transferred to trade receivables when the rights B 5 EWGRIA -

become unconditional.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount HEHRRENEAGESERKTZEN—
of contract assets recognised are as follows: AT ISR T

148  Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & B B (0% ) AR A 7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

16 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(a)

Contract assets (Continued)

Installation contracts

The Group’s installation contracts include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the
installation period once milestones are reached. These
payment schedules prevent the build-up of significant
contract assets. The Group typically agrees to a
retention period ranging from 12-month period to
24-month period for 5% to 10% of the contract
value. This amount is included in the retention
receivables until the end of the retention period as the
Group's entitlement to this final payment is
conditional on the Group’s work satisfactorily passing
inspection. When the retention period is due and the
right to the retention is unconditional, this amount is
included in the trade receivables.

There was no revenue reversed during the year (2021:
$830,000) from performance obligations satisfied (or
partially satisfied) in previous periods. The revenue
reversed is mainly due to the changes in estimate of
the stage of completion of certain installation
contracts.

As at 31 December 2022, net retentions held by
customer for contract work was approximately
$26,357,000 (2021: $21,297,000) and have been
included in trade and other receivables (see Note 15).

Details of the impairment assessment are set out in
Note 23(b).

e ISR R M EE

AR TTIIR)

16 EHNEERGHNARE(HE)

(a)

Annual Report 2022 / =& = —FF 3R

ARAE ()

EELEY
AEEREANBEREEBNER
SEMREIRAR(—BEREE) -
BENRERY AR ERANEE -

AEB —REEMLS% E10% K E L)
EEXEAH12EAZE24EANREA
B o A AN 5 [ UK B U B AR N FRAD A

MR AL E T2 5 im BB R 1& 7 Al
1FE Hﬁwtigﬁuﬂ\ré%ﬂ% £ H
ERBHGERABLLE - HREHE MM

H&HM% éﬁ’lﬁéﬂﬁk%ﬂﬂﬂ#
TR AR SRR

A1tk

RNERREBEREZATEBET (KBHE
TIHNBHEBMABERARR(ZZ
— —% :830,0007T) c R ABEEI EE
EHRHDLZEGHN 2T LEE MG
BEEL o

BHE-_f-_—_F#+=-_RAR=+—8"
EFHAZFANIERE S
# /26,357,000 ( = & = — F:
21,297,00070) ' WEFFAZ S REAM
FEW B (RFIEE15) »

B ERH A IS E MR 23(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (¥ 3 A $5E35) * MABITTIIR)
16 CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 16 SHNEEREGHNERE(HE)
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Contract liabilities (b) GHERE
2022 2021
—E-—F —E—F
$'000 $'000
Frx T
Contract liabilities EBHEE
Installation contracts TREH
— Billings in advance of performance  — FAU /B 4508 728 -

150

As at 1 January 2021, contract liabilities amounted to
$1,093,000.

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount
of contract liabilities recognised are as follows:

Installation contracts

When the Group receives a stage payment over the
installation period before the services are performed,
this gives rise to contract liabilities, until the revenue
recognised on the contract work exceeds the amount
of stage payment.

NR_ZE-_—F—HA—H AHEEEL
181,093,000 7T °

HERRANABRSHEBERTZEN—
AR

FRAK

7 S 30 SR A R T A 2 22 3 S
WAMAR AELANEE BE
A N TIR R A RIBS B K
BEHEAL -

Movements in contract liabilities BRIEEREE)
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Balance at 1 January R—HA— B0 - 1,093
Decrease in contract liabilities as a FABRBAFIEL
result of recognising revenue during BEMNRABERED
the year that was included in the & &
contract liabilities at the beginning
of the year - (1,093)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result 2745 ) #9718 W TE E B
of billing in advance of installation BB EEMN
activities 728 -
Balance at 31 December R+ A=+—H8%& 728 -

No billings in advance of performance and instalments
received are expected to be recognised as income
after more than one year.

Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & IE 5= & (1% ) B R A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE IS AR A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

17 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND AND 17 RTRFERSURHMBAER
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION 25
(a) Cash at bank and in hand comprise: (a) S|RITERFHERRSL:
2022 2021
—E—-C— T
$'000 $'000
T Tz
Cash at banks and in hand RITRFHERE 64,581 85,826
Less: time deposits with original B REHARBE=(EA
maturity over three months MEBTER - (35,000)
Cash and cash equivalents in the REReRERTNES
consolidated cash flow statement LIREZEEBY 64,581 50,826
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& BB 18835) » LABTTHIR)

17 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND AND 17 ROTERFERAESURHEMBAER
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EER(E)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Reconciliation of profit/(loss) before taxation to (b) BBAEERN (FE)ESLEFARSE
cash used in operations: YOS ER -
2022 2021
—E-F B —F
Note $'000 $'000
Bt sE T Tt
Profit/(Loss) before taxation BREADEF(BB) 252 (2,225)
Adjustments for: AT FIBIEHFEE -
Depreciation of property, Vs - eSS RRIEITE
plant and equipment 6(c) 300 217
Depreciation of REEENE
right-of-use assets 6(c) 1,741 1,632
Finance costs EURID RN 6(a) 60 83
Bank interest income RITHIBUA 5 (654) (153)
Net reversal of expected credit B 5 R H b EBGRIE A K&
loss on trade and other ABHEERBEER
receivables and contract assets 518 % O] JF 58 5 (133) -
Gain on disposal of property, HEME - #BER
plant and equipment Bl 5 - (12)
Gain on early termination RELIEHEEWZ
of lease 5 (2) -
Operating cash flows before LEEEHEN
changes in working capital KERERE 1,564 (458)
Increase in inventories FEIEM (245) (2,863)
Increase in trade and other B 5 N EAth E U FRIE S 0
receivables (7,139) (7,412)
Net movement in contract assets A #EERA LB EEE
and contract liabilities (6,533) (1,773)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade and &5 & E b fERIB
other payables Crid),/#hn (7,387) 7,521
Cash used in operations REZEBARS (19,740) (4,985)

152 Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & Ig 5= & (1% ) AR A 7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

17 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

(o)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s
liabilities from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the

17

e ISR R M EE

AR TTIIR)

BROTRFERSUREMBRER
EER (&)

(0 FBREIFBFELRBENHEK

TRAMAEERE TS BEE

BRACIIIRCES BEETHHA
EENBEREEARSRESIRKR
EREFRNAERSEARERERD
BRRERDMELANESRENR

Group's consolidated cash flow statement as cash g o
flows from financing activities.
Lease
liabilities
HEAE
$'000
T
(Note 19)
(KE19)
At 1 January 2021 R=ZE=—%—-A—H 3,096
Changes from financing cash flows: MERERELE :
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEERSNERELD (1,787)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENEERSHFEES (83)
Total changes from financing cash flows MER S RSB BT (1,870)
Other changes: Hih g
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into FNABET 4 0
new leases during the year WEEAE 698
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) MEFRXZ (3 6@)) 83
Totalotherchanges ... H®S®&es . 781
At 31 December 2021 R-EB--H+-A=1+—H 2,007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& BB 18835) » LABTTHIR)

17 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND AND

154

17 ROTERFEBESURHEMBE SR
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EER (&)
(CONTINUED)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing (0 FREMETHMEEEENHIRE)
activities (Continued)
Lease
liabilities
HEEE
$'000
Fr
(Note 19)
(B 19)
At 1 January 2022 —E=-=%—H—H 2,007
Changes from financing cash flows: BERESRELE :
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEEHSNERELD (1,842)
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENHEREMF B o (60)
Total changes from financing cash flows =~ MER@mEEDEE | (1,902)
Other changes: H 2 &
Increase in lease liabilities from entering into FRBRRET AL mE I
new leases during the year WHEBE 1,168
Interest expenses (Note 6(a)) MEFR X (M3 6@)) 60
Early termination of lease REKRILHE (43)
Totalotherchanges . ... H®®&s 1185
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB-ZZ5+=ZA=+—H 1,290

2=
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

17 CASH AT BANK AND IN HAND AND 17 RTEFEASUREMBA SR
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION EER(E)
(CONTINUED)
(d) Total cash outflow for leases (d) HEBRLHRHEZE
Amounts included in the cash flow statement for HERESRERTHNESEBEIUTE
leases comprise the following: 15 -
2022 2021
=g ==4 —E-—F
$'000 $'000
T T
Within financing cash flows ERERSRA 1,902 1,870
These amounts relate to the following: ZESBEHETYEIBER :

(e)

Lease rentals paid 22

2022 2021
—E-—F —E—F
$'000 $'000

Fx T+

1,902 1,870

Pledged bank deposits

The balances represent deposits pledged to secure the
issuance of performance bonds by banks. The pledged
bank deposits carry fixed interest rate of 3.80% to
3.85% (2021: 0.01% t0 0.15%).

() BEF|ITER
EHREAENBITELINENRES
MTEAR TR SHEPRITHE L
3.80% %3.85%(—F = —4% :0.01%
£0.15%) WEEMEET B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& BB 18835) » LABTTHIR)

18 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 18 EZRHAMENFIA
2022 2021
—E=E=-= —E-—F
$'000 $'000
T Fi
Trade payables B SN FIR 3,782 10,202
Accrued subcontracting costs FERH D B 2,704 1,069
Other payables and accruals H At fE IR R ERTE A 4,705 7,307
11,191 18,578
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be FrIE8 5 REMENFIBEAR —FRNESR -
settled within one year.
As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of RIREER - BB ZEHRHIHNE HEMNK
trade payables, based on the invoice date, is as follows: TERRRDITIAT -
2022 2021
= —E-—4F
$'000 $'000
Fr T
Within 1 month 1EAR 1,986 9,482
1 to 2 months 1Z221EA 1,545 490
2 to 3 months 2E31{E A 251 196
Over 3 months 31EAMUE - 34
3,782 10,202
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M BRI

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

LEASE LIABILITIES 19 HEAE
At 31 December 2022, the lease liabilities were repayable as R-EBE-_—_F+_HA=+—H8 BEEZHA
follows: EHEWT :
2022 2021
—E-CF —E-—4F
$'000 $'000
T Fi
Within 1 year 1,049 1 443
After 1 year but within 2 years 1F&E2FR 162 490
After 2 years but within 5 years 2FRBESFNR 79 74
e L ——
1,290 2,007
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& BB 18835) » LABTTHIR)

20 INCOME TAX IN THE CONSOLIDATED 20 FEMBARRRZAEHR

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(a) Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities recognised (a) EEAELHEBE(EE) &EFE
Movement of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities BEAERIE (BE) B EE
The component of deferred tax (assets)/liabilities PR AR R ERRELET 18 (&
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial B,/ BEARE D RENERTE
position and the movements during the year are as AR
follows:

Depreciation

allowances
in excess
of related
depreciation Tax losses Total
wERE
B EEETE BEER gt
$'000 $'000 $'000
Fr T Fr
At 1 January 2021 —E-_—%—HF—H 237 (237) -
(Credited) charge to GPNEIESES
profit or loss (14) 14 -
At 31 December 2021 —E-—4+-A=+-8 223 (223) -
At 1 January 2022 —ET-—F—H—H 223 (223) -
(Credited) charged to Gt IBkER
profit or loss (163) 177 14
At 31 December 2022 —E-F+-A=+—H 60 (46) 14
(b) Deferred tax assets not recognised (b) REFELERREE
In accordance with the accounting policy set out in RBIF 20 MERGEEE - B
Note 2(0), the Group has not recognised deferred tax REEHETE G AT ES A AR IR A B &
assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of BEARRERTE N - FH LA EE =
$14,406,000 (2021: $13,004,000) as it is uncertain K B£14,406,000T( = T = — &
that future taxable profits against which the assets can 13,004,000 7T,) &) R A& 1 18 B 18 FE s
be utilised will be available. The tax losses do not EFHIBEE - ZEMIBEBEREIRT
expire under current tax legislation. BEHE DI AR JE R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
("the MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees.
Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of
the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of $30,000. Contributions to the plan vest
immediately.

Contributions to the provident fund by the Group for its
employees are fully and immediately vested in the employees
once the contribution are made. There are no contributions
forfeited by the Group on behalf of its employees who leave
the plan prior to vesting fully in such contribution. Hence,
there is no forfeited contributions which may be used by the
Group to reduce the existing level of contributions.

21

e ISR R M EE

AR TTIIR)

BERAKER
AEBERBEELRBIEATRR GO RE
ERREBEIIRETXENEER AR
ARSI ([REEFTE]) - BEEE
B R —HHBIYXFTAETENTERHIEMN
A8l - RBERESAE - BEMEEESR
RiRE B RBW AN S% METEIHR - AE
FEEIY A 30,000 T4 EBR o 5HEI ¢ RENEE
R -

AEEAEEERARS EHOEKNRIER
HAB2ERAEEBNMES - HNEBRH
TERBRRLZTENES  ASEIWE
REEBEESZKREMER - ALt - TEEASE
B A AR BRI R RIR AR
KEWER -

L
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& BB 18835) » LABTTHIR)

22 CAPITAL AND RESERVES 22 EXKf#E
(a) Movement in components of equity (a) HERARBLEE
The reconciliation between the opening and closing AEBLGEERSHERIBYHFEY KX
balances of each component of the Group’s FRERNDERENGEERZ B -
consolidated equity is set out in the consolidated RRARESEE D (EBAL) =R F
statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes NERNEBFHBFUR ¢

of the Company’s individual components of (deficits)/
equity between the beginning and the end of year are
set out below:

Share Share  Accumulated
Company capital premium losses Total
LN R R4 EE ZitEE At
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T

Note (Note 22(b))  (Note 22(c)(i))
Ptz (MEE2200)  (FFEE22(0)))

At 1 January 2021 —E-—%—F—H 10,000 107,850 (24,843) 93,002
Loss and total comprehensive FREER2E
expense for the year F¥ 8% - - (3,506) (3,506)
At 31 December 2021 —Z-—F
+-A=+—-H 10,000 107,850 (28,354) 89,496
At 1 January 2022 “E--%—H—H 10,000 107,850 (28,354) 89,496
Loss and total comprehensive FREE K2 HE
expense for the year % - - (3,057) (3,057)
At 31 December 2022 —E--
+ZA=+—8 10,000 107,850 (31,411) 86,439
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)
22 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 22 EBEAXFR#E(E)
(b) Share capital (b) KA
The Company
N
No. of shares $'000
RGO A Tt
Authorised ordinary shares of BRE{EA0.01TH
$0.01 each: EEZBER :
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 R-_ZE-_—F—F—H -
and 31 December 2022 —E-—F+-A=+—H8BK
== e f == 5,000,000,000 50,000
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid: ZL&ER ' ERTRHE :
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021 HR_ZE—-—F—H—H -
and 31 December 2022 —E-_—+=-A=+—H
—ZE-__#+=-HA=+—H 1,000,000,000 10,000

(o)

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive
dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the
Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with regard
to the Company’s residual assets.

Nature and purpose of reserves

() Share premium
The share premium account is governed by the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and may
be applied by the Company subject to the
provisions, if any, of its memorandum and
articles of association in paying distributions or
dividends to equity shareholders.

No distribution or dividend may be paid to the
equity shareholders out of the share premium
account unless immediately following the date
on which the distribution or dividends is
proposed to be paid, the Company will be able
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

ERRFAAGRERTRE KR
B YRARARKRE LESRBNZF
E—ENREE - METEBRRAEAR
ANBREETZHISA R -

(0 REHEERBN
(i) R EE
B aERSFHERERRDAR
- WA HRARARRBAMER
KA N A RO 53 (A0 ) A
BRSNS D IREALS, o

BRIFEBE D IR A B2 E S A
HIR AR B ASRESNE N B B 275
BEFHIEES - TRIAFNI
P34 B BR A A 2 AR 32 15 0 IR
IR AE
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22 CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED)

162

(c)

(d)

(e)

Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

(i) Merger reserve
The merger reserve represents the aggregate
amount of the excess of the nominal value of
shares of the subsidiaries acquired over the
nominal value of shares of the Company
exchanged as a part of the reorganisation during
the Company’s initial public offering.

Capital management

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern in order to fund its construction
business and provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and
makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to any externally imposed capital requirements.

Distributable reserves

As 31 December 2022, the aggregate amount of the
reserves attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company, as calculated in accordance with the
Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association
was $76,439,000 (2021: $79,496,000).

AR TTIIR)

22 EXRK#HE (E)

(c)

(d)

(e)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

FAIR VALUES

Exposure to credit, liquidity and interest rate and foreign
currency risks arises in the normal course of the Group’s
business. The Group’s exposure to these risks and the

(a)

e ISR R M EE

AR TTIIR)

23 PBEREERQFE

AEERAEXEBBERTAXEE RPE
TARFRRINERR - NEBAZZEFR
Rk AKERANEEZEFRRANMERERE

financial risk management policies and practices used by the BHENEBHRIR T »
Group to manage these risks are described below.
Categories of financial assets and liabilities (a) ERMEENEBENER
2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
$'000 $'000
Fx T
Financial assets tRMEE
Financial assets at amortised cost RBERATECREE
Trade and other receivables B 5 N E b WA 65,779 58,101
Pledged bank deposits EERIRITER 3,848 4,226
Cash at bank and in hand RITRFBERE 64,581 85,826
134,208 148,153
2022 2021
ot Sl —E-—fF
$'000 $'000
Fx Tz
Financial liabilities tMEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost R R ATELTAE
Trade and other payables B 5 REAM R FKRIE 10,421 18,578
Lease liabilities HEAEFE 1,290 2,007
11,711 20,585
Credit risk (b) FEERRE

(b)

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will
default on its contractual obligations resulting in a
financial loss to the Group. The Group’s credit risk is
primarily attributable to bank deposits and trade and
other receivables and contract assets. The Group has a
credit policy in place and the exposures to these credit

risks are monitored on an ongoing basis.

The Group does not provide any guarantee which

would expose the Group to credit risk.

Annual Report 2022 / =& = —FF 3R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR
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23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

(b)

164

Credit risk (Continued)
Trade receivables, retention receivables and contract

assets

The Group has significant concentration of credit risk
in a few customers. In view of their good payment
record and long-established relationships with the
Group, management does not consider the Group’s
credit risk to be significant. At the end of the reporting
period, 50% (2021: 38%) and 92% (2021: 91%) of
the total trade receivables and contract assets was due
from the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed as part of
the acceptance procedures for new construction
contracts. These evaluations focus on the customer’s
past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account
information specific to the customer as well as
pertaining to the economic environment in which the
customer operates. Trade receivables are due within
30 to 45 days from the date of payment certificate.
Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables, retention receivables and contract assets
at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is based
on the probability of default with reference to
available market information, taking into account any
credit enhancement. As the Group'’s historical credit
loss experience indicates different loss patterns for
different customers, the loss allowance based on past
due status is not further distinguished between the
Group's different customer bases.

Other receivables

The Group assessed the impairment for its other
receivables individually based on internal credit rating
and ageing of these debtors which, in the opinion of
the Directors, have no significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. ECL is estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life
of debtors and is adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort. Based on the impairment assessment
performed by the Group, the Directors consider the
loss allowance for other receivables within 12-month
ECL as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 was
insignificant and accordingly no allowance for credit
losses was provided.

AR TTIIR)

23 MERREERATEE)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)

Pledged bank deposits and cash at bank

Pledged bank deposits and cash at bank are deposited
with financial institutions with sound credit ratings
and the Group has exposure limit to any single
financial institution. Given their high credit ratings,
management does not expect any of these financial
institutions and counterparties will fail to meet their
obligations.

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Level of
credit risk Benchmarks
FERBRRR B

e ISR R M EE

AR TTIIR)

23 BHREREERQFEGE)

(b)

FERR(E)
EHFRITEARIRITHEE
BEEMBTHERRRITREIIHFERR
EEROANSREE mAKETY
EHE-—SHBBRERE - ENZX
FeRMEBREARERNE  BEE
BEHZSSREB LRI ZUTFHIE
EARITRME -

AEEN AR EERRFRFHERE
AT R

ECL assessment requirement

RHEEFRFMEER

Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and
does not have any past-due amounts

ERE® HFHHREREERE - TREEMNDBH
A

Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but
usually settle in full

EREE BEEABERIBAREER B REH2EER

Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk
since initial recognition through information
developed internally or externally resources
while the counterparty is with continuous
business transactions with the Group

A& BRI ER KRG ER - FERR
BEE - MEFHEREEERHENEBHER

Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is
credit impaired

BB BEBTAEREERE

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

H3H FRBETEBABRELERE - AEEE

REER EREREERE

Trade receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets
ESREWHE EUREER
BHEE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

2HREBERER — EERRE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
SHEHEERE —BEERE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

EHRBERER — EERRE

Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
2HEHEERE —2EERE

Amount is written off

HEEHE

Other financial assets
HitteMEE
12-month ECL

128 AT fE B AR

12-month ECL
12EAAESEEEE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired

EHRBERER — £ERRE

Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
2HEHEERE —2EERE

Amount is written off

HEEHOB
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23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 23 MBEREERATEGR)
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) =ERKE)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the TRFAMVNEHAEHBETHBEE
Group's financial assets and contract assets which are EEIENESREEREGHNEEZE
subject to ECL assessment: =R

Gross carrying amount

HREE
External Internal 12-month or 2022 2021
Note Creditrating Creditrating Lifetime ECL TBD-F T —F
12EAH2H $'000 $'000
M SABEETIR APEETR BHGEFE Tr T
Trade receivables 15 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL — 37,460 36,484
not credit-impaired
2 5 EWFIR TEA KRR FHRBEERE —
EEERE
Other receivables 15 NA Low risk 12-month ECL 2,031 669
H At FEUFRIE NEA KRR REARBEEESE
Retention receivables 15 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL — 26,440 21,297
not credit-impaired
RN IR & TNEA Ve SHEREERE —
EERRAE
Contract assets 16(a) N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL — 22,319 15,058
not credit-impaired
BHEE TEA Ve THRBEERE —
EEERE
Pledged bank deposits 17(e) A3 Low risk 12-month ECL 3,848 4,226
EERBITER A3 KR REABSREEESE
Cash at bank and 17(@) Aa3to A3 Low risk 12-month ECL 64,581 85,826
in hand
BORFERSE Aa3ZEA3 EER RERESHEEER

156,679 163,560
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

The following tables show reconciliation of loss
allowances that has been recognised for trade
receivables, retention receivables and contract assets.

As at 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021

Expected credit loss recognised
Expected credit loss reversed

.
=
m
=1
R
=N

23

MHEREER AFE(E)

(b) EERMRE)
TRAMI LR S RKR - BURER
BehaWBEERERE 2 HK

Lifetime

ECL — not
credit-impaired
2 HFE A
FEBR —
BEERE
Total

st

$'000

T

—2-—F—HA—B8k

—F&+=-_A=+—H 350
BB RER 88
it 4E (221)

As at 31 December 2022

—=— —

=

F+-_A=+—H 217

The Group recognised loss allowance of $217,000
(2021: $350,000) on the trade receivables, retention
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs, which is measured based on the
probability of default for the year ended 31 December
2022. The Group considered that there is no
significant loss allowance recognized in accordance
with HKFRS 9 as at 31 December 2022, and no
expected credit loss rate has therefore been disclosed.

AEEBERE HEWFE - BUIRIRSE
TRENEEBEREH217,000T
~Z~—4F :350,0007T) ° ©EERN
FHITEHBEERE  BEELOBET
EHE_E-_—_F+_-_A=+—HIE
FE AEERENR-_ZT-__F+=
A=+—H8 UEREESFERE
HRIEORERZ EANESERE - Bt
Wi EEHEEEEE -
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23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

168

(0

Liquidity risk

Individual operating subsidiaries within the Group are
responsible for their own cash management, including
the raising of loans to cover expected cash demands.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements, to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities as at 31 December 2022 of the Group’s
financial liabilities, which are based on contractual
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based
on rates current at 31 December 2022) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

For bank loans subject to repayment on demand
clause which can be exercised at the bank’s sole
discretion, the maturity analysis shows the cash
outflow based on expected repayment dates with
reference to the schedule of repayments set out in the
banking facilities letters and, separately, the impact to
the timing of the cash outflow if the lenders were to
invoke unconditional rights to call the loans with
immediate effect.

AR TTIIR)

23 MERREERATEE)

(o)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
RE IS AR A

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (4 5 A 15835) -

23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

(0

AR TTIIR)

23 BHEREERQFEGE)

(0 RBEESER(E)

2022
===
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BNRBERBE SR

Total Within More than More than
Carrying contractual 1 year 1 year but 2 years but
amountat undiscounted oron less than less than
31 December cash flow demand 2 years 5 years

Rt=A
Sr=[E BHRER 1FR 150L 2FHE
WEEE RERELE REX EBLR25 BHREEF
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr T Fr T Tr
Trade and other payables & 5 Rk 2t fEf 78 10,421 10,421 10,421 - -
Lease liabilities HEaRE 1,290 1,318 1,071 166 81
11,711 11,739 11,492 166 81

2021
—E-—F
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
BHRERRER

Total Within More than More than
Carrying contractual 1 year 1 year but 2 years but
amountat  undiscounted oron less than less than
31 December cash flow demand 2 years 5 years

R+ZA
=t+-H BRRER 1ER TEL 2EE
MEEE Ren2Lg REX BAR2F BAORSE
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Fr T T T
Trade and other payables B 5 Rk EH B FIE 18,578 18,578 18,578 - -
Lease liabilities MERRE 2,007 2,056 1,482 498 76
20,585 20,634 20,060 498 76
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23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

(d)

170

AR TTIIR)

23 MBEREERATEGR)

Interest rate risk (d) FR=mERE
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future M= @ARIE S T AR FEES KK
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate BEnsalAMBMNEESMmELSKE
because of changes in market interest rates. The MR - AEBMFXREREZFER
Group's interest rate risk arises primarily from lease e BREPNEREHNEES
liabilities. Liabilities issued at variable rates expose the AEBAZBEEREFN KRR - EI1E
Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s [ P EE 1 Ry AN 2 B B R B T3 o
interest rate profile as monitored by management is
set out below.
Interest rate profile Fl =R
The following table details the interest rate profile of TREFYAEEBERRE AN T
the Group’s liabilities at the end of the reporting KR, ©
period.
2022 2021
—E-CE —T-—F
Effective Effective
interest rate interest rate
BBF= {gilks
% $000 % $'000
5 it
Fixed rate liabilities: ~ EEFZRAME
Lease liabilities HEAE 1.97%-3.17% 1,290 3.13%-4.82% 2,007
Total liabilities aELs 1,290 2,007
Fixed rate liabilitesasa BRI REEEEE
percentage of total MENANL
liabilities 100% 100%

The Group has no significant exposure to interest rate
risk as all of the Group’s liabilities are at fixed rate.

Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & J[B£= B (3%0%) BFR A 7
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

23 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
FAIR VALUES (CONTINUED)

(e)

V)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has no significant exposure to foreign
currency risk as all of the Group’s transactions are
denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

Fair value measurement

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets
and liabilities carried at amortised cost are not
materially different from their fair values at the end of
the reporting period.

23 BHEREERQFEGE)

(e) SRR
AKEYBEEEAINERLR - RE
RAKBE AR AETTHE °

(f) 2AFEFE
AEBIZBHEK AR EREE R
BEMNREAEEZFEERABNR
ERRNAHEZRYEEEHE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& BB 18835) » LABTTHIR)

24 MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
In addition to transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere
in these consolidated financial statements, the Group
entered into the following material related transactions.

24 ERBEBAERS

BRUSHEAMBHRREMBEHRENRS
KRS REBETSLA TERBBR S

(@) Key management personnel remuneration (a)
Remuneration for key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors as disclosed in Note 8 and certain of the

FREEBASHM

AEBETZREE ABNHHN(BREME
8P IR ER AN B E 5 35 B RIR K Mt
HOMBEEME TR MES M

172

highest paid employees as disclosed in Note 9, is as FIE) AR -
follows:

2022 2021
—E-—F —E—F
$'000 $'000
Fx Tt
Salaries and other benefits e MEMBEF 6,298 6,274
Retirement benefit scheme contributions Rk @FI5T &4t 2 90 90
6,388 6,364

Total remuneration is included in “staff costs” (see
Note 6(b)).

FNem st ATEIRA] (RETEE

6(b)) °

(b) Transactions with related parties (b) EERAEEL IS
2022 2021
—g=-= —E-_—F
$'000 $'000
F5 Fi
Lease payments paid to related companies [A] B R A &) 2 A< 7B E 1T 5% 1,192 982
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

MATERIAL RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c) Applicability of the Listing rules relating to
connected transactions
The related party transaction in respect of Note 24(b)
above constitutes connected transactions as defined in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, the
transaction is exempt from the disclosure requirement
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules as it is below the
de minimis threshold under Rule 14A.76(1).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At 31 December 2022, contingent liabilities not provided for
in the consolidated financial statements were as follows:

24 EXEBLERS (&)

25

(0 HBEEXZHEENLTRAGBERE

B 24() B B HSE 5 R 5 e Ak B
RH(EEREMBRAUFE14AE) - A
i AREBARSERE 14A.76(1) 15
M EFEKFE - AR BET T
HAFE1AAEZERIFERT -

HAREE
RZBEZZF+-A=1+—8  TERGEE
SRR AT RBENRABENT ¢

2022 2021
—E-= —E-—F
$'000 $'000
Fr T

Performance bonds given to customers for &% Z 174 B E A 7

due and proper performance of projects FrAZEIEEMAETEERN
undertaken by the Group's subsidiaries BHIRZES 3,848 4,226
Court proceedings (note) AR () 872 -
4,720 4,226

Note: et :

In 2020, a subcontractor (“the plaintiff”) sued Man Tung Air-Conditioning
Works Limited (“Man Tung Works"”), a subsidiary of the Company, for the
amount due of HK$871,664 for the ventilation fans installation works.
Currently, Man Tung Works is waiting for 1st court session. Based on the
legal advice and after consideration of possible business and financial impact,
the directors believe stand a reasonable chance of success in defending the
action and securing the counterclaims, therefore there is no present
obligation to make any provision for the case at this stage.

RZZZTF —HZH R REDBHEARA—WE
ARBERRRIRERAR(EBRARIR]) Bfsiifr
RELETIEMARZK871664ET BA - BRART
REESHFE—RHE - ERARRERIALE B
ZEBRUBTER EFZMRABEENEESKNA
FRRETESRF  AHBRBEIAEEBARMHED
R4 -
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26 COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF 26 N FEHEBM BRI T
FINANCIAL POSITION
2022 2021
=== —E-—F
Note $'000 $'000
B 5T T Tz
Non-current assets kREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries  MMBAAMES L 2 2
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables H b fE W FRIE 206 206
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI R 81,536 85,230
Cash at bank and in hand wITRFERE 5,489 5,103
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, Seslm 050
Current liability REEE
Other payables E A pERT FRIR 794 1,045
oo 194 1,045
Netcurrentassets =~ #®BEEF&E 86,437 89,494
NET ASSETS EERE 86,439 89,496
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERNF#E
Share capital N 22(b) 10,000 10,000
Reserves HiE 76,439 79,496
TOTAL EQUITY A 86,439 89,496
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR R M EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (k& BB 18835) - LABITHIR)

IMMEDIATE AND ULTIMATE
CONTROLLING PARTY

At 31 December 2022, the directors consider the immediate
parent and ultimate controlling party of the Group to be
Prime Pinnacle Limited, which is incorporated in Republic of
Seychelles. This entity does not produce financial statements
available for public use.

POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND
INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2022

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial
statements, the HKICPA has issued a number of
amendments and a new standard, HKFRS 17, Insurance
contracts, which are not yet effective for the year ended 31
December 2022 and which have not been adopted in these
consolidated financial statements. These developments
include the following which may be relevant to the Group.

27

28
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e M RRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (& BB 18835) » LABTTHIR)
28 POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 28 E-E_-_—_F#+=-—BA=+—HI1
NEW STANDARDS AND $J§E5}Eﬁ‘ﬁ1ﬁ 5E VB E] -

INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED BUT NOT YET
EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31
DECEMBER 2022 (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17), Insurance Contracts

EEMBHREERNE17TR(BRE-_Z_FTF+AR_T-_—F_AZ

BREMBRMEERFENTRIER) - REEEA

Amendments to HKAS 1, Classification of liabilities as current or non-current and

re/ated amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)
BERGERNENVRIER]  HEEBSERRE L IETREARK
%@éﬁ%5ﬁﬁ_;_gﬁvﬁﬁ@ﬂ
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2,
Disclosure of accounting policies
BAGERNE 1 RIS REBV B RELNEBRE S 295ER]
Amendments to HKAS 8 Deﬁn/tion of accounting estimates
BB G EBNESRIER] - @A TE
Amendments to HKAS 12, Deferred tax related to assets and
liabilities arising from a single transaction
EBGTHAE
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
BB BHmEERFE10RREB G ERE 28R 1EF]
A E A E N A E SR MR EEHESLTA
Amendments to HKFRS 16, Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
EEVBHREEAE165RIES]  EXHOZHEAE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
what the impact of these developments is expected to be in
the period of initial application. So far it has concluded that
the adoption of them is unlikely to have a significant impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

176  Man Shun Group (Holdings) Limited / & & B (%) BIR A

1250185 HE-XRGELZEERREABIELEREA

A EARRENATELE (F)

Effective for
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1 January 2023
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1 January 2023
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1 January 2023
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